THE UNIVERSITY OF HULL

THE EFFECTS OF ACUTE EXERCISE AND NUTRITIONAL INTERVENTIONS ON POSTPRANDIAL LIPID METABOLISM

A Thesis submitted for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in Sport, Health and Exercise Science

at the University of Hull

by

ALASDAIR FRASER O'DOHERTY

BSc Coventry University MSc (by research) Coventry University PGcert Institute of Education, University College London

September 2017

Abstract

Raised postprandial triglycerides (TG) is an independent risk factor for cardio-metabolic disorders. This is due, in part, to the increases in circulating remnant lipoproteins after TG have been transported for storage or hydrolysis. Raised TG, are also associated with an atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype (High TG, low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-c) and small, dense low-density lipoprotein (LDL) particles). In addition, elevated TG contribute to ectopic storage of fatty acids in liver, adipose and muscle tissues, contributing to insulin resistance in all three tissues and consequent metabolic dysregulation. It is therefore paramount to prevent frequent and prolonged exposure to raised TG in the postprandial period, particularly in groups who are at increased risk of cardio-metabolic disease.

The dyslipidaemic component of cardio-metabolic health can be inferred by assessing the capacity to breakdown and clear TG from circulation after high fat ingestion using an oral fat tolerance test (OFTT). The OFTT can also be used to assess the efficacy of interventions targeting reductions in postprandial TG. Exercise and nutritional interventions have been shown to alter postprandial TG excursions and provide insight in to underlying mechanisms of postprandial lipid metabolism. However, there are several topics within this area of research that require further clarification. These topics have been addressed within this thesis.

The first experimental chapter of this thesis (chapter 3) aimed to investigate the repeatability of an OFTT (75g fat, 22g carbohydrate, 14g protein) designed to meet recommendations from an expert panel statement. This study also aimed to evaluate the repeatability of the postprandial response to an OFTT preceded by 1 hour of acute moderate intensity exercise (cycling at a work rate eliciting 90% oxygen consumption anaerobic threshold). After an overnight fast, 11 healthy adult male participants

consumed OFTT meals on 4 separate occasions; 2 preceded by rest and 2 preceded by exercise. TG area under the curve (AUC) was calculated for each test and compared to the repeat condition using non-parametric Bland-Altman analysis. The 4-hour OFTT was repeatable in the rest condition, with 9 of 10 repeat measurements falling within $\pm 15\%$ of the median TG AUC (predefined as the upper limit of acceptable error). However, in the exercise condition repeatability was poor with only 2 of 11 repeat measurements falling within 15% of the median TG AUC.

Adult offspring of type 2 diabetics (OT2D) show irregular TG responses to OFTT with high or low carbohydrate content, compared to healthy controls. Prior acute aerobic exercise may favourably influence these postprandial responses in OT2D. This feasibility study (Chapter 4) aimed to investigate the effects of carbohydrate content and acute exercise on TG AUC after OFTT in OT2D. On 4 separate days, 8 adult male OT2D ingested OFTTs with low (HFLC; 75g fat, 22g carbohydrate, 14g protein) or high (HFHC; 75g fat, 95g carbohydrate, 14 g protein) carbohydrate content. Participants rested or exercised (1-hour moderate intensity; 90% oxygen consumption at anaerobic threshold) the day before each OFTT. Recruitment to the single centre was slow, but participant adherence to the study was good. There were large effect sizes for lower TG AUC and incremental AUC (iAUC) in the HFHC with prior exercise. Insulin AUC was higher in HFHC conditions and there was a large effect size for lower insulin AUC in the exercise on postprandial TGs, an adequately powered multi-centre study was deemed to be relevant and feasible.

Consumption of strawberries appears to be beneficial in attenuating the postprandial lipaemic response to OFTT due to the high polyphenol content within strawberries. The mechanisms of this attenuation in postprandial lipaemia appear to be different from the mechanisms involved in exercise induced reductions in postprandial lipaemia. However, the combined effects of exercise and strawberry interventions in reducing postprandial lipaemic responses to OFTT has not been investigated. The final experimental chapter (Chapter 5) aimed to evaluate the combined effects of acute exercise and strawberry consumption on postprandial responses to OFTT (73g to 74g fat, 32g to 33g carbohydrate, 11g to 12g protein). On 4 separate days, ten overweight/obese males ingested OFTTs with 25g freeze dried strawberries or a placebo. Participants rested or exercised (40 minutes submaximal high intensity exercise, HIIE) the day before each OFTT. There was a 20% reduction in TG AUC in the exercise conditions and no differences in TG AUC in the strawberry conditions.

This thesis offers key contributions to postprandial lipid metabolism research. First, the OFTT recommended by an expert panel statement is repeatable. Second, the variability observed in postprandial responses to OFTT with immediate prior exercise may explain the inconsistencies within the literature. Third, acute exercise showed a substantive effect in reducing TG AUC and iAUC with high carbohydrate OFTT in adult OT2D. These improvements could be explained by acute improvements in insulin sensitivity, however, a further adequately powered study is required to support the findings of this feasibility study. Finally, acute HIIE appears to be an effective strategy to reduce postprandial TG, but strawberry intake does not appear to improve postprandial TG.

Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my gratitude to my supervisors, Professor Sean Carroll and Professor Lee Ingle, for their continued support, guidance and invaluable input throughout the PhD process.

I am indebted to the University of Hull for the Scholarship Stipend that I received. Thank you to Dr Sathyapalan for your support along my PhD journey. I would like to thank statisticians Alan Rigby and Jackie Cooper for checking the statistical methods that I used in this thesis. I would also like to thank Dr Huw Jones and Anne Anderson for their biochemistry support. I am extremely grateful for the financial support from Help for Health (registered UK charity), Horiba UK Ltd (for providing reagents for the analysis of lipids and glucose at a reduced cost) and European Freeze Dry Ltd (Preston, UK) (for providing the Freeze dried strawberry product in chapter 5 at no cost).

A huge thank you to my participants for the many hours that they dedicated to the studies in my thesis.

Finally, I would like to thank my friends and family, especially my Mum, Dad and Sophie for their support, patience and encouragement. Thank you for believing in me, I couldn't have done it without you!

Peer reviewed published articles and conference presentations

Peer reviewed publications

O'Doherty AF, Sathyapalan T, Rigby AS, Ingle L, Carroll S. The Repeatability of the abbreviated (4-hour) Oral Fat Tolerance Test and Influence of Prior Acute Aerobic Exercise. *European Journal of Nutrition*. epublished: 14.10.2016. DOI: 10.1007/s00394-016-1320-z

O'Doherty AF, Jones H, Sathyapalan T, Ingle L, Carroll S. The effects of acute interval exercise and strawberry intake on postprandial lipaemia. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*. Epublished on 15.06.2017.

Oral presentations

O'Doherty AF, Jones H, Sathyapalan T, Ingle L, Carroll S. The effect of acute interval exercise and strawberry consumption on postprandial lipaemia after oral lipid ingestion in overweight/obese males. Lipidology and cardiovascular risk management. Royal Society of Medicine. 2016

O'Doherty AF, Sathyapalan T, Ingle L, Carroll S. Carbohydrate content and prior acute exercise alter postprandial lipaemic responses to high fat meals in adult male offspring of type 2 diabetics. Lipidology and cardiovascular risk management. Royal Society of Medicine. 2016

O'Doherty AF, Sathyapalan T, Ingle L, Carroll S. The Repeatability of the abbreviated (4-hour) Oral Fat Tolerance Test and Influence of Prior Acute Aerobic Exercise. European College of Sport Science. 2016

Poster presentations

O'Doherty AF, Jones H, Sathyapalan T, Ingle L, Carroll S. The effect of acute interval exercise and strawberry consumption on postprandial lipaemia after oral lipid ingestion in overweight/obese males. Lipidology and cardiovascular risk management. Royal Society of Medicine. 2016

O'Doherty AF, Sathyapalan T, Ingle L, Carroll S. Carbohydrate content and prior acute exercise alter postprandial lipaemic responses to high fat meals in adult male offspring of type 2 diabetics. Lipidology and cardiovascular risk management. Royal Society of Medicine. 2016

Table of Contents

Abstracti						
Acknowledgementsiv						
Peer reviewed published articles and conference presentationsv						
Peer reviewed publications	Peer reviewed publicationsv					
Oral presentations	v					
Poster presentations	v					
List of Tables	x					
List of Figures	xi					
List of Abbreviations	xiii					
Chapter 1: General Introduction	1					
1.1 Overview	1					
1.2 Lipids and related cardio-metabolic diseases	4					
1.2.1 Cholesterol	5					
1.2.2 Triglycerides	6					
1.2.3 Elevated triglycerides and cardio-metabolic disease	7					
1.2.4 Metabolism of exogenous triglycerides	10					
1.2.5 Metabolism of endogenous triglycerides	11					
1.3 Postprandial lipaemia and cardio-metabolic disease	13					
1.3.1 Oral fat tolerance test (OFTT) meal composition	16					
1.3.2 Measurements and reporting of postprandial lipid responses to an oral fat tolerance test (OFTT)	21					
1.3.3 The repeatability of the oral fat tolerance test (OFTT)	23					
1.4 Prior exercise and postprandial lipaemia	27					
1.4.1 Timing of exercise to reduce postprandial lipaemia	35					
1.4.2 Energy expenditure	36					
1.4.3 Low and moderate intensity continuous exercise	38					
1.4.4 High intensity interval exercise (HIIE)	. 39					
1.5 Limitations in controlling for exercise intensity and energy expenditure	43					
Postprandial lipaemia in conditions of obesity and those with a family history of to2 diabetes	ype 45					
1.6.1 Obesity and cardio-metabolic disease	45					
1.6.2 Family history of T2D: a risk factor for cardio-metabolic disease	46					
1.7 Polyphenol supplementation and the Strawberry (Fragaria x ananassa)	50					
1.8 Summary and thesis aims	54					
Chapter 2: General Methods	58					
2.1 Participants & recruitment	58					

2.2	2 S	itudy design				
2.3	3 S	creening visit				
	2.3.1	Stature	. 59			
2.3.2		Body mass	. 59			
2.3.3		Body composition measures	. 60			
	2.3.4	Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT)	. 60			
	2.3.5	Cardiopulmonary exercise test (CPET)	61			
2.4	4 E	xperimental study visits	62			
	2.4.1	Visits 1-4	. 62			
	2.4.2	Steady State Exercise	63			
	2.4.3	High intensity interval exercise (HIIE)	. 65			
	2.4.4	Evening meal	. 66			
	2.4.5	Oral fat tolerance tests (OFTT)	. 66			
	2.4.6	Blood sampling	. 67			
2.	5 E	Biochemistry analyses	. 68			
	2.5.1	Triglycerides, cholesterol, apolipoprotein and glucose analyses	. 68			
	2.5.2	Insulin analyses	. 69			
	2.5.3	Lipid oxidation analyses	69			
	2.5.4	Folin-Ciocalteau assay	. 70			
Chap	ter 3:	The repeatability of the abbreviated (4-hour) Oral Fat Tolerance Test and				
influ	ence c	of prior acute aerobic exercise	. 71			
3.1	1 I	ntroduction	. 71			
3.2	2 1	Aethods	. 73			
	3.2.1	Participants	. 73			
	3.2.2	Study Design	. 74			
	3.2.3	Screening Visit	. 74			
	3.2.4	Visits 1-4	. 74			
3.2.5		Outcome Measures	. 75			
	3.2.6	Statistical Analysis	. 75			
3.3	3 F	Results	. 77			
	3.3.1	Serum triglyceride response to OFTT	. 78			
	3.3.2	Glucose, Insulin and Apolipoprotein B responses to OFTT	. 82			
3.4	4 C	Discussion	. 84			
	3.4.1	Repeatability of TG AUC in the resting condition	. 84			
	3.4.2	Repeatability of TG AUC in the exercise condition	. 85			
	3.4.3	Parametric repeatability analysis of TG AUC	. 86			
3.4.4		Carbohydrate content of OFTT meals	. 86			

3.4.5		Baseline TG and Apolipoprotein, glucose and insulin AUC responses	87
3.4.6		Strength and limitations	88
3.4.7		Conclusions	88
Chapter lipaemic study	4: chall	Effects of acute exercise on postprandial triglyceride responses to differe enges in adult offspring of patients with type 2 diabetes: A randomised fea	nt Isibility 90
4.1	Intro	oduction	90
4.2	Met	hods	93
4.2.	1	Participants	93
4.2.	2	Study Design	93
4.2.	3	Study objectives	93
4.2.	4	Study recruitment	95
4.2.	5	Screening visit	95
4.2.	6	Study visits 1-4	96
4.2.	7	Outcome measures	96
4.2.	8	Statistical analyses	96
4.3	Resi	ults	98
4.3.	1	Serum Triglyceride Responses	100
4.3.	2	Post-hoc sample size calculation for TG AUC and TG iAUC	105
4.3.	3	Glucose AUC	105
4.3.	4	Insulin AUC	106
4.3.	5	Total cholesterol AUC	106
4.3.	6	HDL-c AUC	107
4.4	Disc	ussion	107
4.4. rela	1 ted?	Are exercise induced increases in insulin sensitivity and reduced postpran	idial TG 108
4.4.	2	Does OFTT carbohydrate content influence postprandial TG in OT2D?	111
4.4.3		Strengths and Limitations	112
4.5	Con	clusions	112
Chapter !	5:	The effects of acute interval exercise and strawberry intake on postprand	ial
lipaemia			113
5.1	Intro	oduction	113
5.2	Met	hods	115
5.2.	1	Participants	115
5.2.	2	Study design	116
5.2.	3	Screening visit	117
5.2.	4	Visits 1-4	117
5.2.	5	Biochemistry analysis	118

	5.2.6 Outcome measu		Outcome measures	118	
	5.2.7 Statistical Analyses		Statistical Analyses	118	
	5.3	Resu	ults	120	
	5.3.1 Serum TG responses to		Serum TG responses to OFTT	121	
	5.3.	2	Oxidative stress responses to OFTT	124	
	5.3.	3	Cholesterol, HDL, and glucose responses to OFTT	124	
	5.4	Disc	ussion	125	
	5.4.	1	Exercise and postprandial triglycerides	125	
	5.4.	2	Exercise and postprandial oxidative stress	128	
	5.4.	3	Strawberry consumption and postprandial TG	129	
	5.4.	4	Strawberry consumption and postprandial oxidative stress	131	
	5.4.	5	Limitations	132	
	5.5	Con	clusions	132	
Cł	hapter	6:	General discussion	134	
	6.1	Mai	n findings	134	
	6.2	Futu	re directions	140	
	6.3	Stre	ngths and limitations	141	
	6.4	Pers	onal development and reflection	142	
	6.5	Con	clusions	143	
Re	eferenc	es		144	
	6.6	Арр	endices	181	
	Арр	endix	1: Ethical approval for chapter 3	181	
	Арр	endix	2: Publication of chapter 3 in European Journal of Nutrition	182	
	Арр	endix	3: Ethical approval for Chapter 4	183	
	Appendix 4: Ethical approval for chapter 5184				
	Арр	endix	5: Publication of chapter 5 in Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise .	185	

Table 1.1 Recent studies investigating the effects of acute prior exercise and
postprandial TG responses
Table 1.2 Lipid responses in recent exercise and postprandial lipaemia studies 41
Table 2.1 Mean ±SD evening meal composition for each study
Table 2.2 Meal composition of OFTTs across studies 67
Table 3.1 Baseline demographics (mean (SD)) 78
Table 3.2a Spearman's ranked correlation for the Rest condition
Table 3.2b Spearman's ranked correlation for the Exercise condition
Table 3.3 Repeatability of glucose, insulin and apolipoprotein 4-hour AUC after Oral
Fat Tolerance Test
Table 4.1 Participant demographics (mean (SD) 100
Table 4.2 Mean (SD) postprandial responses to OFTT 105
Table 5.1 Mean (SD) Baseline Demographics 120
Table 5.2 Mean (SD) postprandial responses for each study condition

Figure 1.1 Lipoprotein classes 5
Figure 1.2 Endogenous and exogenous triglyceride metabolism 12
Figure 2.1 Study 1 (chapter 3) experimental protocol
Figure 2.2 Study 2 (chapter 4) and Study 3 (chapter 5) experimental protocol 63
Figure 2.3 Steady state exercise protocol 64
Figure 2.4 HIIE exercise protocol 65
Figure 3.1 Median (Q1, Q3) TG responses to OFTT during each trial
Figure 3.2 Non parametric Bland Altman plots of postprandial TG AUC after rest
condition (panel 1A, n=10) and exercise condition (panel 2A, n=11) 80
Figure 3.3 Variation score for individual participants for the rest condition (dark grey,
n=10) and the exercise condition (light grey, n=11) 82
Figure 3.4 Mean (SD) glucose responses (top panels), median (Q1, Q3) insulin
responses (middle panels) and mean (SD) apolipoprotein B responses (bottom panels) to
OFTT during each trial
Figure 4.1 Flow diagram of study recruitment based on the template recommended in
the CONSORT statement extension to randomised pilot and feasibility trials (Eldridge
et al., 2016)
Figure 4.2 Mean (standard error of the mean [SEM]) TG (panels A, B), glucose (panels
C, D) and insulin (panels E, F) responses for; HFLC rest and exercise (EX) conditions

(panels A, C & E), HFHC rest and exercise (EX) conditions (panels B, D & F) .. 102

Figure 4.3 Mean (SD) TG AUC (left) and iAUC (right) for each study condition..104

Figure 5.1	TG (Panel	A), cholestere	ol (Panel	B) and	d glucose	(Panel	C) respo	onses	to
OFTT								. 123	

List of Abbreviations

Apo; Apolipoprotein	HIIE; High intensity interval exercise				
AT; Anaerobic threshold	HMG CoA; 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-				
AUC; Area under the curve	glutaryl-coenzyme A				
BMI; Body mass index	HRR; Heart rate reserve				
CHO; Carbohydrate	iAUC; Incremental area under the curve				
CM; Chylomicron	ICAM1; Intracellular adhesion molecule 1				
cm; Centimetre	IDL; Intermediate density lipoprotein				
CO ₂ ; Carbon dioxide	IL; Interleukin				
CPET; Cardiopulmonary exercise test	kcal; Kilocalorie				
CRP; C-reactive protein	kg; Kilogram				
CVD; Cardiovascular disease	l; Litre				
Da; Daltons	li; Low intensity				
DNL; De novo lipogenesis	LDL; Low density lipoprotein				
EDTA; Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid	LDL-c; Low density lipoprotein				
EPOC; Excess post oxygen	cholesterol				
consumption	LGI; Low glycemic index				
F; Female participant	LOA; Limits of agreement				
FOX; Ferrous oxidation-xylenol orange	LPL; Lipoprotein lipase				
g; Grams	m; Metre				
h; Hour	M; Male participant				
HDL; High density lipoprotein	Mg; Milligram				
HDL-c; High density lipoprotein cholesterol	min; Minute				
HFHC; High fat high carbohydrate	ml; Millimetre				
HFLC; High fat low carbohydrate	mmHg; Millimetres of Mercury				
HGI; High glycaemic index	mmol; Millimole				
hi: High intensity	mod; Moderate intensity exercise				
,0,	MRS; Magnetic resonance spectroscopy				

n; Number of participants	TG; Triglyceride			
O ₂ ; Oxygen	TNF α ; Tumour necrosis factor alpha			
NEFA; Non-esterified fatty acid	TRL; Triglyceride rich lipoprotein			
NHS; National Health Service	VCAM1; Vascular cell adhesion			
nm; Nanometre	molecule 1			
NR; Not reported	VLDL; Very low density lipoprotein			
OFTT: Oral fat tolerance test	VO2; Rate of oxygen uptake			
OGTT: Oral alugase telerance test	VO2max; Maximum oxygen uptake			
	VO2peak; Peak oxygen uptake			
diabetes	^V O₂R; Oxygen uptake reserve			
oxLDL; Oxidised low density	VT1; Ventilatory threshold 1			
lipoprotein	VT2; Ventilatory threshold 2			
PL; Phospholipid	W: Watt			
Q; Quartile	95% CI: 95% confidence intervals			
s: Second	95%CI, 95% confidence intervals			
s, second	°C; Degrees Celsius			
SD; Standard deviation	ηp ² ; Partial eta squared			

Chapter 1: General Introduction

1.1 Overview

Cardio-metabolic disorders increase the risk of developing type 2 diabetes (T2D) and cardiovascular disease (CVD) and include obesity, hypertension, dyslipidaemia, raised blood glucose and insulin resistance (Alberti et al., 2009). An individual presenting with three or more CVD risk factors are considered to have a condition termed the metabolic syndrome. The metabolic syndrome affects an estimated 20-25% of the Western adult population (O'Neill and O'Driscoll, 2015). The metabolic syndrome is associated with a 1.6 fold increase in all-cause mortality risk (O'Neill and O'Driscoll, 2015) and increases the likelihood of developing T2D and CVD (Alberti et al., 2009). T2D is independently associated with development of CVD, with 80% of deaths in people with T2D attributed to CVD (International Diabetes Federation, 2015). CVD is the most frequent cause of death worldwide, claiming approximately 17.3 million lives each year (Townsend et al., 2016). Treatment of cardio-metabolic disorders and the metabolic syndrome is prudent because development of T2D and CVD is associated with increased risks of morbidity and mortality, decreased quality of life, and increased financial/workforce burden on health care services (World Health Organisation, 2005).

A common underlying feature of cardio-metabolic related disease progression is the dysfunctional handling of lipids after dietary intake and/or endogenous lipid production (Boren et al., 2014). Dysfunctional lipid metabolism appears to be central to the pathogenesis of skeletal muscle, hepatic and adipose tissue insulin resistance, a major risk factor for cardio-metabolic disease progression (Savage et al., 2007). Consequently, there are clearly defined treatment strategies targeting modifications in lipids and lipoproteins associated with cardio-metabolic disease progression. Treatment strategies

include lifestyle interventions (dietary intervention and increased physical activity/exercise), and drug therapies, such as statin and other hypolipidaemic medications (Catapano et al., 2016). Traditionally lipids are measured by analysing fasting blood samples. However, more recently, the postprandial period has become recognised as important for the assessment of metabolic health (Catapano et al., 2016). Following fat consumption, circulating lipids are elevated for 6-8 hours and westernised dietary habits typically include 3-4 meals per day. Accordingly, most of the day is spent in the postprandial state. Postprandial measures may therefore better reflect cardiometabolic health compared to fasting measures (Lopez-Miranda et al., 2007).

Postprandial lipid metabolism can be assessed by using specifically designed high fat meal challenges, commonly termed oral fat tolerance tests (OFTTs). These evaluate the capacity of the metabolic system to acutely process high levels of dietary fat in a defined period of time, often between 4 and 8 hours (Kolovou et al., 2011, Lairon et al., 2007, Maraki et al., 2011). Elevated plasma/serum concentrations of triglycerides (TG) in the postprandial state are associated with cardio-metabolic dysregulation (Nordestgaard and Varbo, 2014). Interestingly, postprandial cardio-metabolic dysregulation can be improved with acute exercise and may be influenced by nutritional factors such as the carbohydrate content (Kriketos et al., 2003) of the OFTT and high polyphenol fruit supplementation (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010). However, optimal interventions to reduce postprandial dysregulation, particularly in those at risk of cardio-metabolic disease require, further investigation. This chapter will introduce key literature related to;

- Fasting lipids and non-fasting lipids in assessing cardio-metabolic risk
- Risk factors that increase cardio-metabolic risk such as obesity and family history of T2D

- The role of the oral fat tolerance test and its scientific validity for assessment of dysfunctional metabolism
- Exercise as a therapeutic strategy for impaired postprandial lipid metabolism
- The potential for polyphenol supplementation to improve postprandial lipid metabolism

1.2 Lipids and related cardio-metabolic diseases

In the human body, lipids are stored within adipose, muscle and hepatic tissues and are transported in the forms of cholesterol and TGs, contained within lipoproteins in blood circulation. Lipoproteins (proteins containing lipids) are classified according to their size, density, carrier proteins and content of cholesterol and TGs (Ginsberg et al., 2005). The main classes of lipoproteins within the circulation are chylomicrons (CM), very low density lipoprotein (VLDL), low density lipoprotein (LDL), intermediate density lipoprotein (IDL) and high density lipoprotein (HDL) (Figure 1.1). These range in size and density with HDL being the smallest and CM being the largest particles (Nordestgaard and Freiberg, 2011). Within these classes of lipoproteins, ultracentrifugation can be used to define lipoprotein subclasses. These subclasses are determined by their size according to their Svedberg Flotation rate (Sf). For example, VLDL is often separated in to 2 subclasses; large VLDL1 (Sf, 60 to 400) and smaller VLDL2 (Sf, 20 to 60), with VLDL1 being associated with greater cardiovascular risk (Colhoun et al., 2002, Gill et al., 2004). After the TG within lipoproteins are transported and deposited within tissues, LDL and TG deplete CM and VLDL remnants are transported to the liver. However, these particles may infiltrate arterial walls causing inflammation and oxidative stress, considered by some to be a causal process in atherogenesis (Nordestgaard, 2016). Conversely, HDLs remove cholesterol from tissues via direct and indirect pathways, one of these direct pathways facilitates the removal of circulating TGs (Rader and Hovingh, 2014). Accordingly, raised HDL concentrations are inversely related to cardiovascular events (Tuteja and Rader, 2014). Therefore the circulating concentrations and the composition/functionality of lipoproteins are an important marker of poor cardio-metabolic health (Catapano et al., 2016). This section will provide a brief overview of the lipoproteins that are central to cardio-metabolic health with a particular focus on those that are acutely altered with dietary intake of fats.



Figure 1.1 Lipoprotein classes; size (nanometre, nm), density (g.dl⁻¹), mass (Daltons, Da) and composition (%). Components are; Triglycerides (TG), Cholesterol (Chol), Phospholipid (PL), Apolipoproteins (Apo). Adapted from data presented by Ginsberg and colleagues (2005).

1.2.1 Cholesterol

Cholesterol is a type of lipid, in the sterol family, and is essential for cell structure and function and in the formation of bile salts and steroids (such as adrenaline) in humans. However, raised circulating total and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol concentration are risk factors for CVD (Catapano et al., 2016). The processes involved with CVD progression are complex and dyslipidaemia is one of the key contributing factors (Ginsberg and Fisher, 2009). Subsequently, the measurement of total cholesterol and LDL-cholesterol (LDL-c) to evaluate CVD risk is widely advocated (Catapano et al., 2016). Circulating cholesterol concentrations are fairly stable throughout the day and therefore can be measured with or without fasting to evaluate health status (Peddie et al., 2012). A total circulating cholesterol level ≥ 7.5 mmol⁻¹⁻¹, independent of other cardio-metabolic risk factors, requires treatment/intervention (Conroy et al., 2003, Catapano et al., 2016). Lower cholesterol levels require consideration of other risk

factors such as age, gender, blood pressure and smoking history (Conroy et al., 2003), in addition to other lifestyle factors and co-morbidities including social deprivation, psychosocial stress and chronic kidney disease (Catapano et al., 2016). Target LDL-c and HDL-cholesterol (HDL-c) concentrations for people with low to moderate risk of CVD are $<3.0 \text{ mmol}\cdot l^{-1}$ (men and women) and $>1.0 \text{ mmol}\cdot l^{-1}$ (men) or $>1.2 \text{ mmol}\cdot l^{-1}$ (women), respectively (Catapano et al., 2016). The prognostic capacity of total cholesterol is improved when the size and density of its constituents are evaluated (Nordestgaard, 2016). High concentrations of circulating LDL-c and low concentrations of HDL-c are a feature of dyslipidaemia and a risk factor for CVD (Ginsberg, 2000). There are various causes of increased total cholesterol and LDL-c such as obesity, physical inactivity, poor dietary intake and an inherited predisposition based on numerous genetic abnormalities identified in pathways of lipoprotein metabolism (Nelson, 2013, Warburton et al., 2006). In most cases cholesterol can be maintained within target concentrations by; 1. A balanced dietary intake of fat, carbohydrate, protein, vitamins and minerals from good quality sources with total calorie intake similar to daily expenditure (Mozaffarian, 2016), and 2. Participating in regular physical activity (3-5 times per week and total physical activity >150 minutes per week (Pescatello and American College of Sports Medicine, 2014)). Failure to meet these requirements or having a predisposition to dyslipidaemia increases the likelihood of dyslipidaemia and subsequent insulin resistance and cardio-metabolic disease progression.

1.2.2 Triglycerides

A TG is composed of one glycerol and three fatty acids. The primary role of the TG is to transfer energy to tissues for utilisation or storage and adipose tissue for storage (Ginsberg and Fisher, 2009). TGs are transported within complex structures known as TG rich lipoproteins (TRL). TRL consist of CM (produced within the intestine) and VLDL (produced within the liver), and their remnants. A feature of dyslipidaemia is hypertryglyceridaemia, an excess in circulating TGs in the fasting and/or non-fasting state (Catapano et al., 2016, Srikanth and Deedwania, 2016). Hypertriglyceridaemia is caused by a dysregulation in the synthesis, hydrolysis and/or catabolism of TRL (Ginsberg, 2000, Boren et al., 2014). Such dysregulation may be genetically inherited and is strongly associated with obesity, type 2 diabetes (T2D) and development of CVD (Ginsberg, 2000). Unlike cholesterol, there are considerable increases in postprandial TG levels after consumption of dietary fats. Fasting and postprandial TGs are therefore independent markers of dyslipidaemia and independent predictors of CVD (Nordestgaard et al., 2007).

1.2.3 Elevated triglycerides and cardio-metabolic disease

The relationship between elevated TGs and obesity with coronary artery disease has been known for more than 35 years (Albrink et al., 1980, Zilversmit, 1979). However, as highlighted by Nordestgaard (2016), for the majority of this time, increased LDL-c and decreased HDL-c (and not TGs) were thought to be key mechanisms of CVD progression and were therefore primary treatment targets. Raised LDL-c has been consistently shown to be strongly associated with increased CVD risk and reducing LDL-c, through intervention (primarily 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A [HMG CoA] reductase inhibitors), is strongly associated with decreased CVD risk (Nordestgaard, 2016, Collins et al., 2016, Fulcher et al., 2015). HMG CoA reductase inhibitors compete with HMG CoA reductase in the liver and alter the conformation of this enzyme to prevent conversion of HMG CoA in to mevalonic acid, a precursor to LDL-c (Stancu and Sima, 2001). Reduced hepatic LDL-c synthesis leads to increased clearance from circulation, subsequently reducing cardiovascular risk (Stancu and Sima, 2001). The strong associations between low HDL-c and CVD were assumed to be causal (Nordestgaard and Freiberg, 2011). However, in studies where medication successfully increased HDL concentrations, CVD progression was not attenuated (Nordestgaard, 2016, Stauffer et al., 2013, Briel et al., 2009). A recent meta-regression analysis of approximately 300 000 participants at risk of CVD across 108 randomised intervention trials reported that increased HDL-c levels, through drug intervention, had no effect on cardiovascular outcomes (Briel et al., 2009). There was no association between HDL-c and coronary heart disease related events, mortality or all-cause mortality when data were adjusted for LDL-c concentrations. Notably, change in HDL-c explained very limited variability (<1%) in these outcome measures. Furthermore, another recent meta-regression analyses of 40 randomised controlled trials that included 200 000 participants demonstrated that medication related reductions in TGs and/or LDL-c reduced cardiovascular events but medication related increases in HDL-c had no effect on reducing cardiovascular events (Stauffer et al., 2013). It is now apparent that increased TGs and reduced HDL-c are tightly co-regulated and that low HDL-c reflects prolonged exposure to hypertriglyceridaemia (Nordestgaard and Varbo, 2014). As such, recent attention has returned to investigate the role of raised TGs and their contribution to mechanisms of CVD progression (Nordestgaard, 2016).

TGs measured in either the fasted or non-fasted state are associated with development of cardio-metabolic disease (Austin et al., 1998, Bansal et al., 2007, Boullart et al., 2012, Ginsberg, 1997, Hyson et al., 2003, Jackson et al., 2012, Lewis and Steiner, 1996, Pirillo et al., 2014). A recent scientific consensus statement from the American Heart Association confirmed that TGs are an important biomarker of CVD risk, particularly due to their association with atherogenic remnant particles (Miller et al., 2011). To

support the prognostic importance of hypertriglyceridaemia, a large meta-analysis, of 29 studies, including 262 000 participants with approximately 10 000 cases of coronary heart disease demonstrated that raised TGs have a moderately strong association with coronary heart disease risk after controlling for HDL concentrations (Sarwar et al., 2007). In addition, in a 14 year follow-up study of 151 patients at a single preventative cardiology centre, when LDL-c was reduced with statin therapy, raised TGs were independently associated with increased CVD risk (Miller et al., 2007). Furthermore, in a study of 60 600 participants with 10 600 patients diagnosed with ischaemic heart disease, low grade inflammation (using participant CRP concentrations) was found to be a feature central to cardio-metabolic disease and appears to be related to hypertriglyceridaemia and remnant cholesterol but not raised LDL-c concentrations (Varbo et al., 2013b). This highlights the importance of raised TG independent of other measures (Varbo et al., 2013b). In a meta-analysis of 62 000 patients enrolled on 8 randomised controlled trials investigating the effects of statins on circulating lipids, the capacity for LDL-c to predict major cardiovascular events was significantly improved when non-HDL-c, which includes TG, was considered (Boekholdt et al., 2012). Finally, in a study of 73 500 patients with almost 12 000 diagnosed with ischaemic heart disease, increased exposure to TG rich remnants was found to be an independent risk factor for development of CVD (Varbo et al., 2013a). These large scale epidemiology and meta-analysis studies all indicate that elevated TGs are an important risk factor in cardio-metabolic disease.

In order to reduce fasting and postprandial TG concentrations, lifestyle interventions that are related to lower circulating TG concentrations and improved cardio-metabolic health are recommended. These include; reducing bodyweight, reducing carbohydrate intake, reducing trans-fat and saturated fat intake, and increasing physical activity (Miller et al., 2011). The effects of acute dietary and exercise interventions to lower postprandial TGs will be appraised later in this chapter. First, the mechanisms of fat metabolism, postprandial dysregulation and methods used to assess postprandial lipid metabolism will be considered.

1.2.4 Metabolism of exogenous triglycerides

After eating fats, TGs (derived from these fats) enter the circulation after approximately one hour (Xiao and Lewis, 2012). The majority of the longer chain fatty acids are packaged within CM and enter the blood stream via the lymph system (Xiao and Lewis, 2012). A number of processes occur to breakdown complex fat structures from their food form to the TGs contained within CM. The breakdown of fats is initiated in the mouth by secretion of lingual lipases and then in the stomach with the addition of gastric enzymes (Iqbal and Hussain, 2009). Further emulsification and hydrolysis occurs as the fats pass through the duodenum (Iqbal and Hussain, 2009). TGs are hydrolysed within the jejunum in to glycerol and free fatty acids and are transported to enterocytes (Iqbal and Hussain, 2009). Free fatty acids and glycerol are then synthesized in to TGs within the endoplasmic reticulum by fatty acid binding proteins (produced by either the liver or intestine) in reactions that are catalysed by monoacylglycerol acyltransferase or diacylglycerol transferase enzymes (Iqbal and Hussain, 2009, Julve et al., 2016). TGs are then bound to proteins to form a CM, one of the key proteins that binds to the TGs form the CM is Apolipoprotein (Apo) B48 which is only produced by the gut (Julve et al., 2016). After fat consumption, the production of the CM particles within the gut is not increased, instead CMs increase vastly in size (Hayashi et al., 1990). TG rich CMs, consisting predominantly of TGs and monoglycerides (85-92%) (Iqbal and Hussain, 2009), are then released in to the circulation where they attach to other key apoproteins including; Apo CII, Apo CIII and Apo E. Apo CII facilitates

activation of lipoprotein lipase (LPL) for CM removal from circulation (Julve et al., 2016). Contrarily, Apo CIII inhibits LPL activity (Julve et al., 2016). Once in the circulation, CMs have an approximate half-life of 5 minutes and are hydrolysed by LPL, an enzyme located on endothelial cells and within adipocytes, skeletal and cardiac muscle cells (Karpe et al., 2007). CM has a greater affinity to LPL than VLDL, both of which compete for hydrolysis. This leads to a prolonged increase in circulating VLDL. On exposure to LPL, fatty acids are released from the CM either within the circulation where they are taken up by the liver, or are taken up by the adipose or muscle tissue for storage or oxidation (Ginsberg et al., 2005). The CM remnants are mostly removed by the liver which is facilitated by Apo E on the CM remnant binding to LDL receptors within the liver (Ginsberg et al., 2005). CM remnants can also be removed by entering subendothelial spaces within the vasculature, causing inflammation and contributing to the development of atherosclerosis (Nordestgaard and Varbo, 2014). This finding has been supported by identifying lipoprotein remnants within the arterial intima in animal studies (Proctor et al., 2000). After approximately 5-8 hours, provided that no further fats have been ingested, circulating CM returns to low circulating levels.

1.2.5 Metabolism of endogenous triglycerides

VLDL is continuously secreted by the liver and is a major transporter of TGs (Karpe et al., 2007, Karpe, 1999). TGs can be delivered to, and synthesised within the liver through several pathways; TGs within VLDL and CM remnants are delivered to the liver, fatty acids are secreted by muscle or adipose tissue, TGs can also by synthesised endogenously via de novo lipogenesis (DNL) (Karpe, 1999). VLDLs can be differentiated from CMs by the apolipoprotein B100 attached to the TRL. Production of VLDL is increased when fatty acid or TG delivery to the liver is increased, and

production is inhibited (in healthy humans) when insulin concentrations are increased (Karpe et al., 2007). Interestingly, the size of VLDL may be influenced by exercise resulting in an increase in the affinity of VLDL for LPL (Ghafouri et al., 2015). Once in circulation, VLDL TGs can be removed after binding with LPL in a similar fashion to CMs. However, CMs have an estimated 50 fold greater affinity for LPL, as such VLDL concentrations often rise in the postprandial period (Karpe et al., 2007). VLDL that are hydrolysed by LPL may be reduced in size to form LDL or become VLDL remnants (IDL), depending on the degree of hydrolysis. HDL also removes TGs from VLDL in exchange for cholesterol ester transfer protein. The TG enriched HDL are more readily removed from circulation by liver hepatic lipase, resulting in fewer circulating HDL particles and thus a reduced cardio-protective capacity (Lamarche et al., 1999). The smaller IDL and LDL particles become enriched with cholesterol, increasing their atherogenic properties, and their smaller size may enable infiltration of endothelial walls (Zilversmit, 1979). However, most remnants will be hydrolysed by the liver LDL receptors (Lopez-Miranda et al., 2007). Exogenous and endogenous pathways of TG metabolism are presented in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.2 Endogenous and exogenous triglyceride metabolism. Adapted from Lopez-Miranda et al. (2007).

1.3 Postprandial lipaemia and cardio-metabolic disease

Postprandial lipaemia is a term used to describe the increase in circulating TG within TRL and their remnants during the hours after dietary fat ingestion (Lopez-Miranda et al., 2007). Unlike fasting conditions, where TGs and TRL remain fairly stable, the postprandial period involves a complex chain of events to metabolise or store fats (described earlier). These events can elicit the onset of vascular pathologies, particularly where TG concentrations are frequently increased for prolonged time periods (Lopez-Miranda et al., 2007). Age, gender, menopausal status, dietary habits, physical activity, smoking status, genetic inheritance, as well as metabolic pathologies such as obesity, insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes impact on the postprandial lipaemic response (Pirillo et al., 2014). Insulin plays an important role in controlling the secretion (Malmstrom et al., 1997, Malmstrom et al., 1998) and removal (Panarotto et al., 2002) of TRL, therefore risk of CVD related pathologies are increased in insulin resistant conditions with hyperinsulinaemia. In those with cardio-metabolic disorders, after consuming a standardised amount of fat, TG levels can remain elevated for twice as long and reach peaks 2-3 times greater compared to healthy controls (Cohn, 2006). A leading hypothesis for the mechanism underlying this increase in postprandial TG has been demonstrated in well-designed studies by Rabøl and colleagues (2011) and Petersen and colleagues (2007). First, Petersen and colleagues (2007) demonstrated that muscle insulin resistant adult offspring of people living with type 2 diabetes (OT2D) had a two-fold rise in postprandial TG after a high carbohydrate mixed meal compared to healthy controls. Using Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (detailed later in section 1.3.2.2) they identified that this was due to increased de novo lipogenesis (DNL) (60%) and TG synthesis, reduced HDL (20%) and a decreased rate of clearance of TG and glucose at the muscle (Petersen et al., 2007). This hypothesis was further supported by evaluating responses to the same high carbohydrate mixed meals, using exercise on one of the study days to acutely improve insulin sensitivity in insulin resistant lean males. Exercise (3x 15 minutes at 75 to 85% calculated maximum heart rate) increased glycogen synthesis, and decreased hepatic TG synthesis and DNL (Rabol et al., 2011). This study demonstrated that muscle insulin resistance can be acutely reversed and that this improves TG mediated clearance (Rabol et al., 2011). Identifying a larger and more prolonged exposure to TG-rich lipoproteins and their remnants (IDL, VLDL and CM remnants) is important because of the strongly associated increased pathologies associated with dyslipidaemia.

A causal role between postprandial TGs and atherosclerosis was proposed by Zilversmit in 1979 (Zilversmit, 1979). Many studies have been conducted since this proposal to better understand the pathophysiological processes involved. Postprandial lipaemia has since been associated with acute endothelial dysfunction (Vogel et al., 1997), impaired platelet function (Tamburrelli et al., 2012, Michelsen et al., 2009), systemic inflammation and oxidative stress (de Vries et al., 2014). Increases in circulating VLDLs and CMs are associated with development of atherosclerosis (Rapp et al., 1994, Karpe et al., 1994, Tomkin and Owens, 2001). After LPL hydrolysis, VLDLs and CMs become smaller and denser remnant particles which can infiltrate arterial walls (Pirillo et al., 2014). The arterial wall infiltration by these remnant particles, containing 5-20 fold more cholesterol than LDL particles, is likely causal in atherosclerosis (Wilhelm and Cooper, 2003). Potential mechanisms include inflammation, macrophage formation and endothelial dysfunction (Pirillo et al., 2014). However, more novel mechanisms have recently been identified and discussed by de Vries and colleagues (de Vries et al., 2014). It has become apparent that prior to the pathways of postprandial atherogenesis mentioned above, there is an inflammatory vascular response that is proposed to be activated by remnant lipoproteins binding with white blood cells (Alipour et al., 2008b). Incidentally, there is a greater content of lipids within the white blood cells of those with CVD compared to apparently healthy people (Tertov et al., 1992). During postprandial fat metabolism, activation of neutrophils may contribute to the postprandial increase in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that cause subsequent endothelial dysfunction (van Oostrom et al., 2003). Exposure of LDL to ROS leads to modification of the LDL in to oxidised LDL (oxLDL) (de Vries et al., 2014). CM remnants and oxLDL particles that penetrate the arterial walls, are taken up by macrophages and form foam cells, initiating the formation of an atherosclerotic plaque (Teeman et al., 2016). These processes contribute to the release of modulators of endothelial function, such as vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM1) and inflammatory markers including interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-8 (IL-8) and tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) (de Vries et al., 2014). The inflammatory and oxidative stresses caused by these processes are hypothesised to cause systemic inflammation and endothelial dysfunction, both of which are prognostic in CVD (de Vries et al., 2014, Cai and Harrison, 2000, Halcox et al., 2002).

The lipid handling capacity of the body can be assessed by feeding a moderate or high amount of fat to a fasted individual and measuring postprandial circulating TG concentrations at predefined time points. This test has been termed the oral fat tolerance test (OFTT). At present, the OFTT is not widely used in a clinical setting for assessment of cardio-metabolic function. One reason for this could be the time demands of OFTT (Weiss et al., 2008) which typically require postprandial measurements to be taken every 1 or 2 hours for 5-8 hours (Zhang et al., 2004, Plaisance et al., 2008, Pfeiffer et al., 2005, Petridou et al., 2004, Katsanos and Moffatt, 2004, Clegg et al., 2007). The test is required to last several hours because TGs typically reach a peak at 3 to 4 hours after lipid ingestion and resolve to baseline concentrations at 6 to 8 hours (Pirillo et al., 2014). Recently, an abbreviated OFTT (lasting 4-hours) has been developed and validated (Weiss et al., 2008, Maraki et al., 2011). This test reduces time constraints and

improves the practicality of OFTT (Weiss et al., 2008). Furthermore, the 4-hour time point has been recommended by an expert consensus as clinically relevant and the most representative time to measure postprandial TG responses following an OFTT (Kolovou et al., 2011). However, the test re-test repeatability of the abbreviated 4-hour OFTT has only been investigated in one single centre study with a small population (Weiss et al., 2008). It is important to understand the test-retest repeatability to ascertain the typical error in the measurement. Understanding the measurement error enables identification of whether changes in repeat tests used for serial clinical assessment or acute interventions fall within or outside of the error in the measurement.

1.3.1 Oral fat tolerance test (OFTT) meal composition

1.3.1.1 Fat quantities in OFTT

The composition of the OFTT should be considered prior to experimental study or clinical use. This is because the amount of fat, the type of fat, and the presence of carbohydrate, fibre and protein may alter the postprandial lipaemic response (Lopez-Miranda et al., 2007). Five to 15 grams (g) of fat in a meal leads to insignificant increases in postprandial lipids (Dubois et al., 1998). Fat intakes of 30 to 50g within an OFTT, has been shown to increase TG concentrations in the region of 0.85 to 1.24 mmol.1⁻¹ above baseline values, in a dose dependent manner (Lopez-Miranda et al., 2007, Cohen et al., 1988, Murphy et al., 1995). This dose dependent relationship extends to approximately 80g fat. Meals containing fat above 80g causes an exaggerated lipaemic response which is not dose dependent (Plaisance and Fisher, 2014, Lopez-Miranda et al., 2007).

The amount of fat previously used in OFTT has been either a fixed quantity, or variable according to body mass or surface area (Lairon et al., 2007). Numerous methods have

been used in the literature to adjust fat meals to body mass, as can be observed in the reviewed exercise and postprandial lipaemia literature (Peddie et al., 2012). The main rationale for adjusting for body size/mass is to account for increases in blood volume in relation to body size. However, in those at greatest risk of cardio-metabolic dysfunction, the increased mass and surface area is likely to be caused by excess adiposity and therefore adjustments would likely overestimate blood volume in overweight/obese populations (Lairon et al., 2007). Furthermore, in order to adopt such a test in clinical practice, a fixed dose may be most appropriate to encourage standardisation among healthcare providers. The oral glucose tolerance test, which is widely adopted in clinical practice, takes this approach (WHO, 2006). An OFTT expert panel statement recently recommended to standardise fat doses at 75g (Kolovou et al., 2011). The use of a fixed fat content, rather than adjusting for body mass/size, has also been proposed to minimise errors in experimental studies particularly in homogenous populations (Lairon et al., 2007). A large meta-analysis recently reported that the optimal dose of fat in OFTTs is 70 to 79g (Mihas et al., 2011). This meta-analysis included 113 studies that evaluated postprandial responses to OFTTs in normolipidaemic, defined as fasting TG <2.0 mmol.1⁻¹, non-obese (BMI < 30 kg.m⁻²) Caucasian adults. Fat quantity was assessed between studies, with 10g increments used between 40g and 120g fat. The net change in circulating TG from baseline, termed the standardised mean difference, was highest with 70 to 79g fat. In addition, the authors indicated that 4 hours after fat ingestion identifies the most important time-point after fat ingestion due to TG reaching its highest circulating concentrations (Mihas et al., 2011). The authors concluded that the 4-hour time-point after 70 to 79g fat consumption was the most relevant for assessment of postprandial TG responses and identified a mean increase in TG of 1.74 mmol.1⁻¹ from baseline to peak TG.

The 4-hour collection period has also been supported for use in CVD patients by a recent validation study evaluating the capacity of the OFTT to identify lipid dysmetabolism in a CVD cohort and in a general population cohort (Perez-Martinez et al., 2016). The postprandial TG responses from approximately 1000 participants with CVD and 1100 apparently healthy participants were retrospectively assessed. These data were taken from the CORDIOPREV (CVD cohort) and the GOLDN (healthy cohort) studies, where TG concentrations were assessed after high fat meal intake hourly for 4 hours or at 3.5 and 6 hours, respectively. An increase in TG in excess of 2.5 mmol.l⁻¹ was considered to be an abnormal response. The authors identified that 49% of CVD patients and 42% of apparently healthy participants with fasting TG between 1 and 2 mmol.l⁻¹ had abnormal responses to the OFTT. Of note, the authors reported that there was no additional benefit of OFTT over fasting measures in those who had fasting TG outside of the 1 to 2 mmol.l⁻¹ range.

1.3.1.2 OFTT fatty acid content

The type of fat used in OFTT may also be important. This topic has recently been systematically reviewed by Monfort-Pires and colleagues (Monfort-Pires et al., 2016). Eighteen studies were included, 12 of the studies compared saturated fat OFTT meals with polyunsaturated fat OFTT meals and 16 compared saturated fat OFTT meals with monounsaturated fat OFTT meals, 10 studies included both comparisons. Interestingly, there were no differences between saturated fatty acids, polyunsaturated fatty acids and monounsaturated fatty acids after 4 hours or 6 hours. However, at 8 hours, monounsaturated fatty acid and polyunsaturated fatty acid OFTTs provoked a lower lipaemic response compared to saturated fatty acids. The authors reported that a postprandial monitoring time of 4 hours was insufficient to differentiate TG responses to specific fatty acid types. The 8 hour TG response to a polyunsaturated fat OFTT was significantly lower than a saturated fat OFTT. There was also a trend for a lower TG

response after a monounsaturated fat OFTT compared with a saturated fat OFTT. These responses were not different at 4 hours. A recent study that compared the effects of a saturated fatty acid meal and a monounsaturated fatty acid meal on postprandial markers of acute cardiovascular and endothelial dysfunction also found no differences between the types of fatty acids (Lithander et al., 2013). However, the measures were taken at baseline and at 4 hours after meal ingestion. Given the importance of the 4-hour time period, and the similar responses at 4 hours between the different types of fats within the OFTT, in studies using fatty acids to provoke lipaemia and assess interventions to reduce this response, it may not matter which source of fatty acids are used.

1.3.1.3 OFTT protein content

A recent expert panel statement suggests that OFTT meals should contain 10g of protein (Kolovou et al., 2011). The rationale for this is related to the requirement of fat and protein within an OFTT meal to enable fat absorption (Kolovou et al., 2011). However, there is limited evidence on the influence of protein on postprandial lipaemic responses. Westphal and colleagues (2006) identified that two different types of protein (50g sodium caseinate or 50g soy protein) reduced the lipaemic responses to an OFTT containing an approximate mean fat content of 70g (Westphal et al., 2006). The authors reported that TG concentrations were lower at 1, 2 and 3 hour time-points after OFTT ingestion by approximately 20% (absolute numbers were not reported). It is important to note that insulin AUC values in the protein conditions were between 20 and 30% higher than the control condition. In addition, the extent of endothelial dysfunction, measured by flow-mediated dilation, from baseline (approx. 8.5%) was not as pronounced after the high protein OFTTs (trivial reductions) compared to the control OFTT (approximately 4% reduction) (Westphal et al., 2006). Milk and whey proteins may also improve postprandial insulin sensitivity (Nilsson et al., 2004, Akhavan et al., 2010). This may be important due to the regulatory role that insulin has over

upregulation of LPL activity and inhibition of VLDL secretion. Recently, postprandial lipaemia (TG iAUC) after an OFTT (80g fat, 45g carbohydrate, 45g protein) was reduced with whey protein compared to cod protein (61% higher than whey protein) and gluten (66% higher than whey protein) in obese non-diabetic participants (Holmer-Jensen et al., 2013). As such, the type of protein and probably the amount of protein should be considered when designing OFTT meals.

1.3.1.4 OFTT carbohydrate content

The carbohydrate content of OFTT meals recommended by an expert panel is 25g, with the rationale being that this amount enables adequate fat absorption (Kolovou et al., 2011). However, many studies evaluating responses to OFTTs have employed a much larger carbohydrate content (Table 1.1) (Gill et al., 2002, Burton-Freeman et al., 2010, Miyashita et al., 2006). In healthy participants, the lipaemic response is reduced if the glucose content of an OFTT is increased (Westphal et al., 2002, Kriketos et al., 2003). This could be related to delayed gastric emptying, shifting the postprandial TG curve rightwards. However, it may also be related to the hyperinsulinaemia that ensues after glucose ingestion (Kriketos et al., 2003). The regulatory effects of insulin on LPL and VLDL have already been described. Replacing glucose with fructose increases postprandial lipaemia (Chong et al., 2007). Fructose does not stimulate large increases in insulin secretion which may result in greater postprandial increases in TGs. Therefore, OFTT carbohydrate composition should be carefully considered. For OFTT experimental studies where the intervention may alter insulin sensitivity (such as an exercise intervention (Rabol et al., 2011)), the carbohydrate content of the OFTT meal should be considered when evaluating the mechanism of TG clearance. Assessing responses to low and high carbohydrate OFTT meals may also provide further understanding of abnormal metabolic control in specific populations (Kriketos et al., 2005). This will be discussed later.

1.3.2 Measurements and reporting of postprandial lipid responses to an oral fat tolerance test (OFTT)

1.3.2.1 Triglyceride AUC and iAUC

Due to the strong association between raised postprandial TG and CVD (Pirillo et al., 2014), plasma or serum TGs are commonly measured to describe responses to the OFTT. These measurements are often taken at baseline and every 1 or 2 hours for a total of 4 to 8 hours after meal ingestion. To evaluate the total TG response, these data are commonly presented as total area under the curve (AUC) (which includes the baseline measurement) or incremental AUC (where the baseline measurement is considered to be zero and the increase in TG from baseline is assessed) (Carstensen et al., 2003). Both AUC and iAUC are calculated using the trapezoidal method (Matthews et al., 1990).

TG AUC is more commonly reported in the postprandial lipaemia literature; a recent meta-analysis identified 121 TG AUC effect sizes reported in 76 randomised controlled trials compared to 70 effect sizes for TG iAUC (Freese et al., 2014). Using data from 3 previous studies, Carstensen and colleagues (2003) compared postprandial responses to OFTT (80g fat, 50g carbohydrate) in young (mean \pm SD age; 23 \pm 2 years) apparently healthy (n= 10) and older (mean \pm SD age; 65 \pm 5 years) T2D participants (n= 47). They concluded that because AUC correlated strongly with fasting TGs and iAUC correlated strongly with the rise in TG; iAUC better explains the postprandial lipid response (Carstensen et al., 2003). However, intervention studies, such as those employing acute exercise, lower both fasting and postprandial TG concentrations (Magkos et al., 2008b, Tsekouras et al., 2007). It could therefore be argued that AUC is more appropriate in intervention studies seeking to ameliorate excursions in circulating TG concentrations.

1.3.2.2 Tracing lipids and magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS)

More complex analysis methods of assessing postprandial TG metabolism exist, such as magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS). Natural stable isotopes such as ¹H and ¹³C can
be injected in solution or orally ingested in food with fats or carbohydrates containing these isotopes. These isotopes have the same chemical properties but a different atomic mass compared to the more commonly occurring isotope element (Magkos and Mittendorfer, 2009). This different mass enables its detection using either non-invasive techniques such as MRS (Hwang and Choi, 2015), or invasive blood sampling with the stable isotopes identified in plasma or serum by mass spectrometry (Magkos and Mittendorfer, 2009).

MRS offers a unique non-invasive in vivo method to evaluate underlying mechanisms of postprandial lipid metabolism, with the opportunity to assess specific tissues such as muscle and adipose tissue, and whole organs such as the liver (Hwang and Choi, 2015). A strong magnetic field is created by a super conducting magnet which allows identification of the chemical content of magnetic resonance visible nuclei (Blüml, 2013, Befroy and Shulman, 2011). Therefore the capabilities of this measurement provide biochemical and physiological information that would be difficult to assess through other measurement and imaging techniques (Hwang and Choi, 2015). The limitations of this technique include the expense, the requirement of experts to understand and process the data collected, the length of time required for scans and the lack of standardised protocols (Hwang and Choi, 2015). However, this appears to be an excellent research tool that is still in early development.

Tracers can also be measured within plasma and serum to investigate postprandial clearance of lipids (Lambert and Parks, 2012). A mass spectrometer is required for measurement of the natural isotopes present in serum or plasma. With recent advances in gas chromatography mass spectroscopy, this method has a higher sensitivity for lipids than liquid chromatography mass spectroscopy and therefore a smaller amount of tracer can be used in each dose (Lambert and Parks, 2012). These techniques can contribute to

22

TG measurements to aid understanding of underlying mechanisms of postprandial responses that cannot be achieved with serum or plasma analysis of circulating TG alone. Isotope tracers in addition to lipid quantities can also be assessed using more invasive or higher risk procedures such as muscle biopsies or positron emission tomography (requiring radioactive isotopes) (Lambert and Parks, 2012).

1.3.3 The repeatability of the oral fat tolerance test (OFTT)

The repeatability of the TG response to OFTTs, lasting between 5 and 8 hours, is reported to be high in healthy normolipidaemic (Weiss et al., 2008, Brown et al., 1992, Gill et al., 2005, Ryan et al., 2013) and obese populations (Weiss et al., 2008). However, it is unclear whether this measure is more variable in women compared to men as two studies report conflicting data (Gill et al., 2005, Weiss et al., 2008). There is not currently a standardised protocol for an OFTT in clinical practice. However, an OFTT typically involves consumption of a meal with either a fixed high fat dose, normally 70 to 80g of fat (Kolovou et al., 2011), or an amount of fat relative to the body mass of the individual, such as 0.7 to 1.5g fat per kilogram body mass (Freese et al., 2014). Blood samples are commonly taken each hour for up to 6 to 8 hours after OFTT meal ingestion to measure TG responses (Maraki et al., 2011, Weiss et al., 2008). Due to the lengthy nature of this test, a shortened 4-hour sampling period has been validated and shown to be highly predictive of the 8 hour test for TG response (Maraki et al., 2011, Weiss et al., 2008). Weiss et al. (2008) first investigated the reproducibility of the 4-hour test using an 800 kcal meal (71% fat) by testing 9 participants (2 male) on 4 separate occasions. Maraki and colleagues (2011) further evaluated the accuracy of the abbreviated test by assessing responses of 72 (32 male) participants to a single OFTT. This study demonstrated that a shorter 4-hour time period was able to predict 8 hour TG AUC response to OFTTs. The key test-retest repeatability studies are considered below, throughout this body of text, data are presented as mean \pm SD unless an alternative is stated;

Brown and colleagues (1992) recruited 10 (7 female) volunteers aged 45 to 64 years old to consume an OFTT on two separate occasions within 10 days. The OFTT contained 1374 calories, 50g carbohydrate, 130g fat and 11g protein per 2 square metres of body surface area. Blood samples were taken at 3.5 and 9 hours in to the postprandial period. No food consumption or drinks containing carbohydrates were allowed, however, unusually caffeine intake was permitted during the 9 hour postprandial period. To compare the responses across the two OFTT testing days, intra-class correlations were performed between the measurements at 3.5 hours and 9 hours. At 3.5 hours the correlation coefficient between TG responses for the two OFTTs was 0.76, and this was 0.85 at 9 hours. Despite permitting caffeine intake, which may reduce postprandial TG absorption (Jarrar and Obeid, 2014), these findings demonstrated a moderate to good reproducibility in TG measures. However, the amount of fat administered in this study was above the threshold at which postprandial lipaemia is exaggerated and does not increase proportionally to dose (Plaisance and Fisher, 2014, Lopez-Miranda et al., 2007).

Gill and colleagues (2005) recruited 20 (13 female) participants whose fasting lipid and glucose levels were within a 'healthy range'. The 7 men were 44 \pm 10 years and had a body mass index (BMI) of 27 \pm 2 kg.m⁻². The 13 women were 26 \pm 6 years old and had a BMI of 23 \pm 4 kg.m⁻². The OFTT meal contained 1.2g fat, 1.2g carbohydrate, and 17 kcal per kilogram of body mass. Only water was allowed to be consumed during the postprandial period and participants abstained from physical activity for the 3 days prior to OFTT and alcohol on the day prior to OFTT. The women were tested once during the

follicular phase and once during the mid-luteal phase of their menstrual cycle. This was to determine whether the menstrual cycle influenced the variation in the results. Blood samples were measured for glucose, insulin and TG at baseline, 30 minutes and one hour and then each hour for 6 hours. Within subject coefficient of variation between the two OFTT testing days was 10% for men, however, for 11 women (2 were excluded due to progesterone concentrations outside of the normal range) it was much larger at 23%. The authors concluded that the menstrual influences postprandial TG responses.

Weiss and colleagues (2008) recruited 5 (4 female) lean and 4 (3 female) obese subjects aged 23 ± 1 and 36 ± 4 years, respectively (Weiss et al., 2008). BMI was 21 ± 1 kg.m⁻² in the lean group and 40 \pm 1 kg.m⁻² in the obese group. Fasting insulin and LDL-c concentrations were higher and HDL-c was lower in the obese group. Participants were prescribed a weight maintaining diet for 3 days prior to each meal test and were advised to avoid caffeine, alcohol and strenuous exercise 24 hours before each OFTT. Participants were provided with a standardised meal to consume on the evening before the OFTT. The OFTT contained 35g of fat per metre squared body surface area. Blood samples were taken each hour for 8 hours. The coefficient of variation for whole group total TGs area under curve (AUC) was 8% (95% confidence intervals [95%CI] 6% and 10%). In the 5 lean participants it was 9% (95%CI: 6% and 13%) and in obese it was 6% (95%CI: 4% and 8%). However, the iAUC coefficient of variation was 21% (95%CI: 16% and 26%) for the whole group. This study demonstrated high reproducibility of the AUC but this was lower for the iAUC for the 8-hour postprandial TG responses to OFTTs. In order to validate a shorter postprandial monitoring period, the authors also evaluated the variation of the first 4 hours of this test. The coefficient of variation for the 4-hour AUC was also low, 7% (95%CI: 5% and 8%) but again this was higher for the 4-hour iAUC; 16% (95%CI: 12% and 20%). For both the 8-hour and 4hour monitoring periods the TRLs had lower reproducibility, suggesting that total TGs

are more reproducible than TRLs after an OFTT. The authors attributed this to greater error in measurements of samples. There are more analytical stages involved in the analysis for TRLs compared to total TGs, introducing potential for increased technical error.

Ryan and colleagues (2013) recruited 51 (26 female) healthy participants (age, 30 ± 12 years; BMI, 25 ± 3 kg.m⁻²) to perform two OFTTs within approximately 25 days (Ryan et al., 2013). The meal contained 533 kcal 54g fat and 11g carbohydrate. The authors reported that there were no significant differences and low variability in TG responses between visits, using ANOVA and a bespoke within person variability calculation, respectively. There were 9 patients identified who differed in TG response to a greater extent than others. Further analyses identified genotypic differences in this group in the following 7 genes: APO A1, IL1a, IL1b, TLR4, TCF7L2, CCK1Rec, and STAT3. The phenotype of this group was; elevated fasting TGs and elevated area under the curve in comparison to the whole cohort. The authors suggested that variable responses to a fixed load of oral fat may be an independent risk factor that is associated with differing genotype.

To summarise, based on the existing literature, the OFTT appears to be a highly repeatable test. However, in women it may be prudent to control for the menstrual cycle (Gill et al., 2005). The 4 studies that have investigated the repeatability of the test used meals with different fat and carbohydrate proportions. One study did not control for caffeine intake. Nevertheless, the oral fat tolerance test was shown to be repeatable. Interestingly one study identified that people with high variability in postprandial TG responses after repeat OFTT may be a population at higher risk (Ryan et al., 2013). Further studies are required to validate this. The statistical assessment of agreement employed across these studies may not be the most appropriate for assessing agreement,

as discussed by Bland and Altman (Bland and Altman, 1999). Of importance to the series of studies proposed in this thesis, there is only one study that has investigated the repeatability of the abbreviated 4-hour OFTT (Weiss et al., 2008). Whilst data presented in this single study showed a good level of reproducibility, it is important that these findings are corroborated at other centres. In addition, despite many studies investigating the effects of prior exercise on postprandial lipaemia, the repeatability of the postprandial TG response to an OFTT preceded by exercise is unknown.

1.4 Prior exercise and postprandial lipaemia

Physical activity encompasses all movements performed as part of daily living. Exercise is a component of physical activity involving a structured planned activity often with the aim to maintain or improve health and fitness. It is well established that increased physical activity lowers risk of CVD (Li and Siegrist, 2012, Berlin and Colditz, 1990), T2D (Colberg et al., 2010) and dyslipidaemia (Sui et al., 2017). In order to assess the specific beneficial effects of physical activity, exercise is often used as the mode of physical activity because it can be measured more easily and to a higher degree of accuracy within a laboratory setting.

The postprandial lipaemic response is lower in those who perform regular exercise compared to those who are sedentary (Tsetsonis et al., 1997, Herd et al., 2000). However, in a cohort of trained adult males and females who adopted sedentary behaviour for 60 hours, there were no differences in TG responses between this group and a lean comparator untrained (but reasonably fit, mean $\dot{V}O_2$ max; male 51 ±5 ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹, female 39 ±4 ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹) group (Herd et al., 2000). A separate study in healthy men showed that the acute effects of exercise on reducing the postprandial response were diminished by 24 hours (Zhang et al., 2004). Therefore the benefits of

exercise in providing protective responses to postprandial lipaemia appear to be transient (Peddie et al., 2012) and only appear to last 24 hours in men (Zhang et al., 2004). Current physical activity recommendations suggest that at least 150 minutes of moderate intensity physical activity is performed 3-5 times per week (Pescatello and American College of Sports Medicine, 2014). Therefore, this may not be optimal for protection against postprandial lipaemia and its associated cardio-metabolic risk in those who do not meet and those at the lower end of the recommended range of physical activity levels.

The consistent effects of exercise in acutely reducing postprandial lipaemia is an area of research that has been comprehensively studied and reviewed in recent years (Freese et al., 2014, Maraki and Sidossis, 2013, Plaisance and Fisher, 2014, Burns et al., 2015, Teeman et al., 2016, Peddie et al., 2012). Studies that have been published since these reviews are described in Table 1.1 and the fasting and postprandial lipid responses are reported in Table 1.2. These studies further substantiate the beneficial effects of prior exercise on postprandial lipaemia. Twelve of the 15 recently published studies report positive effects of prior exercise on reducing postprandial lipaemia. Most of the studies were conducted using young male populations and contained small sample sizes ranging from 6 to 29 participants. Two of the 15 studies investigated the effects of prior exercise ≤ 2 hours before an OFTT (Canale et al., 2014, Littlefield et al., 2017). Consistent with the mixed findings of previous studies investigating the effects of exercise performed within 4 hours of OFTT, reported in the recent review articles (cited above), one study showed a positive effect (Littlefield et al., 2017) and one showed no effect of immediate prior exercise on postprandial lipaemia (Canale et al., 2014). The influence that the timing of exercise before an OFTT has on postprandial TG responses is described in more detail later in this chapter.

The modality of exercise employed in the studies reported in *Table 1.1* was walking or running on a treadmill (9 studies) and cycling exercise on a cycle ergometer (6 studies). The duration of the exercise interventions ranged between 18 minutes (Freese et al., 2015) and 90 minutes (Kaviani et al., 2016). Studies that employed shorter duration acute exercise interventions often exercised participants at a higher intensity compared to studies that employed longer duration exercise interventions, particularly if two exercise intensities were being compared and energy expenditure was matched (Littlefield et al., 2017, Lopes Kruger et al., 2016). The exercise intensities in these studies ranged from walking at 50% VO2peak (Arjunan et al., 2015) to sprint cycling at 200% of peak power (Canale et al., 2014). Energy expenditure during exercise, where reported, ranged from 300 kcal (Lopes Kruger et al., 2016) to 930 kcal (Arjunan et al., 2013). Interestingly, of the two studies that investigated the effects of energy expenditure of approximately 300 kcal, one study showed that both moderate and high intensity exercise were effective in reducing postprandial lipaemia (Lopes Kruger et al., 2016), and the other study showed that moderate exercise did not significantly reduce postprandial lipids (Emerson et al., 2016). The meal composition also varied between trials, mean fat content for each study ranged from 52g (Lopes Kruger et al., 2016) to 100g (Littlefield et al., 2017). Despite a recent expert panel statement recommending 25g of carbohydrate (Kolovou et al., 2011), the carbohydrate content was greater than 60g in all but 2 trials (Littlefield et al., 2017, Chu et al., 2016). The factors that influence postprandial response such as timing, energy expenditure and intensity of exercise before OFTT will be discussed in detail later in this section.

Whilst the importance of reducing lipaemia after high fat ingestion is established, the mechanisms that mediate reductions in postprandial TG after exercise are not clear. Attenuation of postprandial lipaemia is caused by either a decrease in production of hepatic/gut TRLs or an increase in clearance of TRLs, and a combination of the two

(Freese et al., 2014). Exercise induced upregulation of lipoprotein lipase (LPL) activity or production are leading theories for greater removal of systemic TG after exercise (Freese et al., 2014, Seip et al., 1997, Kersten, 2014). However, this has been contested by an in vitro study that proposed TG removal is increased by exercise induced alterations in VLDL1 composition (Ghafouri et al., 2015). VLDL1 modification increases its affinity to LPL without upregulation of LPL (Ghafouri et al., 2015). Interestingly, gender differences in circulating VLDL concentrations between men and pre-menopausal women help to explain why VLDL modification is beneficial. Women produce fewer VLDLs, and each VLDL contains a greater TG content (Magkos et al., 2007). Consequently, these larger VLDL particles are more readily removed from the circulation. This explains the lower levels of lipaemia observed in women and may be a contributing factor to the lower incidence in CVD in women compared with men (Magkos et al., 2007). Therefore, exercise induced alterations in VLDL1 composition observed in men may be a plausible mechanism for reduced postprandial lipaemia (Ghafouri et al., 2015). In support of this mechanism, some studies have demonstrated that moderate intensity (65% VO₂peak for 30 minutes; Miyashita and Tokuyama, 2008) and moderate intensity to high intensity (70% VO₂peak for 90 minutes & 10x 1 minute sprints; Harrison et al., 2012) exercise does not significantly alter LPL production (Harrison et al., 2012, Miyashita and Tokuyama, 2008), however, the contrary has also been reported (Seip et al., 1997, Herd et al., 2001).

The proposed mechanisms of exercise induced reductions in postprandial lipaemia have prompted further studies to identify the optimal timing, modality, energy expenditure and intensity of exercise.

Author	N,	Age	BMI	Mean	Exercise	Timing	EE	Exercise intervention(s)	Postprandial TG
(year)	gender	(years)	(kg.m ⁻²)	OFTT	modality	of	during	(intensity and duration)	
				composition		exercise	exercise		
Littlefield et al. (2017)	7 M	43 ±10	32 ±5	1010 kcal; 100g fat; 17g CHO; 3g protein	Treadmill running	2h before OFTT	500 kcal	Rest vs low intensity (40- 50% $\dot{V}O_2R$; 70-90 min) vs hi (70-80% VO_2R ; 45-60 min) vs Hi EPOC with energy replacement*	Reductions in TG AUC and iAUC with all exercise interventions compared to rest (P<0.05). No differences between exercise interventions
Fuller et al. (2017)	12 M	23 ±2	24 ±1	1000 kcal; 98g fat; 78g CHO; 32g protein	Cycle ergometer	16 to 18h before OFTT	NR	65% VO ₂ peak for 45 min vs rest	16% reduction in TG AUC with exercise compared to rest (p=0.02). TG iAUC not reported
Chu et al. (2016)	10 M	22 ±2	26 ±3	997 kcal; 98g fat; 24g CHO; 8g protein	Cycle ergometer	14.8 ±1.2h before OFTT	NR	5 min warm-up at 30 W; interval exercise 8 s at 60% peak power, 12 s active recovery for 20 min; 5 min cool down at 30W vs rest	23% reduction in TG AUC (p=0.014), 47% reduction in TG iAUC compared to rest (p=0.04)
Lopes Kruger et al. (2016)	11 M	23 ±3	23 ±2	941 kcal; 52g fat; 82g CHO; 35g protein	Treadmill running	Evening before OFTT – time not specified	300 kcal	Rest vs mod intensity exercise (VT1) for 38 ± 5 min vs hi intensity exercise (VT2 -10%) for 33 ± 4 min	Mod & hi exercise lowered TG AUC compared to rest by 21% ($p=$ 0.02) and 29% ($p<$ 0.01), respectively. TG iAUC was 49% lower after hi exercise vs rest ($p=$ 0.01), not reported for mod exercise
Kaviani et al. (2016)	23; 7 F, 16 M	31 ±6	30 ±4	1452 kcal; 86g fat; 106g CHO; 66g protein per 2m ² (body mass and stature not reported)	Treadmill walking	~13 h before OFTT	619 ±180 kcal	50% VO2peak for 90 min (Ex) vs 50% VO2peak for 90 min (Ex) + energy replaced (+10%) with LGI food vs 50% VO2peak for 90 min (Ex) + energy replaced (+10%) with HGI food vs Rest	Ex and Ex + LGI food replacement lowered TG AUC compared to rest (p<0.05). Ex + HGI food replacement was not significantly lower than rest. TG AUC for Ex + HGI was higher than the other two exercise conditions (p ≤ 0.05)

Table 1.1 Recent studies investigating the effects of acute prior exercise and postprandial TG responses

Author (year)	N, gender	Age (years)	BMI (kg.m ⁻²)	Mean OFTT composition	Exercise modality	Timing of exercise	EE during exercise	Exercise intervention(s) (intensity and duration)	Postprandial TG
Emerson et al. (2016)	12 M	25 ±5	28 ±2	1118 kcal; 86 g fat; 86 g CHO; Protein quantity NR	Treadmill walking	12 h before OFTT	30 min, 291 ±71 kcal; 60 min, 583 ±142 kcal	Rest vs 30 min walking at 60% VO ₂ peak vs 60 min walking at 60% VO ₂ peak. Participants given HGI snack (270 kcal) immediately after both exercise conditions	No significant differences in TG AUC or iAUC between groups.
Johnson et al. (2016)	12 M	23 ±3	25 ±3	1543 kcal; 79g fat; 180g CHO; 23g protein. Estimate - poorly reported in paper	Cycle ergometer	12 h before OFTT	623 ±74 kcal	60% VO2peak for 60 min (note: 6 exercised above VT1 and 6 exercised below VT1) vs rest	AUC not reported. No significant differences in iAUC between conditions. Of note, increase in TG was small – mean peak 0.3 (exercise) to 0.5 (control) mmol.1 ⁻¹ above baseline. Only baseline 2h and 4h measured.
Ghafouri et al. (2015)	10 M	36 ±12	30 ±5	1277 kcal; 92g fat; 68g CHO; 25g protein	Treadmill walking	16-18 h before OFTT	793 ±69 kcal	50% $\dot{V}O_2$ peak for 90 min vs rest	TG AUC and iAUC not reported. Time averaged TG was lower than rest ($p = 0.03$).
Freese et al. (2015)	22 F	52 ±11	31 ±7	1021 kcal 73g fat; 59g CHO; 32g protein	Cycling exercise	14-16 h before OFTT	NR	Rest vs 4x 30 s 'all out' cycling sprints at a resistance of 9% fat free mass. 4 min active recovery between each sprint.	TG AUC was reduced by 16% with exercise compared to rest. (p= <0.05). No significant differences in TG iAUC between exercise and rest. Of note, testing controlled for follicular phase, only 3 h postprandial samples measured.

Author (year)	N, gender	Age (years)	BMI (kg.m ⁻²)	Mean OFTT	Exercise modality	Timing of	EE during	Exercise intervention(s) (intensity and duration)	Postprandial TG
Arjunan et al. (2015)	29 M; 15 South Asian (SA) M and 14 European (E) M	SA-M, 24 ±3; E-M, 22 ±1	SA-M, 25 ±3; E-M, 23 ±2	composition 1057 kcal; 67g fat; 85g CHO; 29g protein	Treadmill walking	exercise ~17 h before OFTT	exercise SA-M, 372 ± 86 kcal; E-M, 410 ±82 kcal	Self-selected brisk walking speed, equated to ~50% VO ₂ peak for 60 min vs rest	TG AUC was 8% lower in SA-M and 10% lower in E-M (p<0.05). TG iAUC was not reported. SA-M had higher TG concentrations during the postprandial period but when adjusted for age and body mass these differences were small or did not exist.
Chiu et al. (2014)	9 M	24 ±0.2	NR: estimated at 24 using stature and body mass.	1156 kcal; 84g fat; 77g CHO; 23g protein	Treadmill walking	~15 h before OFTT	520 ±50 kcal	50% VO ₂ peak for 60 min vs 50% for 60 min with EE during exercise replaced with glucose 2 h after exercise vs rest	TG AUC was 26% and 31% lower for exercise and exercise + energy replacement than control, respectively (p <0.05). TG iAUC 39% and 32% lower for exercise and exercise + energy replacement than control, respectively (p <0.05).
Trombold et al. (2014)	6 M	25 ±5	NR: estimated at 24 using stature and body mass.	1214 kcal 78g fat; 104g CHO; 24g protein	Cycle ergometer	12 h before OFTT	~897 ±144 kcal	65% VO2peak for 60 min + 10 x 1 min at 95% VO2peak interspersed with 10 x 1 min active recovery; vs exercise protocol + high CHO energy replacement; vs exercise protocol + low CHO energy replacement; vs rest	TG AUC for exercise and exercise $+$ low CHO energy replacement were lower than rest (p=0.03 and 0.05, respectively). Exercise $+$ high CHO energy replacement was lower than rest (p=0.02), but was higher than exercise $+$ high CHO replacement (p=0.03).
Kim et al. (2014)	9 M	24 ±4	NR: all had body mass <30	1119 kcal; 84g fat; 77g CHO; 15g protein	Treadmill running vs treadmill walking	~14 h before OFTT	Moderate exercise, 623 ±116 kcal; walking 621 ±97 kcal	65% VO ₂ peak for 1 h vs 9 intermittent walking sessions between 9am and 6pm, matched for moderate exercise EE vs rest	Moderate and walking exercise modalities reduced TG AUC compared to rest (p<0.001 and p<0.04). TG iAUC was lower after moderate exercise compared to walking (P=0.02) and rest (p=0.001). TG iAUC after walking was lower than rest (p=0.048)

Author (year)	N, gender	Age (years)	BMI (kg.m ⁻²)	Mean OFTT	Exercise modality	Timing of	EE during	Exercise intervention(s) (intensity and duration)	Postprandial TG
				composition		exercise	exercise		
Canale et al. (2014)	12 M	24 ±1	25 ±1	989 kcal 65g fat; 81g CHO; 20g protein	Cycle ergometer	1 h before OFTT	NR	70% HRR for 60 min vs 5x 60 s at 100% peak WR with 225 s recovery between bouts vs 10 x 15 s at 200% peak WR with 116 s recovery between bouts	No significant differences between TG responses. Of note, measurements taken at baseline, 2h and 4h
Arjunan et al. (2013)	20 M; 10 South Asian (SA) M and 10 European (E) M	SA-M, 22 ±1; E-M, 23 ±2	SA-M, 25 ±3; E- M, 25 ±2	~1100 kcal; 70g fat; 90g CHO; 31g protein	Treadmill running	18 h before OFTT	SA-M, 792 ±149 kcal; E-M, 932 ±113 kcal	70% VO2max for 60 min vs rest	Exercise decreased postprandial TG by 22% and 10% compared to rest in SA-M and E-M, respectively (p=0.001). There was a large interaction effect for lower TG with exercise in SA-M compared to E- M. Of note, there were two OFTT meals given 4 h apart and responses measured for 9 h

Values for age, BMI and EE during exercise are reported as mean \pm SD; Abbreviations: N, number of participants; M, Male participants; F, Female participants; NR, not reported; CHO, carbohydrate; h, hours; min, minutes; \dot{VO}_2R , Oxygen uptake reserve; mod, moderate intensity exercise; hi, high intensity exercise; EPOC, excess post-exercise oxygen consumption; W, Watts; s, seconds; VT1, ventilatory anaerobic threshold; VT2, respiratory compensation point; LGI, low glycemic index food; HGI, high glycaemic index food; HRR, heart rate reserve. *the energy replaced was calculated from the difference between the EPOC of the high intensity exercise and the EPOC of the low intensity exercise.

1.4.1 Timing of exercise to reduce postprandial lipaemia

The most commonly cited mechanisms underlying the improved lipaemic responses after exercise, increased LPL and/or VLDL modification, appear to occur between 4 and 18 hours after an acute exercise session (Plaisance and Fisher, 2014, Maraki and Sidossis, 2013, Freese et al., 2014, Seip et al., 1997, Ghafouri et al., 2015). As such, there are many studies that have investigated the effects of exercise performed during this timeframe before OFTT meal ingestion (Tsetsonis et al., 1997, Ghafouri et al., 2011). Most studies have shown exercise to be effective in reducing postprandial lipaemia, reviewed by Maraki and Sidossis (2013). Additionally, there is evidence for this time period being more effective than <4 hours before (Zhang et al., 2004) and immediately after high fat meal intake (Katsanos and Moffatt, 2004). Interestingly, exercise performed 24 hours before OFTT does not appear to reduce postprandial lipaemia, demonstrating that the acute effects of exercise are short-lived (Zhang et al., 2004).

Fewer studies have investigated the effects of exercise performed <4 hours before high fat meal ingestion or the effects of exercise performed shortly after meal ingestion. The findings from several studies and systematic review articles indicate that acute exercise after high fat meal ingestion shows the smallest effect and sometimes has no effect on reducing postprandial lipaemia (Maraki and Sidossis, 2013, Plaisance and Fisher, 2014, Martins et al., 2007). Exercise reduces gastric blood flow (Rowell et al., 1964) and as such delayed gastric emptying might be a contributing mechanism towards reductions in postprandial lipaemia in postprandial exercise studies. The findings of studies that have investigated the effects of prior exercise performed <4 hours before high fat meal ingestion are inconsistent. Exercise within 4 hours of a high fat meal either lowers (Plaisance et al., 2008, Ferreira et al., 2011, Katsanos and Moffatt, 2004, Katsanos et al., 2004, Littlefield et al., 2017) or has no effect on reducing postprandial TG after high fat meal ingestion (Pfeiffer et al., 2005, Petridou et al., 2004, Cox-York et al., 2013, Clegg et al., 2007, Katsanos et al., 2004, Canale et al., 2014). Therefore, the role of immediate prior exercise requires further investigation in order to understand whether this modality is effective, and if it is, what mechanisms explain this effect.

1.4.2 Energy expenditure

Exercise interventions requiring higher energy expenditure and more specifically, those creating a large calorie deficit appear to be important for reducing postprandial lipids, according to a recent meta-analysis of 76 studies (Freese et al., 2014). A calorie deficit can also be induced by diet restriction, however, the effects of exercise for the same calorie deficit created by diet restriction causes a much greater reductions in postprandial TG (Maraki et al., 2010). This suggests that the effects of acute exercise are more complex than simply creating a calorie deficit. Tsetsonis and Hardman (1996a, 1996b) performed two studies to evaluate the role of energy expenditure, during exercise performed approximately 16 hours before OFTT ingestion (1.3g fat and 1.2g carbohydrate per kg body mass), on postprandial lipaemia in healthy young lean men and women (Tsetsonis and Hardman, 1996b, Tsetsonis and Hardman, 1996a). The first study demonstrated that 90 minutes of exercise at a higher exercise intensity and energy expenditure was more effective in reducing postprandial lipaemia than 90 minutes of exercise at a low exercise intensity with lower energy expenditure (Tsetsonis and Hardman, 1996a). The second study included a rest (control) trial and two exercise trials where the energy expenditure was fixed at approximately 1000 kcal for both exercise trials and 90 minutes of moderate intensity exercise was compared with 180 minutes of low intensity exercise. Tsetsonis and Hardman showed that both exercise trials reduced postprandial lipaemia compared to the rest trial, but there no differences

between the two exercise trials (Tsetsonis and Hardman, 1996b). As such, Tsetsonis and Hardman concluded that energy expenditure was a key factor in reducing postprandial lipaemia. Exercise interventions that have compared a single exercise session on the day prior to OFTT with accumulated exercise bouts matched for energy expenditure have also demonstrated similar benefits, supporting the importance of energy expenditure rather than exercise intensity on reducing postprandial lipaemia (Miyashita et al., 2008, Miyashita, 2008). A recent review of the literature also discussed that these studies were important in supporting the role of energy expenditure on reducing postprandial lipaemia (Plaisance and Fisher, 2014).

Recent literature investigating the role of high intensity interval exercise (HIIE) in reducing postprandial lipaemia has been comprehensively reviewed (Burns et al., 2015). Data from these studies indicate that energy expenditure appears to be less important in reducing postprandial lipaemia (Burns et al., 2015). Some of the limitations in accurately estimating energy expenditure are highlighted later in the present thesis, however, the impact of HIIE on postprandial lipaemia may alter the perception on the importance of energy expenditure in reducing postprandial lipids. From a mechanistic viewpoint, the role of LPL in modulating postprandial lipids could explain the effectiveness of HIIE. There is some evidence in animal models which suggests that increased LPL activity may be specific to type 2 muscle fibres after muscle contraction (Hamilton et al., 1998). These fibres will be heavily utilised during HIIE and they will also be utilised to a greater extent for longer duration moderate intensity exercise compared to shorter duration moderate exercise. As such, it could be hypothesised that the continuous exercise studies with the greatest benefit, those with high energy expenditure and therefore exercise protocols at high intensities or for prolonged duration, are most effective because of type 2 muscle fibre and subsequent LPL activation and high energy expenditure is a surrogate marker of these processes. This

remains an overlooked mechanism. However, it is also known that after HIIE there is an excess post oxygen consumption (EPOC) that may remain elevated for several hours after HIIE (Littlefield et al., 2017). As such, energy expenditures calculated during exercise that do not account for the subsequent EPOC, may not accurately reflect the energy expended from HIIE (Skelly et al., 2014). Further research needs to be performed to delineate the roles of exercise intensity and energy expenditure in reducing postprandial lipaemia.

1.4.3 Low and moderate intensity continuous exercise

Katsanos and colleagues (2004) compared moderate intensity exercise (65% VO₂max) with low intensity exercise (25% $\dot{V}O_2$ max) matched for energy expenditure (1100 kcal). Both exercise protocols were performed 1 hour before high fat meal ingestion. Moderate intensity exercise reduced postprandial lipids by 39%, whereas low intensity exercise did not significantly alter postprandial TG metabolism (Katsanos et al., 2004). Conversely, other studies have reported no differences between moderate (63% $\dot{V}O_2$ max) and low intensity (32% $\dot{V}O_2$ max) exercise matched for a similar energy expenditure when exercise was performed on the evening before OFTT ingestion (Tsetsonis and Hardman, 1996b). Many of the moderate intensity exercise interventions are performed 12 to 18 hours prior to OFTT ingestion at approximately 60 to 65% of VO₂max and lasting between 60 and 120 minutes (Gill et al., 1998, Tsetsonis et al., 1997, Tsetsonis and Hardman, 1996a, Tsetsonis and Hardman, 1996b, Dekker et al., 2010). There is some evidence to support that exercise intensities as low as 25% VO₂max are effective in reducing postprandial lipids (Kim et al., 2014). Exercise at 25% VO₂max, at an energy expenditure matched with 1 hour of exercise at 65% VO₂max, resulted in an approximate 20% reduction in postprandial TG compared to the

control (rest) trial (Kim et al., 2014). However, exercise at a higher intensity, 65% $\dot{V}O_2max$, reduced postprandial TG to a larger extent (approximately 34% lower than the control trial) (Kim et al., 2014). In addition, thirty minutes of walking at a low intensity (approximately 42% $\dot{V}O_2max$) led to a 16% reduction in postprandial TG after OFTT ingestion the following day. This low intensity exercise intervention was effective when exercise was performed in one 30 minute session and over ten 3-minute walking sessions during the day before the OFTT (Miyashita et al., 2008).

In summary, moderate intensity aerobic exercise appears to be the most commonly studied mode of exercise used for interventions and reduce postprandial lipaemia. This mode of exercise appears to consistently reduce postprandial lipids, particularly if it is performed 12 to 18 hours prior to an OFTT. Low intensity exercise may also be beneficial but most likely has a smaller effect on reducing postprandial lipids. Of note, few studies exist in older populations or those with impaired metabolic function.

1.4.4 High intensity interval exercise (HIIE)

Interval exercise involving several bursts of high intensity exercise (lasting 6 to 240 seconds) interspersed with light exercise is also an effective strategy to reduce postprandial lipaemia but few studies have been conducted (for a recent review see; (Burns et al., 2015)). Burns and colleagues (2015) identified that 11 of 15 studies reported significant reductions in postprandial TG for both submaximal (4 of 5 studies) and supramaximal (7 of 10 studies) high intensity interval exercise modes (defined relative to $\dot{V}O_2max$) compared to no exercise (Burns et al., 2015). When compared to moderate intensity continuous exercise, submaximal high intensity interval exercise (ranging from 115% anaerobic threshold for 3 minute intervals until 500 kcal to 85% to 95% HRmax until 900 kcal) has been shown to be similar (Ferreira et al., 2011), or

more effective (Trombold et al., 2013, Freese et al., 2014), at reducing postprandial TG. More recently, Chu and colleagues (2016) investigated the effects of 20 minutes of high intensity interval exercise (HIIE) at an intensity eliciting 60% of maximum power output for 8 seconds, interspersed with 12 seconds of active recovery (Chu et al., 2016). HIIE performed 15 hours before an OFTT resulted in a 23% and 46% reduction in 4hour TG AUC and iAUC, respectively.

As discussed below, comparisons of energy expended during low to moderate and high intensity interval exercise are difficult. This exercise modality is preferred by some due to the shorter amount of time required to complete the session (Little et al., 2010). However, the safety of supramaximal exercise is not fully understood in sedentary populations (Eskelinen et al., 2016a). Therefore this type of exercise should be prescribed with caution. HIIE involves performing bouts of vigorous exercise interspersed with light or recovery exercise (Gillen and Gibala, 2014). Vigorous exercise is defined by an exercise intensity achieving a heart rate of 80% to 95% of maximum heart rate (Gillen and Gibala, 2014). Therefore the high intensity intervals could be performed at a submaximal intensity to lower postprandial lipaemia. This could arguably offer a safer prescription of exercise to populations at increased risk of cardiovascular events. However, there are limited studies that have investigated the influence of submaximal high intensity exercise on reducing postprandial lipaemia (Burns et al., 2015).

Author (year)	Baseline Chol (mmol.l ⁻¹)	Baseline HDL-C (mmol.l ⁻¹)	Baseline LDL-c (mmol.l ⁻¹)	Baseline TG (mmol.l ⁻¹)	TG AUC (mmol.time[h] ⁻¹ .l ⁻¹)	TG iAUC (mmol.time[h] ⁻¹ .l ⁻¹)
Littlefield et al. (2017)	4.4 ±0.9	1.0 ±0.3	2.5 ±0.6	1.8 ±1.0	NR	NR
Fuller et al. (2017)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Chu et al. (2016)	4.5 ±0.7	1.0 ±0.2	3.0 ±0.6	1.6 ±0.4	Rest: 9.2 ±3.4 Ex: 7.2 ±1.9 mmol.4h ⁻¹ .1 ⁻¹	Rest: 2.8 ±1.9 Ex: 1.5 ±1.6 mmol.4h ⁻¹ .1 ⁻¹
Lopes Kruger et al. (2016)	NR	1.1 ±0.2	3.0 ±0.6	NR	NR	NR
Kaviani et al. (2016)	NR	NR	NR	NR	Rest: 18.4 ± 2.6 Ex-LGI: 12.5 ± 1.5 Ex-HGI: 15.9 ± 1.9 Ex: 13.0 ± 1.4 mmol. $6h^{-1}$. l^{-1}	Rest: 5.6 ±1.0 Ex-LGI: 4.6 ±0.7 Ex-HGI: 6.4 ±0.9 Ex: 5.7 ±0.9 mmol.6h ⁻¹ .1 ⁻¹
Emerson et al. (2016)	NR	NR	NR	1.5 ±0.7	Rest: 21.1 ± 9.8 Ex-30: 20.5 ± 11.7 Ex-60: 16.3 ± 9.0 mmol. $8h^{-1}$. l^{-1}	Rest: 8.1 \pm 4.8 Ex-30: 8.3 \pm 5.4 Ex-60: 5.8 \pm 3.4 mmol.8h ⁻¹ .1 ⁻¹
Johnson et al. (2016)	3.7 ±0.6	1.1 ±0.1	2.3 ±0.4	0.6 ±0.03	NR	NR
Ghafouri et al. (2015)	5.4 ±0.3	1.1 ±0.1	3.7 ±0.3	1.6 (1.2 to 2.1)	NR	NR
Freese et al. (2015)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	Rest: 3.9 ±2.3 Ex: 3.2 ±2.2 mmol.3h ⁻¹ .1 ⁻¹

Table 1.2 Lipid responses in recent exercise and postprandial lipaemia studies

Author (year)	Baseline Chol (mmol.l ⁻¹)	Baseline HDL-C (mmol.l ⁻¹)	Baseline LDL-c (mmol.l ⁻¹)	Baseline TG (mmol.l ⁻¹)	TG AUC (mmol.time[h] ⁻¹ .l ⁻¹)	TG iAUC (mmol.time[h] ⁻¹ .l ⁻¹)
Arjunan et al. (2015)	SA-M: 4.0 (3.7 to 4.3) E-M: 3.8 (3.5 4.1)	SA-M: 0.9 (0.8 to 1.0) E-M: 1.2 (1.1 to 1.3)	NR	SA-M: 1.3 (1.0 to 1.6) E-M: 0.9 (0.7 to 1.1)	NR	NR
Chiu et al. (2014)	4.6 ±0.3	1.8 ±0.2	2.4 ±0.21	0.9 ±0.1	NR	NR
Trombold et al. (2014)	NR	NR	NR	NR	Rest: 6.6 ± 2.1 Ex: 3.8 ± 0.4 Ex+LC: 3.7 ± 0.7 Ex+HC: 5.1 ± 1.3 mmol.4h ⁻¹ .1 ⁻¹	NR
Kim et al. (2014)	NR	NR	NR	1.0 ±0.1	Rest: 12.8 ±1.2 Low ex: 10.7 ±1.0 Mod ex: 9.7 ±0.8	NR
Canale et al. (2014)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Arjunan et al. (2013)	SA-M: 3.9 ±0.5 E-M: 3.8 ±0.8	SA-M: 1.0 ±0.2 E-M: 1.3 ±0.3	NR	SA-M: 1.4 ±0.5 E-M: 1.0 ±0.4	SA-M Rest: 26.1 \pm 7.1 Ex: 20.2 \pm 5.2 E-M Rest: 15.2 \pm 3.9 Ex: 13.7 \pm 3.7 mmol.9h ⁻¹ .1 ⁻¹	NR

Values are presented as mean \pm SD or geometric mean (95% CI); Abbreviations: NR, not reported; SA-M, South Asian men; E-M, European men; Ex, exercise; Ex-LGI, exercise with low glycaemic index energy replacement; Ex-HGI, exercise with high glycaemic index energy replacement; Ex+LC, exercise with low carbohydrate content energy replacement; Ex+HC, exercise with high carbohydrate energy replacement; Low ex, low intensity exercise; Mod ex, moderate intensity exercise; Ex-30, 30 minutes of

1.5 Limitations in controlling for exercise intensity and energy expenditure

Difficulties in comparing trained and untrained groups when assessing the influence of acute exercise on postprandial lipaemia lie within the design of the exercise interventions. A frequently used "moderate" exercise intensity in exercise intervention OFTT studies is 60 to 65% VO₂peak for a given period of time (Gill et al., 2002, Gill et al., 1998, Chu et al., 2016, Emerson et al., 2016, Trombold et al., 2013, Johnson et al., 2016). This has substantial limitations when comparing trained and untrained groups; primarily, as is commonly discussed, a trained individual working at the same "relative intensity" (60% VO₂peak) will perform more work and therefore expend more energy in the same time period (duration). This is an issue because it is postulated that energy expenditure is a key determinant of the effect of exercise in reducing postprandial lipaemia (Plaisance and Fisher, 2014). However, secondly, a largely overlooked area within the literature are the exercise intensity domains, particularly in this case the anaerobic threshold. It is widely accepted that a point occurs at approximately 40 to 60% VO₂peak where anaerobic glycolysis becomes a significant contributor to ATP turnover (Beaver et al., 1986), which by definition can only utilise substrates glycogen and glucose during this anaerobic glycolytic process. It is also widely accepted that in endurance trained individuals, this threshold increases to a higher percentage of VO₂peak, up to 80% in elite endurance athletes (Davis et al., 1979, Joyner and Coyle, 2008). Oxygen consumption during constant work exercise at an intensity above the anaerobic threshold takes longer to reach or may never reach a steady state (Poole and Jones, 2012). There is an additional oxygen cost to steady state exercise above the anaerobic threshold compared to below the anaerobic threshold, this is referred to as the 'slow component' (Poole and Jones, 2012). The extra oxygen cost equates to an extra energy cost, highlighting the inefficiencies of metabolic processes beyond the anaerobic threshold (Poole and Jones, 2012). In an untrained group, it is likely that the anaerobic

threshold will occur at a lower percentage of $\dot{V}O_2$ peak compared to an endurance trained group (Joyner and Coyle, 2008, Davis et al., 1979). Therefore, the relative intensity of exercise and the slow component contribution to exercise between an untrained group and trained group are likely different, and even within the trained and untrained groups there are likely to be intra-individual differences.

Studies have investigated the role of energy expenditure in reducing postprandial lipaemia by defining the total energy expenditure of the exercise and varying the duration and intensity of the exercise (Tsetsonis and Hardman, 1996a). Whilst this better addresses the issue of energy expenditure, the relative intensity commonly employed remains to be a percentage of VO₂peak. In these studies energy expenditure is often estimated using standard measurements of oxygen consumption and carbon dioxide production from expired gas analysis. This is an accurate method of estimating energy expenditure, by indirect calorimetry, up to the oxygen consumption at the anaerobic threshold. However, beyond the anaerobic threshold carbon dioxide (a key variable in the estimation of energy expenditure) is produced from non-substrate related processes (buffering of hydrogen ions with bicarbonate and hyperventilation during metabolic acidosis). The calculations used to estimate energy expenditure with expired gas analysis assume that the expired CO₂ measured is a result of aerobic substrate metabolism (Weir, 1949). As such the accuracy of the calculation must decrease considerably when exercise is performed beyond the anaerobic threshold. This issue is highlighted in the postprandial study by Johnson and colleagues (2016); participants were exercised at 60% $\dot{V}O_2$ peak and the authors reported that this led to 6 participants exercised at an intensity above the anaerobic threshold and 6 participants exercised at an intensity below the anaerobic threshold. The authors raised this issue and reported a mean estimated energy expenditure for their participants during the exercise intervention, however, the authors did not explain if or how their estimation of energy expenditure was altered for those exercising above the anaerobic threshold. When designing exercise interventions, exercise intensity could be prescribed relative to the energy intensity domains to improve likelihood that the intensity of the exercise intervention is "relative" across participants. For example, a percentage of the difference between anaerobic threshold and $\dot{V}O_2$ peak could be employed, as has been performed in oxygen uptake kinetics studies (Poole and Jones, 2012). However, the author is not aware of studies that have designed exercise interventions using this method within this field of research.

1.6 Postprandial lipaemia in conditions of obesity and those with a family history of type 2 diabetes

1.6.1 Obesity and cardio-metabolic disease

Obesity is at epidemic levels, it was estimated in 2014 that 13% of adults worldwide were obese, continuing the upward trajectory in the prevalence of obesity (World Health Organisation, 2017). Obesity is strongly related to dyslipidaemia, insulin resistance, T2D, CVD and reduced life expectancy (Bell et al., 2014, Jung and Choi, 2014, Poirier et al., 2006). Dietary habits and physical activity are key aspects of lifestyle modification in obesity. In its simplest form, increases in body mass are caused by a higher energy intake compared to energy expenditure (Swinburn et al., 2009). Energy intake is determined by food consumption over a period of time, energy expenditure is the sum of energy utilised for daily living in addition to the energy expended in physical activity. Therefore, with modification of energy intake, through diet, and/or energy expenditure, with exercise, one can aim to achieve an equilibrium in order to maintain weight.

A prolonged imbalance, where calorie intake supersedes expenditure will lead to gains in body mass and may lead to obesity. High intake of fat as part of this imbalance leads to increases in the size of adipose tissue cells, leading to insulin resistance (Frayn, 2002). There is a strong relationship between increased fat mass and hypertriglyceridaemia, even in those who are not obese (defined by a BMI ≤ 30 kg.m⁻²) (Frayn, 2002). In obese individuals, the capacity to suppress systemic release of fatty acids becomes impaired, in addition, dysregulation of LPL impairs capacity to clear systemic TGs (Frayn, 2002, Panarotto et al., 2002). There are also increases in de novo lipogenesis within enterocytes (Steenson et al., 2017) which contribute to overproduction of Apo B48 and CM secretion in centrally obese men (Wong et al., 2014). Hepatic VLDL production is also increased in the postprandial period in insulin resistant men (Shojaee-Moradie et al., 2013). It is not surprising therefore that dyslipidaemia (characterised by high TG, and small dense LDL particles, and low HDLc) is the most common feature in obesity and insulin resistance (Wong et al., 2014). Or that people with increased fat mass have more pronounced lipaemic responses to high fat meals (Frayn, 2002). Due to the increased risk of postprandial lipaemia within obesity, this group is of interest when identifying interventions to reduce postprandial dysfunction. It would also be sensible to target other populations at risk of insulin resistance such as overweight and inactive cohorts and those who have a family history of type 2 diabetes.

1.6.2 Family history of T2D: a risk factor for cardio-metabolic disease

The risks of developing T2D are increased considerably in people where one or both biological parents have T2D (OT2D) (Hariri et al., 2006). Genetic, behavioural and environmental factors appear to contribute to this risk (Scott et al., 2013). The argument

for behavioural and environmental factors being key to developing T2D in OT2D has been supported by the 26% increased risk observed in partners (spouses) of an individuals with T2D (Leong et al., 2014, Khan et al., 2003). Conversely, OT2D adopted during childhood by parents without T2D have the same increased T2D risk as OT2D living with their biological parents (Hemminki et al., 2010). This observation supports the genetic contribution to T2D development in OT2D (Hemminki et al., 2010). Attributing causal factors for the progression of T2D within this population is therefore challenging. A recent study identified that established risk factors relating to lifestyle, anthropometric measures and genetic risk factors (assessing genes that have polymorphisms associated with T2D risk) only explained a small amount of inherited risk (Scott et al., 2013). Nonetheless, family history remained a strong independent predictor of T2D (Scott et al., 2013). It is therefore important that more is understood with regard to identifying early pathophysiological changes associated with increased cardio-metabolic risk in OT2D.

The apparent increased risk of developing T2D within offspring has prompted several studies to investigate whether metabolic irregularities occur in OT2D. In OT2D, central adiposity, dyslipidaemia, reduced physical fitness and other early indications of metabolic impairment are present prior to development of T2D (Nyholm et al., 2004, Cnop et al., 2007, Madec et al., 2011). These metabolic perturbations are of interest because they are associated with increased risk of CVD and T2D. Therefore, early preventative strategies are potentially important in this population in order to reduce disease progression, healthcare burden and improve quality of life. OT2D may also serve as a useful cohort to further understand mechanisms of T2D progression as they exhibit early metabolic dysregulation but do not have the various confounding comorbidities associated with T2D.

Axelsen and colleagues (1999) compared normoglycaemic 1st degree relatives of people with T2D (n=13) to matched controls (n=13) after a mixed meal ingestion (51g fat and 83g carbohydrate) (Axelsen et al., 1999). Relatives had higher glucose at baseline and at the 1 hour postprandial time-point, postprandial insulin was higher at 3-hour and 4-hour time-points. In contrast, AUC for 6 hour glucose and insulin were not significantly different between the OT2D and control groups after the OFTT. Despite similar fasting TGs, postprandial TGs were 50% higher in relatives compared to controls. Pietraszek and colleagues (2014) also identified a greater postprandial TG response after OFTT in 1st degree relatives compared with a control group after adjusting for age, gender, body fat percentage and BMI (Pietraszek et al., 2014). Johanson and colleagues (2004) investigated the postprandial secretion of lipoproteins derived from the intestine (Apo B-48) and the liver (Apo B-100) after a high fat meal (51g fat, 83g carbohydrate) in OT2D and in healthy controls (Johanson et al., 2004). They observed increases in both Apo B-48 (50%) and Apo B-100 (21%) VLDL1 secretion after a high fat meal in OT2D compared to a matched control population. Apo B-100 secretion rates were inversely related to the degree of insulin resistance in OT2D. This highlights the relationship between insulin resistance and postprandial lipaemia in addition to the increased risk of metabolic disease progression in OT2D. Furthermore, Apo B-100 and Apo B-48 containing lipoproteins are related to atherosclerosis development (Nakajima et al., 2011, Karpe et al., 1994, Proctor et al., 2000), such evidence therefore supports the increased CVD risk in this OT2D cohort. It is important to note that fasting blood lipids as well as lifestyle factors were not different between groups. Accordingly, the postprandial response to a high fat meal detects early changes in TG metabolism which would go unnoticed with current standard clinical assessments.

In healthy individuals, several studies have indicated that the lipaemic response following a high fat meal (80g fat) is reduced if the carbohydrate content in the meal is high (100g carbohydrate) compared to low (20g carbohydrate) (Kriketos et al., 2003, Kriketos et al., 2005, Westphal et al., 2002). Kriketos and colleagues (2005) investigated the effects of two high fat meals with differing carbohydrate content in OT2D (normoglycaemic and normolipidaemic) and healthy controls matched for BMI and age (Kriketos et al., 2005). OT2D were more insulin resistant, determined by a hyperinsulaemic-euglycaemic clamp. Normoglycaemic and normolipidaemic groups had similar postprandial triglyceride responses to the control group after the high fat meal with low carbohydrate content. The two groups differed in response to the high fat meal with a high carbohydrate content; the control group had a markedly lower postprandial TG response when compared to the high fat - low carbohydrate meal. Furthermore, the control group showed lower postprandial TG responses compared to the responses of OT2D to both meals. Interestingly, OT2D had similar TG responses to both high fat meals irrespective of carbohydrate content. In addition, nonesterified fatty acids (NEFA) were suppressed to a larger extent in the high fat – high carbohydrate meal compared to the high fat - low carbohydrate meal. There were higher insulin responses to the high fat – high carbohydrate meals in both groups. Insulin has been shown to be a key regulator of VLDL production (Pirillo et al., 2014). Therefore, these findings indicate that in OT2D, who were more insulin resistant, increases in TG concentrations was not suppressed by the increased insulin concentrations with high carbohydrate, high fat intake. Given the strong association between acute exercise and increased insulin sensitivity, it would be interesting to investigate whether improving insulin sensitivity would improve the postprandial TG response to high fat high carbohydrate meals in OT2D. Such a study would provide further insight to the mechanisms of acute exercise reducing postprandial lipaemia. However, to the author's knowledge this has not been investigated.

Although differences in postprandial TGs have been observed between 1st degree relatives and healthy controls after OFTT ingestion, the evidence for differences in postprandial markers of inflammation is less clear. Pietraszek and colleagues (2011) reported that there were no differences in postprandial inflammatory markers after high fat meal (82g fat, 23g carbohydrate, 4g protein) ingestion between 1st degree relatives and matched controls (Pietraszek et al., 2011). IL-6 was increased in both groups, however, there were no differences between the two groups (Pietraszek et al., 2011). Madec and colleagues (2011) investigated the effects of high fat meal (43g fat, 64g carbohydrate, 24g protein) consumption on inflammatory markers in 1st degree relatives of people with type 2 diabetes (Madec et al., 2011). Contrary to the studies discussed above, the TG and the insulin responses increased similarly in both groups after meal consumption. There were also no differences in real time PCR expression of IL-6, IL-8 or IL-1 β or plasma IL-6 before and after the high fat meal in the 1st degree relatives or the control group. However, markers of endothelial function; vascular adhesion molecules; VCAM-1 and ICAM-1, and nitrotyrosine were elevated after the meal in the 1st degree relatives but not the control group. As such, inflammatory responses to high fat meals do not appear to differ between 1st degree relatives of T2D and apparently healthy controls. However, endothelial dysfunction, a precursor to CVD (Siti et al., 2015), may be more pronounced in 1st degree relatives. Reducing postprandial lipid excursions may therefore be beneficial in OT2D to improve cardio-metabolic health.

1.7 Polyphenol supplementation and the Strawberry (Fragaria x ananassa)

This review of the literature has highlighted the significance of exposure to elevated postprandial lipids, introduced groups at increased risk of cardio-metabolic disease, and the role that exercise may play in reducing postprandial lipaemia. Similar to exercise, nutritional interventions using polyphenol rich foods have been shown to positively modulate postprandial responses after fat ingestion (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010, Edirisinghe et al., 2011). This section will introduce the role of polyphenol intake in attenuating cardio-metabolic risk with a focus on the seminal studies in the area of polyphenol ingestion and postprandial lipid metabolism.

A phenol is a compound with a phenyl ring, containing 6 Carbon atoms with alternating double and single bonds (aromatic carbon) and 5 Hydrogen atoms, which is bound to a hydroxyl (Oxygen-Hydrogen) group. Polyphenols are chemical compounds containing more than one phenol group and >8000 different compounds exist (Pandey and Rizvi, 2009). Polyphenols are particularly abundant in foods such as cocoa, fruits and vegetables and drinks such as tea and red wine. Interest in polyphenols, from a public health perspective, has increased over the past 20 years due to the association between increased intake of these foods and reduced incidence of cardiovascular events (Hertog et al., 1995, Khan et al., 2014, Tangney and Rasmussen, 2013, Sofi et al., 2014). Several theoretical mechanisms exist as to how polyphenols reduce cardiovascular risk such as; reducing inflammation, inhibition of platelet aggregation, reducing postprandial lipaemia, reducing LDL particle oxidation and increased scavenging of free radicals (Basu et al., 2014b).

In vitro, certain groups of polyphenols such as flavonoids have been shown to have a great capacity to scavenge reactive oxygen species, highlighting their antioxidant capacity (Halliwell, 2008). These experiments are often criticised because the volumes of polyphenols used are considerably greater than the bioavailability of polyphenols in humans after consumption of foods high in polyphenols. It is therefore argued that due to the limited bioavailability of polyphenols it would appear unlikely that their antioxidant capacity would sufficiently reduce oxidants within the human body

(Halliwell, 2008). However, oxidation of LDL is a key mechanism of atherosclerosis and consumption of foods high in certain antioxidants lower circulating oxLDL after fatty meal consumption (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010, Aviram et al., 2000). After consuming 100g of fruits such as blueberries, blackberries and strawberries, the total antioxidant capacity of blood plasma is increased by 1000 to 3000 μ mol (Harasym and Oledzki, 2014).

Polyphenolic compounds, particularly anthocyanins, within berries are of particular interest due to the inverse epidemiological relationships between berry consumption and CVD (Cassidy et al., 2013) and developing type 2 diabetes (Wedick et al., 2012). Of the berries, the strawberry has been identified as having the greatest antioxidant capacity (Wang and Lin, 2000, Proteggente et al., 2002), this may be an important property of the strawberry associated with reducing cardio-metabolic disease risk (Basu et al., 2014b). From a nutritional perspective, the strawberry provides; fibre, fructose, essential fatty acids, carotenoids, vitamin C, folate, manganese (Giampieri et al., 2012). Arguably more importantly from a disease prevention perspective, the strawberry may contain around 40 types of non-nutritional polyphenols (Giampieri et al., 2012). These include anthocyanins, elagitannins and quercetin, which are thought to be important for disease prevention. The amount of polyphenols available in each berry are affected by how ripeness at harvest, environmental conditions/exposures during ripening, processing methods and storage (Pandey and Rizvi, 2009).

Short-term supplementation of 50g freeze dried strawberries reduced cardiovascular risk factors, including blood pressure and total cholesterol, in people with T2D (Amani et al., 2014). In healthy individuals, 30 days of strawberry consumption (500g fresh strawberries per day) improved lipid profile, antioxidant capacity and platelet function (Alvarez-Suarez et al., 2014). Basu and colleagues showed reduced LDL-c and lipid

peroxidation after 12 weeks of freeze dried strawberry supplementation (Basu et al., 2014a). Acute studies of strawberry supplementation have also shown promising results, Tulipani and colleagues (2009) investigated the effects of consuming 1kg of one of 6 different varieties of fresh strawberries on plasma oxidative capacity in eight participants (Tulipani et al., 2009). After an overnight fast and refraining from foods and beverages high in polyphenols for 12 hours participants had a blood sample taken, consumed the strawberries within 10 minutes and then had blood samples taken each hour for 3 hours after consumption (Tulipani et al., 2009). Total antioxidant capacity of plasma increased with consumption of strawberries regardless of strawberry variety, however, there were differences in total antioxidant capacity between the different strawberry varieties, with the lowest observed in the nutritionally poorest cultivar. A decrease in serum TGs from baseline by 0.2 mmol.1⁻¹ was also observed 2 hours after strawberry intake. Cao and colleagues (1998) also showed a 10 to 13% increase in antioxidant capacity in serum 4-hour AUC after 240g fresh strawberry consumption in eight healthy elderly female participants (Cao et al., 1998). These studies demonstrate the capacity for different varieties of strawberries to increase circulating antioxidant capacity.

Burton-Freeman and colleagues (2010) investigated the effects of acute and short-term supplementation with a strawberry beverage containing 10g of freeze dried strawberries in twenty four overweight hyperlipidaemic men (n= 10) and women (n= 14) (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010). After 7 days without consuming berries, participants consumed a standardised meal and either the strawberry beverage or the placebo drink and then returned 3 days later to consume the drink which they did not consume on the initial day. The test meal was a mixed meal containing 962 calories and 30.7g fat (14.6g saturated), 135.5g carbohydrate, 36.5g protein. TGs, HDL-c, and oxLDL particles were significantly lower in the postprandial state with the strawberry beverage compared to

the placebo (P=0.005, P=0.003, P=0.0008, respectively). Interestingly, LDL-c was affected by the strawberry beverage only in men, as was postprandial oxLDL.

Since this initial study, this research group have established that acute strawberry intake can lower inflammation (CRP and IL-6) and improve insulin sensitivity after moderate fat, high carbohydrate ingestion (Edirisinghe et al., 2011). Additionally, they have identified that the optimal dose for lowering postprandial oxidised LDL was 20g when they compared postprandial responses to a high fat – high carbohydrate meal with 0g 20g and 40g of freeze dried strawberries (Park et al., 2016). The antioxidant and antiinflammatory properties of strawberries that reduce postprandial cardio-metabolic dysfunction are interesting and the mechanisms involved appear to be different from the exercise induced postprandial benefits after high fat meal ingestion. Acute exercise and acute strawberry ingestion in combination could therefore enhance the amelioration of cardio-metabolic dysfunction that ensues following fat ingestion, over and above the effects that either intervention may elicit alone. However, to the authors' knowledge this has not been investigated.

1.8 Summary and thesis aims

In obesity and insulin resistant states, after fat ingestion, the postprandial period encompasses systemic lipaemia, inflammation, oxidative stress and subsequent increased cardio-metabolic risk (Pirillo et al., 2014). Greater postprandial lipaemic excursions are predictive of CVD (Nordestgaard et al., 2007, Sarwar et al., 2007) and are a common feature of type 2 diabetes (Ginsberg and Illingworth, 2001). This can be assessed by an OFTT. However, the test-retest error of a test must be known prior its use for serial follow up, or to assess efficacy of medical or lifestyle interventions. Few studies that have evaluated the test-retest repeatability of the OFTT, and none have assessed the repeatability of the OFTT recommended by the expert panel. A study to evaluate the repeatability of the OFTT in keeping with recommendations from an expert panel (Kolovou et al., 2011) is therefore required prior to its use in intervention studies.

Exercise performed 12-18 hours before an OFTT has been consistently shown to reduce postprandial lipaemia and subsequent inflammation, oxidative stresses and endothelial dysfunction (Peddie et al., 2012, Teeman et al., 2016). However, the effects of exercise performed within 4 hours of OFTT appear inconsistent (Plaisance et al., 2008, Ferreira et al., 2011, Katsanos and Moffatt, 2004, Katsanos et al., 2004, Pfeiffer et al., 2005, Petridou et al., 2004, Cox-York et al., 2013). To better understand this, the consistency of the effect of exercise <4 hours before could be assessed by repeat testing using the same dose of exercise and the same OFTT meal within the same person. However, no study to the author's knowledge has investigated the consistency of the effect of exercise on OFTTs.

Several plausible mechanisms exist for the exercise induced reductions in postprandial lipaemia. These include; increased LPL activity (Seip et al., 1997, Kersten, 2014), reduced hepatic production of VLDL and modification of VLDL; increasing its affinity to LPL (Ghafouri et al., 2015). One mechanism that appears to have been dismissed, is the role of exercise induced improvements in insulin sensitivity on postprandial fat metabolism (Gill et al., 2002). However, this has only been assessed in pooled data for apparently healthy people who consumed high fat – high carbohydrate OFTT (Gill et al., 2002). A high carbohydrate content (excluding fructose) OFTT provokes a lower postprandial lipaemic response compared to an OFTT with the same amount of fat and a lower carbohydrate content OFTT (Kriketos et al., 2005). This is probably due to increases in circulating insulin concentrations reducing either hepatic VLDL production or increasing LPL activity. Importantly, this effect is not observed in apparently healthy

OT2D, which may be caused by some degree of underlying insulin resistance (Kriketos et al., 2005). Insulin is a key regulator of hepatic VLDL production and LPL, and importantly, LPL activity is suppressed in people with insulin resistance (Panarotto et al., 2002). Furthermore, exercise acutely improves insulin sensitivity (Rabol et al., 2011). It would therefore be interesting to identify whether exercise can acutely improve postprandial responses to OFTT containing high carbohydrate (and subsequent high postprandial insulin) and compare these responses to OFTT with low carbohydrate content (and subsequent low postprandial insulin) in OT2D. Firstly, this would give insight in to reducing postprandial cardio-metabolic dysfunction in OT2D. Secondly, it may give insight in to the role of insulin and insulin resistance in exercise induced reductions in postprandial lipaemia; an area that has been largely dismissed due to a retrospective analysis on pooled study data from one institution (Gill et al., 2002).

Finally, postprandial responses to cardio-metabolic dysfunction after OFTT are reduced with strawberry supplementation (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010, Edirisinghe et al., 2011). The mechanisms involved in reducing postprandial dysfunction in postprandial lipid metabolism appear different to those involved with exercise induced reductions in postprandial dysfunction. It is plausible therefore that acute exercise and acute strawberry ingestion combined could elicit greater benefits in reducing postprandial dysfunction. To the author's knowledge this has not been investigated previously.

In summary, the series of studies presented in this thesis aim to identify a repeatable OFTT meal using recommendations from an expert panel. Evaluate the consistency of the effects of exercise in reducing postprandial lipid excursions. Explore mechanisms related to exercise induced improvements in insulin sensitivity and postprandial fat metabolism with high and low carbohydrate OFTT in a group at increased risk of cardio-metabolic disorders, namely apparently healthy OT2D. Finally this body of work

will investigate the effects of separate and combined exercise and a strawberry nutritional intervention to acutely reduce postprandial cardio-metabolic dysfunction in overweight/obese men.

Study aims:

- 1. Assess the test-retest repeatability of an OFTT containing the macronutrients recommended by an expert panel (Kolovou et al., 2011). (Chapter 3)
- Identify whether the effects of a fixed dose of acute moderate intensity exercise (90% anaerobic threshold) performed immediately before OFTT are consistent and effective in reducing postprandial lipaemia. (Chapter 3)
- 3. Evaluate the effect of acute moderate intensity exercise (90% anaerobic threshold) and OFTT carbohydrate content on postprandial lipaemia responses in OT2D. (Chapter 4)
- 4. Evaluate the individual and combined effects of acute exercise and strawberry ingestion on postprandial lipaemia and oxidative stress after OFTT. (Chapter 5)
Chapter 2: General Methods

This chapter will discuss the general methods that are common to the three experimental studies included in this thesis. Aims, hypotheses and statistical analyses for each individual study are not included in this Chapter.

2.1 Participants & recruitment

Apparently healthy adult males were recruited for these studies. Study 1 included apparently healthy males. Study 2 included apparently healthy adult males whose biological parents (one or both) had been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes (OT2D). Study 3 included apparently healthy males who were inactive (defined by <150 minutes of exercise per week) overweight/obese (defined by a BMI >25 kg.m⁻² and waist circumference >94 cm). Participants were excluded if they had a past medical history of CVD, gastrointestinal disease, liver disease, lipid lowering medication, hypertension, smoking or diabetes. Studies were advertised within the University of Hull by means of posters on notice boards, emails and in a weekly staff newsletter. Studies were also advertised on social media, and for study 2 the study information was presented at a local patient group meeting for people living with type 2 diabetes. All studies were approved by the Department of Sport, Health and Exercise Science Ethics Committee, University of Hull (See Appendices 1, 3 and 4, for ethical approval documents for chapters 3, 4 and 5, respectively). All participants provided their written informed consent prior to study commencement and at least 24 hours after they had received the participation information sheet.

2.2 Study design

All studies included one screening visit and 4 experimental conditions investigating postprandial lipaemic responses (serum TG) after OFTT (detailed below). For all studies, participants attended the research laboratory before 10:00am for the 4 OFTT experimental conditions. Each study visit was separated by at least 72 hours. The order in which the trial conditions were performed was randomised for each participant (Research Randomizer Version 4.0, Urbaniak & Plous 2013). Participants refrained from alcohol, exercise and caffeine 24 hours before each visit and attended the research laboratory having fasted overnight. Meal intake was standardised on the evening prior to each experimental condition by providing participants with a standardised "ready meal", detailed below. All tests were completed within 8 weeks of the screening visit.

2.3 Screening visit

2.3.1 Stature

Stature was measured to the nearest mm with the participants standing upright in the standard anatomical position (Frankfort plane) against a wall-mounted stadiometer (Harpenden Stadiometer, Holtain Limited, Crymych Pembrokeshire). Participants were encouraged to perform a deep inhalation and the measurement was recorded.

2.3.2 Body mass

Throughout study 1, body mass was measured on Seca 635 platform scales (Hamburg, Germany) to the nearest 0.2 kg. Throughout studies 2 and 3, body mass was measured on Seca Balance Scales (Hamburg, Germany) to the nearest 0.1 kg.

2.3.3 Body composition measures

Waist & hip circumferences (Seca 201 ergonomic circumference measuring tape, Hamburg, Germany) were measured in all studies. Measurements were taken in duplicate and the mean was reported, further measures were taken if there was a discrepancy by more than 1 cm between measures. Waist circumference measurements involved a horizontal measurement taken directly above the iliac crest (Pescatello and American College of Sports Medicine, 2014). Hip circumference measurements were taken at the largest portion of the buttocks on a horizontal plane (Pescatello and American College of Sports Medicine, 2014). Body fat percentage (BF900 Maltron Body Composition Analyser, Essex, UK) was measured and recorded using bioimpedence analysis and the manufacturers standard equations that adjust body fat estimates for age, ethnicity, body mass, stature and activity status. Participants were supine with their legs slightly apart and their right wrist approximately 3 inches away from the body. Electrodes were placed in the standard tetrapolar arrangement. On the right side of the participant; one electrode was placed on the wrist and the other on the hand just before the metacarpo-phalangeal joint in the second space between the metacarpals. One electrode was placed on the ankle joint between the lateral and medial malleoli and the other placed on the foot just before the metatarso-phalangeal joint in the second metatarsal space.

2.3.4 Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT)

The screening visit for study 1 (chapter 3) and study 2 (chapter 4) included a 2 hour oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT). Participants attended the laboratory before 10am after an overnight fast. A cannula was inserted in to a vein in the lower arm of the participant and a baseline blood sample was drawn. Seventy five grams of dextrose diluted in

300ml of water was orally ingested by the participant within 5 minutes. Blood samples were drawn at 30 minute intervals for 120 minutes after ingestion. Blood was separated using a centrifuge (see section 2.4.6), aliquoted and stored in a -80°C freezer until glucose (plasma) and insulin (serum) analyses were performed on these samples. Whole body insulin sensitivity was estimated from relevant insulin and glucose measurements during the oral glucose tolerance test using the Matsuda index (Matsuda and DeFronzo, 1999). This method is strongly correlated (r= 0.73) with the hyperinsulinaemic-euglycaemic clamp.

2.3.5 Cardiopulmonary exercise test (CPET)

Immediately before the CPET measurement, the online breath by breath expired gas analyser was calibrated for; ambient pressure using a Fortin Barometer (Darton, London, UK), gas concentration using a 2 point gas calibration, and flow volume using a 3 litre syringe (Hans Rudolph 5530, USA). The ambient pressure detected by the gas analyser was checked against barometer pressure (and recalibrated if >1 mbar error). The 2 point gas calibration was performed by calibrating the gas analyser to ambient air (20.93% Oxygen, 0.03% Carbon Dioxide) and calibration gas (17.23% Oxygen and 5.11% Carbon Dioxide), calibration checks were performed and the calibration was considered successful if ambient Oxygen, and calibration gas Oxygen and Carbon Dioxide measurement error was $\leq 0.05\%$ and ambient Carbon Dioxide measurement error was $\leq 0.02\%$. Flow volume was calibrated using a 3 l syringe at a rate of 1 l.s⁻¹ and checked against flow rates of 0.5 l.s⁻¹, 1 l.s⁻¹ and 3 l.s⁻¹, calibration was considered successful if and expired air at all flow rates had a measurement error of < 0.1 l.

Participants performed an incremental ramp-based CPET to volitional exhaustion on an electronically braked cycle ergometer (eBike ergometer, GE Healthcare, Freiburg,

Germany) according to standard guidelines (Balady et al., 2010). Online breath by breath expired gas analysis (Cortex Metalyzer 3B, Leipzig Germany), and 12 lead ECG (GE CASE system, GE Healthcare, Freiburg, Germany) was recorded throughout the test. Automated plethysmographic Blood pressure measurements (SunTech Tango, SunTech Medical, North Carolina, USA) were recorded every 2 minutes throughout exercise and recovery. The CPET protocol involved 3 minutes of rest while seated on the cycle ergometer, 3 minutes of cycling exercise against no added resistance and 8 to 12 minutes of individualised incremental ramped exercise to exhaustion. The ramp increment was preselected by an experienced technician such that each participant would achieve 8 to 12 minutes of ramped exercise. Ramp increments ranged between participants from 15 and 40 Watts per minute (W.min⁻¹). A cadence between 60 and 90 revolutions per minute (RPM) was self-selected by each participant and maintained throughout the test.

Peak oxygen consumption ($\dot{V}O_2$ peak) was determined by identifying the highest period of oxygen consumption achieved by each participant averaged over 30 seconds (Midgley et al., 2007). The ventilatory anaerobic threshold (AT) was determined using the modified V-slope method (Beaver et al., 1986) and confirmed with the ventilatory equivalents method (Whipp et al., 1986).

2.4 Experimental study visits

2.4.1 Visits 1-4

Participants were asked to consume similar breakfast and lunchtime meals at a similar time on the day prior to each visit. During studies 2 (chapter 4) and 3 (chapter 5), participants performed approximately 1 hour of exercise (during the exercise conditions

only) on the afternoon/evening before the OFTT. An evening meal was provided by the research team and consumed by the participant at home (and unsupervised) on the evening before each laboratory visit. Participants fasted overnight (>10 hours) and attended the laboratory the following morning.

The baseline measures taken on the screening visit (detailed above) were repeated. During study 1 (chapter 3), participants performed steady state exercise, during the exercise conditions only, and consumed a high fat meal immediately afterwards. Blood samples were taken 1, 2, 3 and 4 hours after the high fat meal was consumed. Schematic diagrams of study 1 (chapter 3) and studies 2 and 3 (chapters 4 and 5) are provided below in *Figure 2.1* and *Figure 2.2*, respectively.



Figure 2.1 Study 1 (chapter 3) experimental protocol



Figure 2.2 Study 2 (chapter 4) and Study 3 (chapter 5) experimental protocol

2.4.2 Steady State Exercise

In study 1 and 2, before two of the four study visits, 57 minutes of aerobic exercise was performed on a cycle ergometer (eBike ergometer, GE Healthcare) using individualised

protocols (*Figure 2.3*). Exercise was performed immediately before OFTT in study 1. Exercise was performed 16-18 hours before study 2. Online breath by breath expired gas analysis (Metalyzer 3B, Cortex, Leipzig, Germany) and heart rate (Polar heart rate monitor) was measured throughout rest and exercise. The protocol required participants to cycle at 20 Watts (W) for 6 minutes, then work rate was quickly increased to elicit 90% of oxygen consumption at anaerobic threshold (90%AT) and this was maintained for 45 minutes, a 6 minute "cool down" at 20W was then performed.

The work rate eliciting 90% AT was calculated by identifying the work rate at AT from CPET as described above, subtracting two thirds of the ramp rate from the work rate at AT to account for discrepancy between external work, muscle energetics and expired oxygen measured at the mouth (Whipp et al., 1981), and calculating 90% of this value. The same cadence that was self-selected during CPET was encouraged during steady state exercise. Ninety percent of $\dot{V}O_2$ at the anaerobic threshold was chosen because it is nearing the upper limit of the moderate intensity exercise domain (Poole and Jones, 2012). Expired gasses were sampled throughout the exercise intervention, Oxygen consumption and Carbon Dioxide measurements were used to estimate energy expenditure using the equations proposed by Jeukendrup and Wallis (Jeukendrup and Wallis, 2005).



Figure 2.3 Steady state exercise protocol

2.4.3 High intensity interval exercise (HIIE)

Submaximal high-intensity interval exercise (HIIE) was performed on a cycle ergometer (eBike ergometer, GE Healthcare) using the same individualised protocols for each of the two exercise sessions. Before interval exercise, a warm-up was performed which involved 6 minutes of continuous exercise at 20W immediately followed by 6 minutes of continuous exercise at a work rate selected at 90% of the oxygen consumption at the AT. The low-intensity interval exercise was set at 50% of the work rate at the AT. The high-intensity interval exercise was set at 50% of the difference between work rates at AT and VO₂peak. The interval exercise protocol involved 1 minute of high-intensity exercise followed by 1 minute of low intensity exercise, this was repeated for 40 minutes (Figure 2.4). Work rates were selected by identifying the work rate at AT and VO₂peak from CPET and subtracting two thirds of the ramp rate, using the same methods as the steady state exercise test. Heart rate and work rate was measured throughout the exercise protocol. Expired gasses were not measured because of the difficulties with estimating energy expenditure during exercise above the anaerobic threshold, discussed in more detail in the introduction (chapter 1.5) and in the discussion section of Chapter 5.



Figure 2.4 HIIE exercise protocol

The nutritional composition of the meal consumed on the evening before OFTT influences the postprandial response to OFTT (Robertson et al., 2002). To control for this, participants were provided with a standardised commercial meal (Tesco, UK) to consume on the evening before each OFTT study visit. In study 1 and study 2, participants chose one of three evening meals (Chicken Tikka Masala, Macaroni Cheese or beef lasagne), in study 3, participants chose 1 of 2 evening meals (Chicken Tikka Masala or Macaroni Cheese). The meals had similar nutritional and calorie composition. The same meal was consumed by the participant on the evening before all OFTT experimental trials.

 Table 2.1 Mean ±SD evening meal composition for each study

	Study 1	Study 2	Study 3
Energy (kcal)	738 ± 18	756 ±13	756 ±13
Fat (g)	33 ±2.0	33 ±0	33 ±0
Saturated (g)	12 ±3	15 ±4	15 ±4
Carbohydrate (g)	70 ±9	78 ± 5	78 ± 5
Protein (g)	33 ±2	35 ±1	35 ±1

2.4.5 Oral fat tolerance tests (OFTT)

The OFTT meal composition of all study meals are reported in *Table 2.2.* Study 1 (Chapter 3) and the high fat – low carbohydrate meal of study 2 (Chapter 4) included a non-proprietary high fat meal designed specifically for this investigation and made with dairy products and flavoured with chocolate powder. The high fat – high carbohydrate meal of study 2 included an additional 80g of dextrose powder. Study 3 (Chapter 5) was also made with dairy products but flavoured with either freeze-dried strawberries (intervention) or a commercially available milkshake mix powder (placebo) (Tesco,

UK). The high fat meals were designed for participant palatability and in accordance with Oral Fat Tolerance Test expert statement guidelines which recommended 75g fat, 25g carbohydrates, 10g protein (Kolovou et al. 2011).

	Study 1 & 2 HFLC	Study 2 HFHC	Study 3 intervention	Study 3 placebo
Volume (ml)	375	375	375	375
Energy (Kcal)	823	1115	831	832
Fat (g)	75	75	74	73
Saturated (g)	47	47	46	46
Carbohydrate (g)	22	95	32	33
Fructose (g)	0	0	6	0
Protein (g)	14	14	12	11
Fibre (g)	2	2	3	0.1

Table 2.2 Meal composition of OFTTs across studies.

HFLC, *high fat – low carbohydrate; HFHC, high fat – high carbohydrate.*

2.4.6 Blood sampling

Blood samples were drawn from a 20 gauge peripheral venous cannula (Braun Introcan Safety 20G Closed Catheter, Pennsylvania, USA) inserted by Alasdair O'Doherty in to a vein in the lower arm. The cannula was kept patent between blood draws with a mandrin stylet (Braun Vasofix Stylet, Pennsylvania, USA). Up to 25ml of blood was drawn at each time point. EDTA and fluoride oxalate blood collection tubes were spun immediately at 2383g for 15 minutes at 4°C, SST II blood collection tubes were stored at room temperature to clot for 30 minutes and then spun at 1992g for 10 minutes at 4°C. Plasma from EDTA and fluoride oxalate tubes, and serum from the SST II tubes were aliquoted and stored at -80°C until analysis.

2.5 Biochemistry analyses

The lead researcher received training on the Pentra 400 biochemistry auto-analyser (Horiba, UK) from Horiba. The lead researcher performed the calibration, quality controls and analyses of TGs, cholesterol (total and HDL-c), glucose, Apo A1, Apo B. The lead researcher performed the oxLDL analyses under the supervision of an experienced biochemist. The lead researcher performed the FOX1 assay to assess lipid hydroperoxides under the supervision of a trained biochemist. A university biochemist performed analyses on the strawberry product using the Folin-Ciocalteau assay with assistance of the lead researcher. The insulin analyses was performed by a biochemist at the local National Health Service (NHS) blood bioscience laboratory.

2.5.1 Triglycerides, cholesterol, apolipoprotein and glucose analyses

The ABX Pentra 400 biochemistry autoanalyser (Horiba, Montpellier, France) was used to analyse serum TG (intra assay variation for study 1, 2 and 3 was: 1.3%, 0.9% and 1.2%, respectively), total cholesterol (intra assay variation for study 1, 2 and 3 was: 0.6%, 0.5% and 0.6%, respectively), high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-c) (intra assay variation for study 1, 2 and 3 was: 1.0%, 0.8% and 0.5%, respectively), plasma glucose (intra assay variation for study 1, 2 and 3 was: 1.1%, 1.6% and 0.9%, respectively) and apolipoproteins A1 (intra assay variation for study 1 was: 1.6%), and B (intra assay variation for study 1 was: 2.0%). Calibration and quality controls were performed prior to use in accordance with manufacturer's guidelines and samples were measured in duplicate. The machine was re-calibrated when any analyte control did not fall within the accepted range. Low Density Lipoprotein (LDL-c) was estimated from the Friedewald equation (Friedewald et al., 1972).

2.5.2 Insulin analyses

Insulin was measured in single using an ultrasensitive insulin assay on a Beckman Coulter DXI analyser (Beckman Coulter inc, USA). This testing was performed by the lead biochemist at the local National Health Service (NHS) blood biosciences laboratory. The analyser is used for clinical assessment and research trials across the hospital. The analyser is assessed as part of national external quality assessment scheme (EQAS), total imprecision was <10% for low to medium range control and <12% for high controls which is comparable to other UK centres and considered to be an acceptable level of imprecision for insulin by the NHS trust.

2.5.3 Lipid oxidation analyses

Serum oxLDL was determined by using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) performed by Alasdair O'Doherty under the guidance of a University biochemist, in accordance with the manufacturer's guidelines (Mercodia Inc, Upsala, Sweden), each sample was measured in duplicate. The intra assay variation was 3.3% and inter assay variation was 3.8%. Serum lipid peroxidation was estimated by using the ferrous oxidation in xylenol orange (FOX1) assay in line with established methods (Wolff, 1994). This assay was performed by Alasdair O'Doherty under the guidance of a University biochemist. The FOX1 reagent was made by combining the following: 100 μ M.L⁻¹ Xylenol orange, 250 μ M.L⁻¹ Ammonium ferrous sulphate, 100 mM.L⁻¹ Sorbitol and 25 mM.L⁻¹ of sulphuric acid. The FOX1 reagent was then stored at room temperature (21°C) in the dark. The standards were made from the following dilutions of hydrogen peroxide; 0.00, 0.31, 0.63, 1.25, 2.50 and 5.00 μ M.L⁻¹. The samples were left to thaw on ice in dark conditions. Twenty microlitres of the sample or standard was mixed with 180 μ L of the FOX1 reagent, vortexed, and then pipetted in to the 96 well

plate. The 96 well plate containing the vortexed samples and standards was left to incubate for 30 minutes at room temperature (21°C) in the dark. The absorbance of the samples and standards were read at 560 nm and the concentrations of the samples were determined using the standard curve. The standard curve was plotted using the known micromolar concentrations of the standards, stated above. The intra-assay variation was 2.1%.

2.5.4 Folin-Ciocalteau assay

The Folin-Ciocalteau assay was performed on the freeze dried strawberry product and on the placebo product to provide an estimate of antioxidant capacity. The assay was performed by a University biochemist in keeping with established methods but using epicatechin equivalents in place of gallic acid equivalents (Singleton and Rossi, 1965). The strawberry/placebo product was mixed with 100% dimethyl sulfoxide to make a 50 mgmL⁻¹ sample concentration. Then 15 μ L of this sample, 170 μ L double-distilled water, 12 μ L Folin-Ciocalteau reagent and 30 μ L sodium carbonate solution (concentration 200 gL⁻¹) was added to each well of a 96 well plate. This was incubated in the dark for 1 hour at 21°C and then 73 μ L double-distilled water was added to each well. Absorbance was then measured at 765 nm.

Chapter 3: The repeatability of the abbreviated (4-hour) Oral Fat Tolerance Test and influence of prior acute aerobic exercise

This study was published in the European Journal of Nutrition on 14th October 2016:

O'Doherty AF, Sathyapalan T, Rigby AS, Ingle L, Carroll S (2016) The repeatability of the abbreviated (4-h) Oral Fat Tolerance Test and influence of prior acute aerobic exercise. *Eur J Nutr*. Epublished 14.10.2016

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00394-016-1320-z

3.1 Introduction

The Oral Fat Tolerance Test is used to assess the capacity to adapt postprandial metabolic processes after a predefined oral fat load and evaluate cardio-metabolic health (Alipour et al., 2008a, Ryan et al., 2013, Maraki et al., 2011, Madec et al., 2011, Kolovou et al., 2011). After oral fat consumption (>15g), TG levels rise in the blood, typically peaking at 3-4 hours and returning to baseline 6-8 hours later (Pirillo et al., 2014). These rises are exacerbated in those with cardiovascular and metabolic disorders and are associated with progression of atherosclerosis (Pirillo et al., 2014, Alipour et al., 2008a, Boren et al., 2014). Since humans spend most of the day in the postprandial state, OFTT may reveal cardio-metabolic dysfunction not detected by traditional fasting measures (Pirillo et al., 2014, Krug et al., 2012, Weintraub et al., 1996).

At present, the OFTT is not widely used in a clinical setting to assess cardio-metabolic function. One reason for this could be the time demands of OFTT (Weiss et al., 2008) which typically require postprandial measurements to be taken every 1 or 2 hours for 5-8 hours (Zhang et al., 2004, Plaisance et al., 2008, Pfeiffer et al., 2005, Petridou et al., 2004, Katsanos and Moffatt, 2004, Clegg et al., 2007). However, recently an abbreviated OFTT (lasting 4-hours) has been developed and validated (Weiss et al., 2008, Maraki et al., 2011). This test would reduce the time constraints, improve the

practicality of OFTT (Weiss et al., 2008) and has been recommended by an expert consensus as clinically relevant and the most representative time to measure postprandial TG responses following an OFTT (Kolovou et al., 2011, Mihas et al., 2011). Furthermore, the OFTT meal constitution (fat and carbohydrate content) is inconsistent across research studies that have used an OFTT to induce postprandial lipaemia (see *Table 1.1*). Expert panel guidelines have also recommended OFTT meals to contain approximately; 75g fat, 25g carbohydrate, 10g protein (Kolovou et al., 2011). Understanding the repeatability of an OFTT is central to implementing this test in clinical and research environments. Postprandial TG after an OFTT is reported to have high repeatability in healthy (Gill et al., 2005, Weiss et al., 2008, Ryan et al., 2013) and overweight or obese adult participants (Weiss et al., 2008, Ryan et al., 2013). However, the statistical measures of agreement employed in these studies could be conceived as misleading with respect to attaining clinically meaningful measurement for repeatability, as discussed by Bland & Altman (Bland and Altman, 1999). Therefore, an assessment of the repeatability of the 4-hour OFTT with the meal composition meeting recommended guidelines and agreement assessed using Bland-Altman analyses is required.

Due to the relationship between elevated postprandial TG and increased cardiometabolic risk, interventions to acutely reduce postprandial hyperlipidaemia have been investigated. Acute aerobic exercise performed within 24 hours of OFTT ingestion has often been shown to be an effective intervention in reducing postprandial TG (for reviews see; (Maraki and Sidossis, 2013, Freese et al., 2014, Plaisance and Fisher, 2014)). An under-researched area, where conflicting data exist, relates to exercise performed shortly before an OFTT to lower postprandial stresses (Plaisance et al., 2008, Ferreira et al., 2011, Pfeiffer et al., 2005, Petridou et al., 2004, Cox-York et al., 2013, Katsanos and Moffatt, 2004, Clegg et al., 2007). Exercise performed shortly before an OFTT either lowers (Plaisance et al., 2008, Ferreira et al., 2011, Katsanos and Moffatt, 2004) or has no effect on reducing postprandial lipaemia (Pfeiffer et al., 2005, Petridou et al., 2004, Cox-York et al., 2013, Clegg et al., 2007). To the author's knowledge, the repeatability of postprandial responses to OFTT with prior aerobic exercise (performed at any time point) has not been investigated. Due to the small sample sizes in the above cited studies, if exercise has a highly variable within person effect, this could account for the inconsistencies in the literature. Therefore, understanding the variability of postprandial TG after OFTT with prior exercise is paramount for study design (sample size calculation) and interpretation of these data. An assessment of the repeatability of postprandial TG to an abbreviated OFTT after acute exercise is required to address this issue.

The aim of this study was to investigate the repeatability of postprandial TG after an abbreviated 4-hour OFTT with and without prior aerobic exercise in apparently healthy adult males.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Participants

Apparently healthy adult males volunteered for this study that adhered to the inclusion and exclusion criteria within General Methods (Chapter 2.1). This study was conducted according to the declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Department of Sport, Health and Exercise Science Ethics Committee, University of Hull. Written informed consent was given by all participants prior to commencing in the study.

3.2.2 Study Design

This randomised crossover study investigated the repeatability of acute postprandial lipaemic responses (serum TG concentrations) under two experimental conditions; 1. OFTT rest condition, 2. OFTT undertaken immediately after continuous aerobic exercise. Participants attended the research laboratory before 10:00am on five separate occasions; one screening visit, two visits under the rest condition and two visits under the exercise condition. Each experimental visit was randomised and separated by at least 72 hours. All tests were completed within 8 weeks of the screening visit.

3.2.3 Screening Visit

Baseline stature (Harpenden Stadiometer, Holtain Limited, Crymych Pembrokeshire), body mass (Seca 635 platform scales, Hamburg, Germany), waist and hip circumferences (Seca 201 ergonomic circumference measuring tape, Hamburg, Germany) and estimated body fat percentage (BF900 Maltron Body Composition Analyser, Essex, UK), detailed in the General Methods (Chapter 2.3) were recorded. Participants then underwent a 2-hour oral glucose tolerance test (Chapter 2.3.4) (OGTT) and a cardiopulmonary exercise test (Chapter 2.3.5) (CPET).

3.2.4 Visits 1-4

An evening meal (detailed in Chapter 2.4.4) was provided by the research team and consumed by the participant at home (unsupervised) on the evening before each laboratory visit. Participants fasted overnight (>12 hours) and attended the laboratory the following morning. Baseline measures taken on the screening visit (detailed above) were repeated. Participants performed standardised continuous moderate intensity

aerobic exercise (Chapter 2.4.2), if randomised to the exercise condition, and consumed an OFTT meal (Chapter 2.4.5) immediately afterwards. Blood samples were taken at 1, 2, 3 and 4-hour time points after the OFTT meal was consumed. Serum TG, total cholesterol, HDL-c, apolipoprotein A1, apolipoprotein B, glucose (ABX Pentra, Horiba, France) and insulin (Beckman Coulter DXI, USA) were analysed (Chapter 2.5). LDL-c was estimated using the Friedwald equation (Friedewald et al., 1972). An abbreviated 4hour time period to assess the postprandial response to OFTT was selected following the initial work of Weiss and colleagues (Weiss et al., 2008) which has since been validated by Maraki and colleagues (Maraki et al., 2011).

3.2.5 Outcome Measures

The primary outcome for this study was postprandial TG AUC following the 4-hour OFTT. Secondary outcome measures were AUC for Apolipoprotein B, glucose and Insulin after 4-hour OFTT.

3.2.6 Statistical Analysis

Normal (Gaussian) distribution of data was verified using the Shapiro-Wilk test, tests for skewness and kurtosis of distributions and visual inspection of histogram charts. Non-normally distributed data were transformed and analysed using parametric statistics where possible, and non-parametric analyses was performed when after transformation criteria for normal distribution, stated above, was not met. Data are presented as mean and standard deviation (SD) for parametric data, and non-normally distributed data are presented as median and quartiles 1 and 3 (Q1, Q3). AUC was determined by the trapezoidal method (Matthews et al., 1990). To determine agreement between repeated measures Bland-Altman plots were used (Bland and Altman, 1999), 95% limits of agreement were estimated for parametric analyses. TG data was nonnormally distributed and could not be transformed, as such, both the parametric and non-parametric approaches to the Bland-Altman plot are presented. Bland and Altman state; "if there are one or more extreme discrepancies between the methods a nonparametric approach may be felt preferable" (Bland and Altman, 1999). As such, non-parametric Bland-Altman methods with predefined arbitrary limits of agreement set to assess how many data points fell within these arbitrary limits were used. This provides a simple and more appropriate method for the reader to interpret repeatability in non-normally distributed data. An arbitrary limit of 15% of the median TG AUC was selected because exercise interventions typically reduce postprandial TG by $\geq 15\%$ (Maraki and Sidossis, 2013) therefore setting the upper limit of acceptable repeatability for exercise intervention studies. An arbitrary 10% limit was set in keeping with the findings of Gill and colleagues who reported a 10% variation for within-person postprandial TG responses to OFTT in men (Gill et al., 2005). Spearman's ranked correlations and a novel statistical method proposed by Ryan and colleagues (Ryan et al., 2013), which does not assume normality, were also performed to assess variability of TG response to OFTT. Microsoft Excel (2013) and SPSS (Version 22) (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) were used for all statistical analyses. Whole body insulin sensitivity was estimated from relevant insulin and glucose measurements during the oral glucose tolerance test using the Matsuda index (Matsuda and DeFronzo, 1999).

A sample size of 11 male participants was proposed by Gill and colleagues to detect a 10% change (α =0.05 and 80% power) in TG in intervention studies incorporating OFTT (Gill et al., 2005). This sample size was selected to investigate the within-person variation prior to incorporating it in to future prospective interventional studies targeting a reduction in TG AUC after OFTT that are included within this thesis.

Eleven apparently healthy males, median (Q1, Q3) age 30 (27, 44) years, mean (SD) body mass 78.3 (9.7) kg, and body mass index (BMI) 25.3 (3.1) kg.m⁻² were assessed, participant demographics are reported in Table 3.1. Data for one participant was excluded for the rest condition due to breach of inclusion criteria, the participant stated (at the end of their study visit) that they had consumed alcohol within 24 hours of the test. Accordingly, 10 complete datasets are reported for the rest condition. Intraindividual variation of baseline fasting TG concentration derived from the four fasting measurements (n=10) was 19.1%. All participants completed the continuous moderate intensity aerobic exercise intervention on a cycle ergometer, on two separate days, immediately before OFTT ingestion. Median (Q1, Q3) work rate at 90% AT was 70 (67, 76) W. Median (Q1, Q3) estimated energy expenditure was 250 (221, 252) kcal on the first exercise intervention and 243 (230, 269) kcal on the second exercise intervention. Median respiratory quotient during exercise at 90% AT was 0.90 (0.88, 0.92) and 0.89 (0.87, 0.91) for the first and second exercise intervention, respectively. Median heart rate was 105 (102, 109) and 104 (102, 110) beats.min⁻¹ for the first and second exercise intervention, respectively. Accordingly, the metabolic responses were consistent between the first and second acute exercise interventions.

Baseline participant demographics					
Number of participants	11 male				
Age (years)*	30.0 (27, 44)				
Weight (kg)	78.3 (9.7)				
BMI (kg.m ⁻²)	25.3 (3.1)				
Waist hip circumferences ratio	0.86 (0.06)				
Body fat content (%)*	21.0 (5.0)				
VO2peak (ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹)*	32.5 (32.0, 37.4)				
AT (ml.kg ⁻¹ .min ⁻¹)*	15.7 (14.8, 18.5)				
Matsuda Index	10.1 (4.7)				
HOMA IR	0.97 (0.41)				
Triglyceride (mmol.l ⁻¹)*	1.0 (0.7, 1.3)				
Cholesterol (mmol.l ⁻¹)*	5.4 (4.5, 5.6)				
HDL-C (mmol.l ⁻¹)*	1.4 (1.3, 1.5)				
LDL-C (mmol.l ⁻¹)*	3.4 (2.9, 3.8)				
Аро В:Аро А1	0.73 (0.08)				

Table 3.1 Baseline demographics (mean (SD))

*denotes Median (Q1, Q3),

Blood measures are fasting measures, excluding the Matsuda index

3.3.1 Serum triglyceride response to OFTT

Figure 3.1 Shows the median and Quartiles 1 and 3 for TG responses at each time point during OFTT. Median TG showed incremental increases during the resting and post-exercise OFTT attaining a peak concentration at 3 to 4 hours.



Figure 3.1 Median (Q1, Q3) TG responses to OFTT during each trial. Left Panel: Circles (light grey line) denote the first OFTT and squares (black line) the second OFTT under the rest condition (n=10). Right panel: Circles (light grey line) denote the first OFTT and squares (black line) denote the second OFTT under the exercise condition (n=11).

3.3.1.1 Non-parametric Bland-Altman analysis

Figure 3.2 shows non-parametric Bland-Altman plots for TG AUC for the repeated tests under each trial condition; rest (panel 1A) and exercise condition (panel 2A). To assess repeatability, limits of agreement were predefined at $\pm 10\%$ and $\pm 15\%$ of the median score of all tests. For the rest condition, the limits of agreement for $\pm 10\%$ of the median were -0.57 to 0.57 mmol.4h⁻¹.1⁻¹ and for $\pm 15\%$ of the median were -0.86 to 0.86 mmol.4h⁻¹.1⁻¹. For the exercise condition, the limits of agreement for $\pm 10\%$ of the median were -0.54 to 0.54 mmol.4h⁻¹.1⁻¹ and for $\pm 15\%$ of the median were -0.81 to 0.81 mmol.4h⁻¹.1⁻¹. Five of 10 data points fell within the 10% limits of agreement for the rest condition and two of the 11 data points for the rest condition and two of 11 data points for the rest condition and two of 11 data points for the rest condition and two of 11 data points for the rest condition and two of 11 data points for the rest condition.

3.3.1.2 Parametric Bland-Altman analysis

Parametric Bland Altman plots for the rest and exercise condition are shown in panels 2A and 2B, respectively. The mean bias for the rest condition was 0.46 (95% CI: -0.59 to 1.51) and 95% LOA were -2.42 (95% CI: -3.89 to -0.95) to 3.33 (95% CI: 1.87 to 4.80) mmol.4h⁻¹.1⁻¹. The mean bias for the exercise condition was 0.49 (95% CI: -1.01 to 1.99) and 95% LOA were -3.87 (95% CI: -6.89 to -0.85) to 4.85 (95% CI: 1.83 to 7.87) mmol.4h⁻¹.1⁻¹.



Figure 3.2 Non-parametric Bland Altman plots of postprandial TG AUC after rest condition (panel 1A, n=10) and exercise condition (panel 2A, n=11). Dashed lines denote $\pm 10\%$ and dotted lines denote $\pm 15\%$ of the median TG area under curve. Parametric Bland Altman plots of TG AUC after rest condition (panel 1B, n=10) and exercise condition (panel 2B, n=11). Dotted lines denote 95% limits of agreement (LOA) and black solid lines denote the mean bias for each condition.

3.3.1.3 Spearman's ranked correlations

The Spearman's ranked correlation between AUC of trial 1 and trial 2 of the rest and exercise conditions can be observed in *Table 3.2a* and *3.2b*. Spearman's ranked correlations were ρ = 0.90 and ρ = 0.42 for the rest and exercise conditions, respectively. Five participants had the same rank on each test (rank difference = 0) in the rest trial leading to a high ranked correlation coefficient of 0.90, whereas none of the participants had the same rank for the exercise condition.

	Rest 1	Rest 2	Rank 1	Rank 2	Difference	Difference ²
R09	3.83	4.30	1	2	-1	1
R06	4.72	4.98	2	4	-2	4
R08	4.92	4.37	3	3	0	0
R11	4.95	4.11	4	1	3	9
R05	5.39	6.04	5	6	-1	1
R10	6.16	5.30	6	5	1	1
R03	6.37	7.19	7	7	0	0
R07	7.14	7.60	8	8	0	0
R02	7.73	7.63	9	9	0	0
R01	9.09	13.35	10	10	0	0
				Sum		16
				Sum*6		96
				(Sum*6)/n(n2-1)		0.10
				Rank Correlation (rho)		0.90

Table 3.2a Spearman's ranked correlation for the rest condition

 Table 3.2b
 Spearman's ranked correlation for the exercise condition

	Exercise 1	Exercise 2	Rank 1	Rank 2	Difference	Difference ²
R11	4.05	5.00	1	3	-2	4
R06	4.38	5.51	2	6	-4	16
R05	4.45	6.17	3	7	-4	16
R03	4.67	7.15	4	8	-4	16
R04	4.83	5.32	5	4	1	1
R08	5.12	3.27	6	1	5	25
R09	6.56	4.20	7	2	5	25
R10	6.61	10.88	8	10	-2	4
R02	8.76	5.51	9	5	4	16
R01	9.88	11.52	10	11	-1	1
R07	10.68	10.86	11	9	2	4
				Sum Sum*6 (Sum*6)/n(n2-1) Rank Correlation (rho)		128
						768
						0.58
						0.42

3.3.1.4 A novel assessment of variation

A variation score was calculated to assess repeatability, the variation of this score across the groups can be observed in *Figure 3.3*. The closer the score is to 0, the smaller the

variation of the measure. Nine of the 10 data points scored <1 for the rest condition compared to 5 of 11 data points for the exercise condition.



Figure 3.3 Variation score for individual participants for the rest condition (dark grey, n=10) and the exercise condition (light grey, n=11).

3.3.2 Glucose, Insulin and Apolipoprotein B responses to OFTT

Figure 3.4 shows the 4-hour responses of glucose, insulin and apolipoprotein B to the OFTT. The limits of agreement (LOA) and mean bias for apolipoprotein B, glucose, and insulin are reported in *Table 3.3*. Insulin AUC was not reported for one participant in the rest condition due to haemolysis of a serum sample at the 1 hour time point, insulin AUC data are reported on 9 participants.



Figure 3.4 Mean (SD) glucose responses (top panels), median (Q1, Q3) insulin responses (middle panels) and mean (SD) apolipoprotein B responses (bottom panels) to OFTT during each trial. Left Panels: Circles (light grey line) denote the first OFTT and squares (black line) the second OFTT during the rest condition (glucose and apolipoprotein, n=10; insulin, n=9). Right panels: Circles (light grey line) denote the first OFTT and squares (black line) denote the second OFTT under the exercise condition (n=11).

Substrate	Grand	SD	Mean Bias	Lower	Upper
	Mean			95% LOA	95% LOA
Glucose (mmol.4 h^{-1} . l^{-1})					
OFTT	18.88	1.13	-0.26	-2.40	1.89
OFTT + Exercise	19.10	1.35	-0.07	-2.50	2.36
Insulin (uIU.4h ⁻¹ .ml ⁻¹)*					
OFTT**	33.34	16.47	0.91	0.70	1.18
OFTT + Exercise	31.02	12.10	1.03	0.62	1.73
Apo B $(g.4h^{-1}.l^{-1})$					
OFTT	3.97	0.59	-0.12	-0.85	0.60
OFTT + Exercise	3.86	0.47	-0.07	-0.46	0.33

Table 3.3 Repeatability of glucose, insulin and apolipoprotein 4-hour AUC after OralFat Tolerance Test

SD is Standard Deviation; 95% LOA are the 95% limits of agreement; *Insulin data were log transformed therefore geometric mean and SD are reported and mean bias with 95% LOA are reported as a ratio; **Insulin AUC for OFTT n=9.

The results from the present study demonstrate that 4-hour TG responses to OFTT in men are repeatable, however, when aerobic exercise is performed immediately before OFTT the repeatability is poor. Secondary findings demonstrate that repeatability of glucose was good, with wider limits of agreement for both insulin and apolipoprotein B responses to OFTT (limits of agreement within $\pm 11\%$, -21% to 27% and $\pm 18\%$ of the mean, respectively). Limits of agreement for glucose and apolipoprotein B after OFTT with prior exercise were good (within 13% and 10% of the mean) but insulin showed very poor repeatability (LOA from -41% to +70%).

3.4.1 Repeatability of TG AUC in the resting condition

The within person variation of a previously validated abbreviated 4-hour OFTT was investigated (Weiss et al., 2008, Maraki et al., 2011). The repeatability of TG responses to OFTT with measurements taken for 5 to 8 hours post ingestion have been demonstrated previously, however, absolute measures of limits of agreement have not been reported (Ryan et al., 2013, Gill et al., 2005, Weiss et al., 2008, Brown et al., 1992). The author identified, using non-parametric Bland-Altman analyses, that 90% of the data points fell within ±0.86 mmol.l⁻¹ equating to ±15% of the median. This value could be considered as a clinically meaningful change for intervention studies utilising 4-hour OFTT. Spearman's ranked correlations also highlight the strong relationship between the two rest trials (ρ = 0.90) and weaker relationship between the two exercise trials (ρ = 0.42). The author tried to reduce variation by controlling the composition of the evening meal prior to the OFTT as this has been reported to alter the TG response (Robertson et al., 2002). The author also employed a recently proposed (Ryan et al., 2013) assessment of variability in TG responses to OFTT and identified that 9 of 10 participants had very low variation and one participant having very large variation between the two OFTTs. In keeping with the literature, higher fasting and peak TG responses are prone to greater variation (Ryan et al., 2013). Such variation is not uncommon, Ryan and colleagues (Ryan et al., 2013) reported variation in 18% of their population and associate this variation or "deviation from the norm" (Ryan et al., 2013) with phenotypic and genotypic characteristics. The proposed existence of a variable phenotype supports the statistical methods that were employed in this study to assess repeatability as these 'outliers' cause a non-normal distribution which would overestimate limits of agreement using parametric or log transformed Bland-Altman plots particularly with the small sample size.

3.4.2 Repeatability of TG AUC in the exercise condition

Exercise interventions prior to OFTT have been shown to be effective in reducing postprandial TG responses. However, to the author's knowledge the repeatability of this effect has not been investigated prior to this study. This study demonstrates that exercise performed immediately prior to OFTT ingestion provokes highly variable postprandial TG responses. This variation could explain the inconsistency in the findings of exercise intervention studies where immediate prior exercise has been shown to reduce (Plaisance et al., 2008, Katsanos and Moffatt, 2004, Ferreira et al., 2011) or have no effect (Clegg et al., 2007, Pfeiffer et al., 2005, Cox-York et al., 2013, Petridou et al., 2004) on the postprandial TG response. Caution should therefore be taken with regards to interpretation of studies employing aerobic exercise interventions immediately prior to OFTT. Implications of this finding for clinical practice would be limiting moderate or vigorous physical activity, such as a long walk to the hospital or clinic, immediately prior to OFTT.

3.4.3 Parametric repeatability analysis of TG AUC

Agreement of these data was assessed by using parametric Bland-Altman analyses, which demonstrated poor agreement with both rest and exercise trial conditions (Panel 1B and 2B, *Figure 3.2*). The assumptions of the parametric Bland-Altman approach are that data are normally distributed, that is 95% of data falls within two Standard Deviations. Clearly when data are non-normally distributed, as with this dataset, two standard deviations will not reflect 95% of these data and therefore the limits of agreement calculated from two standard deviations have no relevance to these data. This is particularly apparent in panel 1B of *Figure 3.2*, where the apparent 'outlier' markedly widens and therefore over-exaggerates the limits of agreement. The failure of this dataset to meet the fundamental assumptions of parametric analysis supports the use of the non-parametric methods selected and used to formulate the conclusions.

3.4.4 Carbohydrate content of OFTT meals

The OFTT meal composition for this study had a lower carbohydrate content than some exercise intervention studies (Hurren et al., 2011, Ferreira et al., 2011, Pfeiffer et al., 2005, Petridou et al., 2004, Cox-York et al., 2013) but similar to others (Katsanos and Moffatt, 2004, Plaisance et al., 2008, Clegg et al., 2007). Carbohydrate and protein enable lipid absorption and the quantities that were used in the present study were similar to the OFTT proposed in an expert panel statement that had considered lipid absorption in the design of the meal (Kolovou et al., 2011). Carbohydrate ingestion stimulates increased insulin secretion which suppresses fatty acid oxidation in the liver and upregulates TG removal from plasma in to adipose and muscle tissue (Dimitriadis et al., 2011). Increased insulin as a result of a high fat (80g) – high carbohydrate (100g) meal evoked a lower postprandial TG AUC compared with a high fat (80g) – low

carbohydrate meal (20g) in healthy participants (Kriketos et al., 2003). Acute exercise is associated with improved whole body insulin sensitivity for up to 48 hours (Cartee, 2015). Therefore, the carbohydrate content of OFTT meals is an important consideration for acute exercise intervention studies incorporating OFTT but to the author's knowledge this has not been investigated.

3.4.5 Baseline TG and Apolipoprotein, glucose and insulin AUC responses

The variation in baseline TG across the 4 testing days was consistent with literature on biological variation of TG (Smith et al., 1993). The limits of agreement for blood glucose suggested good repeatability as has been previously reported in OFTT (Gill et al., 2005). The relatively low carbohydrate content of the meal led to small changes in glucose concentrations from baseline to 4-hours. The repeatability of insulin AUC in the present study was poor. These measurements indicated that insulin concentrations were highest at the 1 hour time point during OFTT and returning to baseline concentrations at the 2, 3 and 4-hour time points. The apparent poor agreement in insulin AUC is most likely due to insufficient measurements taken around the peak circulating insulin time point, rather than the variability of the insulin response. Therefore, the hourly blood sampling time points of this study may not be appropriate to assess the postprandial insulin responses to OFTT. Apolipoprotein B showed good limits of agreement for the exercise condition with wider limits of agreement for the rest condition. Total apolipoprotein B responses to OFTT appears to be less susceptible to acute changes compared to TG responses, consistent with previous findings among healthy, obese and hyperlipidaemic participants (Otokozawa et al., 2009). The within person variability of apolipoprotein B to OFTT should be considered meaningful for future studies assessing this measure.

3.4.6 Strength and limitations

The strengths of this study include the robust study design which allowed investigation in to the repeatability of OFTT under two conditions. The intensity of exercise was rigorously controlled, previous OFTT exercise intervention studies have selected exercise intensities as a percentage of VO₂peak which does not necessarily control for exercise intensity domains. Furthermore, controlling food ingestion on the evening before the OFTT visits was attempted by providing participants with a standardized meal and instructing them to consume this meal as their only food intake prior to the OFTT. Limitations include the small sample size enrolled in the study, however, this was selected based on sample size recommendation for interventional studies within this area of research. Additionally, a liquid meal rather than solid meal was investigated and therefore the ecological validity of the test could be challenged. To reduce the confounding effect of exercise other than that prescribed in the protocol, participants were asked not to exercise for 24 hours before OFTT. This was in accordance with the findings of Zhang and colleagues (Zhang et al., 2004) where only exercise conducted 12 hours before OFTT and not 24 hours before OFTT reduced postprandial TG. However, other protocols required participants to refrain from exercise for up to 3 days before OFTT to remove the effect of prior exercise (Gill et al., 2005, Plaisance et al., 2008, Cox-York et al., 2013). Therefore, a confounding effect of exercise performed between 24 and 72 hours before each OFTT cannot be ruled out.

3.4.7 Conclusions

In conclusion, these data indicate that the postprandial TG response to the abbreviated 4-hour OFTT in men is repeatable with relevant and clinically meaningful statistical evaluation of variability. However, acute aerobic exercise performed immediately prior

88

to an OFTT provokes highly variable within person responses. Interpretation of data from studies investigating the effects of immediate prior acute exercise should be undertaken with caution. Future studies should investigate the repeatability of TG responses to OFTT ingestion with exercise interventions performed 8 to 24 hours before meal ingestion.

Chapter 4: Effects of acute exercise on postprandial triglyceride responses to different lipaemic challenges in adult offspring of patients with type 2 diabetes: A randomised feasibility study

This study was accepted as an oral presentation and poster presentation at the Lipidology and cardiovascular risk management conference, Lipids, Metabolism and Vascular Risk Section. The Royal Society of Medicine.

O'Doherty AF, Sathyapalan T, Ingle L, Carroll S. Carbohydrate content and prior acute exercise alter postprandial lipaemic responses to high fat meals in adult male offspring of type 2 diabetics. Lipidology and cardiovascular risk management. Royal Society of Medicine. 2016

4.1 Introduction

The risk of developing type 2 diabetes (T2D) is increased 3.6 fold in adult offspring of patients with T2D (OT2D) (Hariri et al., 2006). Early dysregulation in glucose and/or lipid metabolism has been reported in young apparently healthy OT2D (normoglycaemic, normolipidaemic) (Eriksson et al., 1989, Henninger et al., 2014, Kriketos et al., 2004). Healthy, non-obese OT2D had raised fasting insulin and TG concentrations (Henninger et al., 2014), reduced insulin sensitivity (Kriketos et al., 2004), greater adipocyte dysfunction (Henninger et al., 2014) and lower mitochondrial activity (Petersen et al., 2004) compared to matched controls. Furthermore, OT2D with normal fasting TGs exhibit abnormal postprandial TG responses to high fat (51g) mixed meals compared to healthy matched controls (Axelsen et al., 1999). Both familial inheritance and environmental factors contribute to these risk factors which are associated with T2D and CVD (Murea et al., 2012). Additionally, conventional obesity related predictors of T2D, such as increased waist circumference and waist to hip

2016). Other assessments to understand risk factors and underlying mechanisms of developing T2D and CVD should therefore be considered OT2D.

Measuring postprandial responses to an OFTT identifies impaired lipid handling in healthy OT2D (Axelsen et al., 1999). Mechanistic studies support that muscle insulin resistance plays a key role in increased postprandial TG synthesis after high carbohydrate mixed meals in OT2D and insulin resistant lean men (Rabol et al., 2011, Petersen et al., 2007). The key mechanisms identified in impaired fat metabolism include dysregulation in energy storage at the muscle and increased de novo lipogenesis (DNL) within the liver (Rabol et al., 2011, Petersen et al., 2007). The role of insulin and insulin sensitivity in postprandial TG metabolism can also be assessed with the use of OFTTs by manipulating endogenous insulin production by the incorporation of either a high or low carbohydrate content within the OFTTs. Reduced postprandial TG responses to high fat - high carbohydrate (HFHC) compared to a high fat - low carbohydrate (HFLC) meals have been observed in healthy insulin sensitive controls, but not in OT2D (who were more insulin resistant) (Kriketos et al., 2005). The reduced postprandial TG in the healthy controls after the HFHC OFTT meal appears to be insulin mediated, driven by high carbohydrate. This has been observed elsewhere in healthy groups (Cohen and Berger, 1990, Kriketos et al., 2003) and in insulin sensitive type 1 diabetic participants following a bolus of insulin during the postprandial period (Campbell et al., 2017). The authors proposed that a similar response was not observed in OT2D due to decreased insulin sensitivity (Kriketos et al., 2005). This is important because metabolic dysregulation in OT2D leads to raised postprandial TG which is associated with increased risk of CVD (Pirillo et al., 2014).

Exercise acutely improves whole body insulin sensitivity (Rohling et al., 2016) and reduces postprandial lipaemia (Gill et al., 2002, Maraki and Sidossis, 2013, Plaisance

and Fisher, 2014). This effect is transient, and lasts approximately 24 hours after exercise (Plaisance and Fisher, 2014). Despite an expert panel statement recommending low carbohydrate content (25g) in OFTTs (Kolovou et al., 2011), the carbohydrate content of OFTTs in exercise intervention studies is often in excess of 50g (Gill et al., 2002, Maraki et al., 2010), see *Table 1.1*. Therefore, exercise induced improvements in insulin sensitivity may mediate reductions in postprandial TG after OFTTs. It is important to understand whether this mechanism exists because this could inform preventative guidelines in insulin resistant populations and those at risk of cardiometabolic disease, such as OT2D. However, the relationship between acute, moderate intensity, exercise mediated increases in insulin sensitivity and reduced postprandial TG has been discounted previously (Gill et al., 2002). Conversely, a more recent mechanistic study using MRS identified that in young, sedentary, insulin resistant males, acute exercise increased postprandial muscle glycogen synthesis and reduced hepatic TG synthesis after a high carbohydrate mixed meal (Rabol et al., 2011). As such, further investigation of this mechanism in populations at risk of cardio-metabolic disorders are required to better understand the mechanisms of exercise reducing postprandial TG responses to mixed meals. These data may support the importance of regular exercise as a preventative strategy in OT2D, provide further mechanistic insight in to metabolic dysregulation in OT2D, and provide further support for the role of improved exercise-induced muscle insulin sensitivity in reducing postprandial TG. This study will evaluate and re-emphasise that further consideration of the carbohydrate content of OFTTs designed for interventional studies is required.

To the author's knowledge evaluating acute responses to OFTTs with high and low carbohydrate content preceded by rest and exercise has not been investigated within OT2D. The aim of this feasibility study was to investigate postprandial TG responses to HFHC and HFLC meals in OT2D with and without prior acute exercise.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Participants

Adult males with at least one biological parent with T2D were recruited. Exclusion criteria is consistent with the General methods (Chapter 2.1) with the addition of hyperglycaemia (fasting glucose >7.0 mmol.l⁻¹ or 2-hour oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) >11.1 mmol.l⁻¹). This study was conducted according to the declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Sport, Health and Exercise Science Ethics Committee at the University of Hull. Written informed consent was provided by all participants before study commencement.

4.2.2 Study Design

This feasibility study was a randomised, single blind, crossover study by design. There was one screening visit and four study visits with different experimental conditions. Study visits started before 10am on separate days, >72 hours apart and after an overnight fast (>10 hours). On two study visits participants consumed HFLC meals and on two study visits participants consumed HFHC meals (detailed in Chapter 2.4.5). Each meal (HFLC and HFHC) was preceded by rest on one visit and exercise (detailed below) on the other visit. Participants completed all experimental conditions within 8 weeks of the screening visit.

4.2.3 Study objectives

There were multiple study objectives for this feasibility study, these are listed below. In keeping with the recently proposed extension to the Consolidated Standards Of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) 2010 guideline (Thabane et al., 2016), a description is
provided for how each objective was planned to be addressed with relevant thresholds for successful implementation provided, where appropriate. The study objectives were:

1. To identify whether sufficient OT2D were recruited to this study from the local area within a given timeframe.

Recruitment of all participants within 3 months of beginning the study was deemed to be successful for a future, adequately powered, single centre study. The upper limit for recruitment of all participants was set at 12 months from the beginning of the study. If participants were successfully recruited within 3 to 12 months, an adequately powered study would need to be conducted across multiple centres to achieve timely study completion.

- To identify participant adherence to the study protocol.
 Study dropout rates will be monitored throughout the study. A dropout rate of less than 20% will be deemed favourable.
- To identify whether an acute exercise session influenced postprandial responses to high and low carbohydrate OFTT meal conditions and explore the role of indirect insulin sensitivity measures.

TG AUC and iAUC will be assessed using 95% confidence intervals with an estimate of effect size used to evaluate these objectives. A large effect size (defined below in statistical analyses) will be considered a successful outcome, and where appropriate a sample size calculation for an appropriately powered study will be calculated.

4. To identify whether carbohydrate content influenced postprandial TG responses to OFTT meals in the resting condition in OT2D.

TG AUC and iAUC will be assessed using 95% confidence intervals with an estimate of effect size used to evaluate these objectives. A large effect size (defined below in statistical analyses) will be considered a successful outcome,

and where appropriate a sample size calculation for an appropriately powered study will be calculated.

4.2.4 Study recruitment

Participants were recruited through advertisements at the University of Hull, the Hull Royal Infirmary, the Hull and District Diabetes support group, and on social media. Posters were displayed on notice boards within the University of Hull and within the centre for diabetes at the Hull Royal Infirmary. An advert was placed in the University of Hull online weekly staff bulletin on three separate occasions. Adverts containing the study poster were placed on social media, targeting members of the University and local community. Finally, Alasdair O'Doherty advertised this study at the Hull and District Diabetes support group following an education session that he led on the topic of diet and exercise in people living with type 2 diabetes.

4.2.5 Screening visit

Baseline stature (Harpenden Stadiometer, Holtain Limited, UK), body mass (Seca Balance Scales, Seca, Germany), waist and hip circumferences (Seca 201 ergonomic circumference measuring tape, Germany) were measured. Body fat content (percentage) was estimated using bioimpedance (BF900 Maltron Body Composition Analyser, UK). Participants performed an OGTT, detailed in chapter 2.3.4. Blood pressure (Omron M6, Omron Healthcare LTD, UK) and resting ECG measurements (GE CASE system, GE Healthcare, Germany) were recorded. Finally, participants performed a symptom-limited maximal CPET, detailed in chapter 2.3.5.

4.2.6 Study visits 1-4

Participants did not exercise 24 hours before the OFTT in the rest conditions and performed 1-hour of prescribed exercise (detailed in Chapter 2) on the afternoon before OFTT in the exercise conditions. On the evening before each OFTT, participants were provided with a standardised meal to consume as their only evening nutritional intake and were instructed to consume the meal at a similar time on every evening prior to the OFTT study visit. The following morning, participants arrived at the laboratory and were provided with an OFTT (described in Chapter 2.4.5) to consume within 5 minutes, participants were blinded from the OFTT that they received. Blood was drawn at baseline and hourly for 4 hours after OFTT.

4.2.7 Outcome measures

The primary objective was to determine feasibility of the methods, specifically recruitment and adherence. Other outcomes included 4-hour TG area under the curve (AUC), TG incremental AUC (iAUC), insulin AUC and glucose AUC.

4.2.8 Statistical analyses

Normal distribution of data was assessed by visual inspection of histogram charts and verified using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Normally and non-normally distributed data are presented as mean (standard deviation [SD]), and median (quartiles 1 and 3 [Q1, Q3]), respectively. AUC and iAUC was determined by the trapezoidal method (Matthews et al., 1990). Repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to assess differences between study conditions. Mean differences with 95% confidence intervals are reported between trial conditions. Partial eta squared (ηp^2) was used to determine

the effect size with small, medium and large effects set at 0.01, 0.06 and 0.14, respectively (Cohen, 1988). The sample size estimate (below) was performed in a healthy non-OT2D population and used only as a guide. Due to the paucity of relevant available data in OT2D for this study it was deemed that this study could not be adequately powered for hypothesis testing and it was therefore considered a feasibility study. In corroboration with guidelines on feasibility studies by Thabane and colleagues (2016), formal hypothesis testing was not performed and therefore p values are not included in the analyses of these data. Microsoft Excel (2013) and SPSS (Version 22) (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) were used for all statistical analyses.

The complexity of the 2x2 repeated measures ANOVA with two within-factors makes sample size estimation for this design challenging (Potvin and Schutz, 2000). Furthermore, the effects of exercise on postprandial responses to OFTT have not been reported in OT2D. Therefore, the sample size was estimated in a healthy non-OT2D group, required to detect differences between the main effects for the carbohydrate conditions and the exercise conditions using a one-way repeated measures ANOVA design with two measures for each condition. Based on previous data in a healthy non-OT2D group (Weiss et al., 2008) it was estimated that the repeatability of the primary outcome TG AUC would be high (ICC=0.83). However, there are no available data to estimate the repeatability of an OT2D group. As such, a more conservative estimate of rho= 0.7, an effect size of 0.8, an alpha value of 0.05 and 80% power, was used to estimate that a sample size of 8 participants would be required to determine an effect in a healthy population. Therefore a sample size of 8 was used for this feasibility study in OT2D.

Eight (median age, 40 [33, 48] years; BMI, 28.3 \pm 4.6 kg.m⁻²) of nine adult male OT2D completed all study visits. One participant was excluded because of high blood glucose during OGTT (>11.1 mmol.l⁻¹ 2 hours after glucose ingestion). The recruitment process is shown in *Figure 4.1*. Participant demographics of the 8 participants that completed the study are reported in *Table 4.1*. Four participants had a father with T2D, three participants had a mother with T2D and one participant both parents with T2D. Study recruitment and completion was achieved 11 months after start date (March 2015) of the study, meeting the feasibility criteria for a future adequately powered study to be achieved in a multi-centre trial. There were no adverse events during or after exercise or following OFTT. The OFTT was well tolerated by all participants. All participants completed the two prescribed exercise sessions (mean work rate: 69 ±17 W, energy expenditure for sessions 1 and 2: 276 ±63 and 274 ±53 kcal, heart rate for sessions 1 and 2: 113 ±20 bpm, 112 ±20 bpm).



Figure 4.1 Flow diagram of study recruitment based on the template recommended in the CONSORT statement extension to randomised pilot and feasibility trials (Eldridge et al., 2016).

40 (33, 48)
86.1 (9.1)
28.3 (4.6)
1.00 (0.09)
0.95 (0.04)
5.4 (0.7)
1.2 (0.5)
1.3 (0.4)
3.6 (0.8)
5.5 (0.7)
8.7 (6.6)
2.1 (1.4)
6.7 (4.4)
28.6 (7.4)
14.6 (3.3)

Table 4.1 Participant demographics (mean (SD))

*denotes median (quartile 1, quartile 3)

**denotes blood samples taken in the fasted state

4.3.1 Serum Triglyceride Responses

Mean (SEM) TG responses at each time point for each condition are presented in Figure

4.2. TG increased from baseline in all conditions and peaked at 3-4 hours.

4.3.1.1 Total AUC

Two way repeated measures ANOVA

Rest vs Exercise

There was a small effect for lower TG AUC after the exercise conditions compared to

the rest conditions (mean difference= -0.27 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, CI= -1.34 to 0.81 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻

¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.05$).

HFLC vs HFHC

There was a large effect for lower TG AUC after the HFHC conditions compared to the HFLC conditions (mean difference= -0.55 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, CI= -1.72 to 0.62 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.15$).

Interaction

There was a large interaction effect for carbohydrate and exercise ($\eta p^2 = 0.24$).

Mean Differences (pairwise comparisons)

HFLC OFTT

Exercise had a trivial effect for increased TG AUC after the HFLC OFTT compared to rest; there were no differences between the grand means for TG AUC between rest and exercise (mean difference= $0.17 \text{ mmol.4h}^{-1}$.l⁻¹, CI= -1.03 to 1.37 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.02$).

HFHC OFTT

Exercise had a large effect for reducing TG AUC after the HFHC OFTT compared to rest; the confidence intervals are unequally distributed around zero and there was a large effect size in favour of a lower TG AUC for the exercise condition (mean difference= $-0.71 \text{ mmol.}4h^{-1}.l^{-1}$, CI= -2.06 to $0.64 \text{ mmol.}4h^{-1}.l^{-1}$, $\eta p^2 = 0.18$).

Rest

HFHC OFTT had a trivial effect for reducing TG AUC after rest compared to HFLC OFTT; there were no differences between the grand means for TG AUC between HFLC and HFHC OFTTs (mean difference= $0.11 \text{ mmol.4h}^{-1}$.l⁻¹, CI= -0.97 to 1.19 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.01$).

Exercise

HFHC OFTT had a large effect for reducing TAG AUC after exercise compared to HFLC OFTT; the confidence intervals are unevenly distributed around zero and there was an large effect size in favour of lower TG AUC for the HFHC OFTT (mean difference= $-0.99 \text{ mmol.}4h^{-1}.1^{-1}$, CI= -2.57 to 0.60 mmol. $4h^{-1}.1^{-1}$, $\eta p^2 = 0.24$).



Figure 4.2 Mean (standard error of the mean [SEM]) TG (panels A, B), glucose (panels C, D) and insulin (panels E, F) responses for; HFLC rest and exercise (EX) conditions (panels A, C & E), HFHC rest and exercise (EX) conditions (panels B, D & F).

4.3.1.2 Incremental AUC

Two way repeated measures ANOVA

Rest vs Exercise There was a large effect for lower TG iAUC in the exercise conditions compared to the rest conditions (mean difference= -0.30 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, CI= -0.76 to 0.17 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.25$).

HFLC vs HFHC

There was a large effect for lower TG iAUC after the HFHC conditions compared to the

HFLC conditions (mean difference= -0.41 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, CI= -1.16 to 0.34 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻

¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.19$).

Interaction

There was a large interaction effect for carbohydrate and exercise ($\eta p^2 = 0.32$).

Mean differences (pairwise comparisons)

HFLC OFTT

Exercise had no effect for increased TG iAUC after the HFLC OFTT compared to rest; there were no differences between the grand means for TG AUC between rest and exercise (mean difference= $0.01 \text{ mmol.4h}^{-1}.1^{-1}$, CI= -0.65 to $0.62 \text{ mmol.4h}^{-1}.1^{-1}$, $\eta p^2 < 0.001$).

HFHC OFTT

Exercise had a large effect for reducing TG iAUC after the HFHC OFTT compared to rest; the confidence intervals do not cross zero and there was a large effect size in favour of a lower TG iAUC for the exercise condition (mean difference= -0.58 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, CI= -1.15 to -0.21 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.46$).

Rest

HFHC OFTT had a small effect for reducing TG iAUC after rest compared to HFLC OFTT; there were no differences between the grand means for TG iAUC between the HFLC and HFHC OFTTs (mean difference= -0.13 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, CI= -0.70 to 0.44 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.04$).

Exercise

HFHC OFTT had a large effect for reducing TAG iAUC after exercise compared to HFLC OFTT; the confidence intervals are unevenly distributed around zero and there was an large effect size in favour of lower TG iAUC for the HFHC OFTT (mean difference= $-0.70 \text{ mmol.}4h^{-1}.l^{-1}$, CI= -1.74 to 0.35 mmol. $4h^{-1}.l^{-1}$, $\eta p^2 = 0.26$).



Figure 4.3 Mean (SD) TG AUC (left) and iAUC (right) for each study condition

4.3.1.3 Baseline TG

There were no differences in TG at baseline between the rest and exercise conditions (mean difference= 0.01 mmol.1⁻¹, CI= -0.16 to 0.19 mmol.1⁻¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.004$). There was a small effect for lower TG at baseline for the HFHC conditions compared to the HFLC conditions (mean difference= -0.04 mmol.1⁻¹, CI= -0.22 to 0.14 mmol.1⁻¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.04$). 104

There was a moderate interaction effect between carbohydrate content and exercise $(\eta p^2 = 0.07)$.

	HFLC	HFLC-EX	HFHC	HFHC-EX
TG AUC (mmol·4h ⁻¹ ·l ⁻¹)	6.9 (2.8)	7.0 (4.0)	6.8 (2.8)	6.1 (2.8)
TG iAUC (mmol·4h ^{-1.} l ⁻¹)	2.3 (1.0)	2.3 (1.4)	2.2 (1.1)	1.6 (1.1)
TG baseline (mmol·l ⁻¹)	1.1 (0.5)	1.2 (0.7)	1.1 (0.5)	1.1 (0.5)
Glucose AUC (mmol [.] 4h ^{-1.} l ⁻¹)	21.5 (3.2)	20.0 (2.4)	22.7 (5.7)	21.8 (5.3)
Insulin AUC (uIU.4h ⁻¹ .ml ⁻¹)	75.5 (51.1)	57.0 (34.8)	190.2 (107.5)	149.8 (110.7)
Cholesterol AUC (mmol [.] 4h ^{-1.} l ⁻¹)	21.2 (2.6)	21.5 (3.2)	21.4 (3.9)	21.3 (2.6)
HDL-c AUC (mmol [·] 4h ⁻¹ l ⁻¹)	5.0 (1.6)	4.8 (1.6)	4.9 (1.4)	4.9 (1.5)

Table 4.2 Mean (SD) postprandial responses to OFTT

4.3.2 Post-hoc sample size calculation for TG AUC and TG iAUC

Using the interaction data (mean difference and SD) for the reduction in TG AUC and TG iAUC with the HFHC OFTT and exercise, for 80% power and an alpha level of 0.05, a sample size of 28 participants would be required to detect a difference between TG AUC and 20 participants would be required to detect a difference between TG iAUC.

4.3.3 Glucose AUC

Rest vs exercise

There was a large effect for lower blood glucose AUC after the exercise conditions compared to the rest conditions (mean difference= -1.20 mmol.4h⁻¹.1⁻¹, CI= -2.70 to 0.30 mmol.4h⁻¹.1⁻¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.34$).

HFLC vs HFHC

There was a large effect for higher blood glucose after the HFHC conditions compared to the HFLC conditions (mean difference= $1.45 \text{ mmol.4h}^{-1}.1^{-1}$, CI= -1.32 to $4.22 \text{ mmol.4h}^{-1}.1^{-1}$, $\eta p^2 = 0.18$).

Interaction

There was a moderate interaction effect between carbohydrate and exercise conditions

 $(\eta p^2 = 0.08).$

4.3.4 Insulin AUC

Rest vs exercise

There was a large effect for lower insulin AUC after the exercise conditions compared to the rest conditions (mean difference= -29.4 uIU.4hour⁻¹.ml⁻¹, CI= -64.5 to 5.7 uIU.4hour⁻¹.ml⁻¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.36$).

HFLC vs HFHC

Insulin AUC was higher in the HFHC compared to the HFLC conditions (mean difference= 103.8 uIU.4hour⁻¹.ml⁻¹, CI= 37.2 to 170.2 uIU.4hour⁻¹.ml⁻¹, ηp^2 =0.66).

Interaction

There was a moderate interaction effect between carbohydrate content and exercise conditions ($\eta p^2=0.06$).

4.3.5 Total cholesterol AUC

Rest vs exercise

There were no differences between total cholesterol AUC for rest and exercise conditions (mean difference= $-0.63 \text{ mmol.4h}^{-1}$.l⁻¹, CI= -1.01 to 0.89 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.003$).

HFLC vs HFHC

There were no differences between cholesterol AUC for HFLC and HFHC conditions

(mean difference= -0.01 mmol.4h⁻¹.1⁻¹, CI= -0.91 to 0.90 mmol.4h⁻¹.1⁻¹, $\eta p^2 < 0.001$).

Interaction

There was no interaction effect between carbohydrate and exercise conditions ($\eta p^2 = 0.02$).

4.3.6 HDL-c AUC

Rest vs exercise

There was a large effect for lower HDL-c AUC after the exercise conditions compared to the rest conditions (mean difference= -0.13 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, CI= -0.35 to 0.09 mmol.4h⁻¹.l⁻¹, $\eta p^2 = 0.22$).

HFLC vs HFHC

There were no differences in HDL-c AUC between the HFLC and HFHC conditions (mean difference= $-0.03 \text{ mmol.}4h^{-1}.l^{-1}$, CI= -0.22 to 0.15 mmol. $4h^{-1}.l^{-1}$, $\eta p^2 = 0.03$).

Interaction

There was a large effect for an interaction effect between carbohydrate and exercise conditions for HDL-c AUC ($\eta p^2=0.15$).

4.4 Discussion

This feasibility study investigated postprandial TG responses of adult male OT2D to HFLC and HFHC OFTTs, with both meals preceded by rest and exercise. Recruitment rate was slow but fell within the a priori limits to determine that it is feasible for a future adequately powered multi-centre study to be conducted. Adherence following recruitment was good, and the OFTTs and exercise interventions were well tolerated by the participants. TG AUC and TG iAUC showed large interaction effects for lower TG AUC when exercise was combined with the HFHC OFTT. Although these findings should be interpreted with caution, it is interesting that the lowest TG response was observed in the HFHC condition combined with exercise. In agreement with mechanistic findings from Rabøl and colleagues (2011), these findings may suggest that acute improvement in muscle insulin sensitivity is a key mechanism involved in reducing postprandial TG after mixed meal fat ingestion. However, a larger, adequately powered study is required to confirm these findings.

4.4.1 Are exercise induced increases in insulin sensitivity and reduced postprandial TG related?

The effectiveness of the intervention was evaluated in order to calculate the sample size required for an adequately powered study. Our feasibility data indicate that 1-hour of acute moderate intensity exercise (90% AT) prior to the HFHC conditions showed large effect sizes for lower TG responses (AUC and iAUC) compared to the rest condition. In contrast, the HFLC condition did not reduce postprandial TG compared to the rest condition. The apparent tendency for lower TG concentrations after acute exercise within HFHC conditions could be related to acute changes in insulin sensitivity and therefore requires further evaluation. The more frequently cited mechanisms of reduced TG response after exercise include, upregulation of LPL and VLDL1 modification for increased postprandial TG removal (Ghafouri et al., 2015, Kersten, 2014). However, exercise induced upregulation of LPL was not observed despite reductions in postprandial TG compared to the non-exercise OFTT (Harrison et al., 2012) and VLDL1 modification explains up to 50% of the reduction in postprandial TG (Al-Shayji et al., 2012). Therefore, there are likely to be other underlying mechanisms that reduce

postprandial TG. Whilst these data must be interpreted with caution, data from this feasibility study may indicate that improved insulin sensitivity may contribute to the reduction in postprandial TG, this is supported by a mechanistic study (Rabol et al., 2011), described below.

It has been cited that exercise-induced improvements in insulin sensitivity do not influence reductions in postprandial TG (Gill et al., 2002, Maraki and Sidossis, 2013). Gill and colleagues (2002) evaluated postprandial TG responses to a HFHC OFTT with and without prior exercise in healthy groups. They reported that because the observed reductions in postprandial TG and insulin concentrations after exercise compared to rest were not correlated, acute improvements in insulin sensitivity and TG reduction are not related (Gill et al., 2002). However, there are several limitations with this study that should be considered:

1. Correlations do not demonstrate cause and effect.

2. This study employed only HFHC (approximately 1.2 g/kg body mass of fat and 1.2 g/kg body mass of carbohydrate) OFTTs and therefore have only assessed postprandial TG responses under hyperinsulinaemic conditions in apparently healthy participants. OFTTs containing high carbohydrate reduces postprandial TG in healthy individuals (without exercise intervention) compared to HFLC OFTTs (Kriketos et al., 2005, Kriketos et al., 2003) in a dose related pattern (Cohen and Berger, 1990). High carbohydrate may therefore confound the capacity to assess the effects of exercise-induced reductions in postprandial TG concentrations in healthy individuals.

3. There is likely a ceiling effect for improvements in insulin sensitivity (Magkos et al., 2008a); only assessing responses of insulin sensitive participants may not allow this relationship to be evaluated.

4. Hepatic production of TG, TG clearance and insulin sensitivity were not directly measured which limits the strength of the conclusions.

An arguably more robust method to assess mechanisms underlying postprandial responses involves complex metabolic studies using stable isotopes and MRS, such as those conducted by Petersen and colleagues (2007) and Rabøl and colleagues (2011). Using ¹³C and ¹H MRS and deuterium (2H₂O) ingestion and measurements to evaluate the effects of prior (8 hours before 2nd meal was consumed) acute exercise (3x 15 minutes at 75-85% calculated maximum heart rate) on postprandial muscle and liver glycogen and TG metabolism, Rabøl and colleagues (2011) showed a 3 fold increase in muscle glycogen synthesis, a 40% decrease in hepatic TG production and a 27% reduction in de novo lipogenesis. These data indicate the relatedness of insulin sensitivity and carbohydrate and lipid metabolism and highlight the importance of insulin sensitivity in postprandial TG metabolism.

The assessment of TG responses to low and high circulating insulin concentrations in the present study provides an alternative assessment of the role of insulin responses and inferred changes in insulin sensitivity with exercise. The large effect sizes for lower glucose AUC and insulin AUC after the exercise conditions are in keeping with previous studies that have evaluated postprandial glucose and insulin concentrations after OFTT. These findings are considered to demonstrate improved insulin sensitivity with exercise interventions (Gill et al., 2002). However, the capacity to evaluate direct mechanisms is limited compared to Rabøl and colleagues (2011).

4.4.2 Does OFTT carbohydrate content influence postprandial TG in OT2D?

Another objective of the full adequately powered study would be to determine whether high carbohydrate content reduced postprandial TG in OT2D. In agreement with the findings of Kriketos and colleagues (Kriketos et al., 2005), the pairwise comparisons revealed trivial mean differences between postprandial TG in the HFHC and HFLC rest conditions. This may be explained by inability of insulin to suppress hepatic production of VLDL as proposed by Kriketos and colleagues (Kriketos et al., 2005), consistent with work by Johanson and colleagues (Johanson et al., 2004). Unlike Kriketos and colleagues (Kriketos et al., 2005), the present study did not include a 'healthy' control group to support this finding being a deviation from normal responses. As discussed, in apparently healthy people (excluding OT2D), the postprandial TG response to high fat intake is reduced when carbohydrate content is increased (Kriketos et al., 2003, Kriketos et al., 2005, Cohen and Berger, 1990). The mechanisms contributing to this are thought to be; reduced hepatic VLDL production mediated by hyperinsulinaemia, and delayed gastric emptying due to raised carbohydrate and elevated circulating insulin (Cohen and Berger, 1990). In the present study, there was not a reduced TG AUC after HFHC compared to HFLC in the rest conditions. If hepatic production of VLDL was reduced it was not sufficient to reduce total TG responses. Another explanation is that DNL increases in OT2D as a result of increased carbohydrate delivery to the liver (Petersen et al., 2007). This may offset the influence of insulin on circulating TG, however, a further mechanistic study would be required to determine this. The TG responses after HFHC and HFLC meals in the rest conditions are different to TG responses observed in studies that demonstrated delayed gastric emptying with HFHC (Cohen and Berger, 1990). It is therefore unlikely that delayed gastric emptying influenced the postprandial responses.

4.4.3 Strengths and Limitations

The strengths of this feasibility study include the robust design which enabled insight in to the role of acute exercise, carbohydrate content of OFTTs and insulin concentrations on postprandial TG responses in OT2D. The present findings raise some pertinent issues within this area of investigation. However, these must be interpreted with caution as this study was not adequately powered to detect statistical differences between data. A limitation of this study is the inability to assess the specific underlying mechanisms of the apparent interaction between prior acute exercise and the HFHC OFTT which led to a "large effect" for a reduction in both TG AUC and iAUC responses. The use of isotope tracers within the test meals, in a similar manner to those used by Rabøl and colleagues (2011), could be considered to evaluate underlying mechanisms if this pattern within the data remained in a larger, adequately powered study.

4.5 Conclusions

The present study design is feasible for a future multi-centre trial. Exercise had no effect on reducing postprandial TG after HFLC and may reduce postprandial TG after HFHC OFTTs in OT2D. In support of previous findings, carbohydrate content did not alter postprandial TG responses when participants rested the day before the OFTT. Future work should investigate the effects of exercise, carbohydrate content and insulin sensitivity on postprandial TG responses in male and female sedentary adults with reduced insulin sensitivity.

Chapter 5: The effects of acute interval exercise and strawberry intake on postprandial lipaemia

This is a non-final version of an article published in final form in Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise. This study was published online on: 15th June 2017:

O'Doherty AF, Jones H, Sathyapalan T, Ingle L, Carroll S. The effects of acute interval exercise and strawberry intake on postprandial lipaemia. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*. Epublished on 15.06.2017

http://journals.lww.com/acsmmsse/Abstract/publishahead/The_Effects_of_Acute_Interval_Exercise_and.97184.aspx

5.1 Introduction

Impaired lipid handling after oral fat ingestion results in increased circulating lipids and associated metabolic stress for prolonged time periods. This postprandial characteristic is often reported in physical inactivity, obesity and type 2 diabetes and is strongly associated with atherosclerosis (Pirillo et al., 2014). Acute endothelial dysfunction, increased inflammation and oxidative stress occur during postprandial lipaemia and may contribute to an atherogenic environment (de Vries et al., 2014, Tsai et al., 2004). Furthermore, elevated circulating postprandial lipids likely increase the propensity for oxidation of lipids, such as LDL, which are key protagonists of atherosclerosis (Graner et al., 2006). Attenuation of the postprandial TG response, total and oxidised LDL (oxLDL), is therefore likely to be beneficial for optimising long-term cardiovascular and metabolic health, particularly in overweight or obese individuals.

Exercise performed acutely before a high fat meal (typically 4-24 hours prior to meal ingestion) reduces postprandial TG (for a recent review see; (Freese et al., 2014)). Many studies have investigated the effects of continuous moderate intensity exercise, with most showing favourable postprandial responses after exercise. These studies have been

reviewed in detail elsewhere (Freese et al., 2014). Interval exercise involving several bursts of high intensity exercise (lasting 6 to 240 s) interspersed with light exercise is also an effective strategy to reduce postprandial lipaemia but few studies have been conducted (for a recent review see; (Burns et al., 2015)). When compared to moderate intensity continuous exercise, submaximal high intensity interval exercise has been shown to be similar (Ferreira et al., 2011), or more effective (Trombold et al., 2013), at reducing postprandial TG. Supramaximal high intensity exercise has the added benefit of reducing the time required to complete a fixed amount of work compared to exercise of lower intensities (Little et al., 2010). Although this is appealing, because lack of time to exercise is a common reason for people not performing exercise (Burns et al., 2015, Little et al., 2010), the practicality (Little et al., 2010) and safety (Eskelinen et al., 2016b) of supramaximal high intensity interval exercise to lower PPL may be warranted. However, few studies have investigated this mode of exercise on modifying postprandial lipaemia within adults at higher metabolic risk (Burns et al., 2015).

Having a healthy diet is inversely related to CVD and all-cause mortality (Wang et al., 2014). Consuming sufficient portions of fruit and vegetables each day is an important component of a healthy diet, according to international guidelines (Joint WHO/FAO Expert Consultation, 2003). In addition to being rich in dietary fibre and essential nutrients, many fruits and vegetables are functional foods; those that provide health benefits in addition to basic nutrition (Basu et al., 2014b). The strawberry is considered to be a functional food due to its antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antihypertensive and lipid lowering effects (for a recent review see; (Basu et al., 2014b)). The high content of phenols (which include; anthocyanins, catechins, ellagitannins, perlargonidins and quercetin) within strawberries are proposed to be important for modifying circulating lipids and lipid oxidation in the postprandial period (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010).

Consumption of 10g freeze dried strawberries (equivalent to 110g fresh weight strawberries) with a moderate fat (31g) high carbohydrate (135g) meal compared to a placebo acutely reduced postprandial TG, oxLDL, and markers of inflammation (Creactive protein, Interleukin-6) in overweight men and women (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010, Edirisinghe et al., 2011). However, the acute effects of strawberries on the postprandial responses to a high-fat, low-carbohydrate meal has, to the author's knowledge, not been investigated. This is important to help fully understand the potential use of strawberry intake in reducing postprandial cardio-metabolic stresses associated with fat ingestion.

Prior submaximal high intensity interval exercise and strawberry consumption appear to be independently beneficial in acutely reducing lipid-induced metabolic dysregulation after moderate or high fat meal ingestion. However, the combined effect of these lifestyle interventions has not been investigated to date. The aim of this study was to investigate the separate and combined effects of prior acute exercise and strawberry consumption on reducing postprandial TG responses and oxidative stress after an oral fat tolerance test (OFTT) in inactive overweight and obese adult males. It was hypothesised that exercise and strawberry interventions would independently reduce postprandial TG and that an interaction effect for strawberry and exercise in reducing postprandial TG would be observed.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Participants

Overweight and obese adult males (BMI>25 kg.m⁻², waist circumference >94 cm) with no known cardio-metabolic disorders were recruited. Participants were excluded if they met the exclusion criteria listed in the General methods (Chapter 2). This study was conducted according to the declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Department of Sport, Health and Exercise Science Ethics Committee, University of Hull. Written informed consent was given by all participants before study commencement.

5.2.2 Study design

This randomised, single blinded, crossover study investigated the separate and combined effects of acute prior exercise and acute strawberry consumption on postprandial lipaemic responses (serum TG concentrations) and oxidative stress responses (serum oxLDL and lipid hydroperoxides). There were four experimental conditions which included either an abbreviated OFTT meal containing strawberry milkshake mix [(placebo), 20g, Tesco, UK] or freeze dried strawberries [(intervention), 25g, European Freeze Dry Ltd, Preston, UK] (detailed in Chapter 2). The OFTT meals were preceded by either rest or submaximal high intensity interval exercise (detailed in Chapter 2) conducted on the day before OFTT. Each participant completed all experimental conditions, these were; 1. Placebo OFTT rest condition (R-P), 2. Strawberry OFTT rest condition (R-S), 3. Placebo OFTT exercise condition (Ex-P), 4. Strawberry OFTT exercise condition (Ex-S). Participants attended the research laboratory before 10:00am on four separate occasions, separated by at least 72 hours. During the acute exercise conditions, participants attended the laboratory after 3:30pm, 16 to 18 hours before the scheduled OFTT. The order in which the trial conditions were performed was randomised a priori for each participant. All tests were completed within 8 weeks of the screening visit.

5.2.3 Screening visit

Participants fasted for 2 hours before the screening visit. Baseline stature (Harpenden Stadiometer, Holtain Limited, Crymych Pembrokeshire), body mass (Seca Balance Scales, Seca, Hamburg, Germany), waist and hip circumferences (Seca 201 ergonomic circumference measuring tape, Hamburg, Germany) were measured and body fat content (percentage) was estimated using using bioimpedance (BF900 Maltron Body Composition Analyser, Essex, UK). Blood pressure (Omron M6, Omron Healthcare LTD, Milton Keynes, UK) and resting ECG measurements (GE CASE system, GE Healthcare, Freiburg, Germany) were taken and this was followed by a symptom-limited maximal CPET to volitional exhaustion (detailed in Chapter 2).

5.2.4 Visits 1-4

Participants randomised to the exercise condition attended the laboratory the afternoon before the OFTT having refrained from exercise that day. Participants randomised to the rest condition refrained from exercise 24 hours before OFTT and did not attend the laboratory. All participants were provided with a commercial "ready meal" (detailed in Chapter 2) to consume as their only nutritional intake on every evening preceding an OFTT study visit. Participants attended the laboratory before 10am the following morning having fasted overnight (>10 hours). After 10 minutes of rest, three blood pressure measurements were taken over a period of 10 minutes. A cannula was inserted in to a vein in the antecubital fossa and a blood sample was drawn. Once the participant was provided with an OFTT meal, they were invited to consume it within 5 minutes. The OFTT meal either contained freeze dried strawberries (intervention) or strawberry flavouring (placebo). A blood sample was drawn on the hour for 4 hours after OFTT meal ingestion.

5.2.5 Biochemistry analysis

Serum TG, total cholesterol, high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-c), and plasma glucose were measured at every time point. Low Density Lipoprotein (LDL-c) was estimated from the Friedewald equation (Friedewald et al., 1972) at every time point. Serum oxLDL was determined by using an ELISA (Mercodia Inc, Upsala, Sweden), and serum lipid peroxidation was estimated by using the FOX1 assay. These measures were taken at baseline and 4 hours and were measured in duplicate. The Folin-Ciocalteau assay was used to estimate the anti-oxidant capacity of the strawberry and the placebo product.

5.2.6 Outcome measures

The primary outcome was TG AUC during OFTT. Secondary outcome measures were TG iAUC, oxLDL and lipid peroxidation (FOX1 assay).

5.2.7 Statistical Analyses

Normal (Gaussian) distribution of data was verified using the Shapiro-Wilk test, tests for skewness and kurtosis of distributions and visual inspection of histogram charts was conducted. Non-normally distributed data were analysed using non-parametric analyses. Data are presented as mean and standard deviation (SD) for normal data, and nonnormally distributed data are presented as median and quartiles 1 and 3 (Q1, Q3). Total area under the curve (AUC) and incremental AUC (iAUC) for TG, cholesterol, HDL-c and glucose was determined by the trapezoidal method (Matthews et al., 1990). oxLDL and lipid hydroperoxides were measured at baseline and at 4 hours and the difference between baseline and 4 hours was calculated. To assess the differences between outcome measures for each trial condition, 2x2 repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used. Specifically, activity (exercise/ no exercise) was treated as a study condition and nutritional content (strawberry/ no strawberry) was treated as a study condition. Each activity/nutritional intervention and placebo appeared twice across the study trials therefore the 2x2 repeated measures ANOVA enabled the influence of exercise and strawberry to be assessed independently across the study and the interaction revealed whether a combination of the study conditions influenced postprandial responses. Mean difference with 95% confidence intervals (CI), p values and effect sizes using partial eta squared (ηp^2) are reported. The alpha level was set at 0.05, and ηp^2 was used to determine the effect size with small, medium and large effects set at 0.01, 0.06 and 0.14, respectively (Cohen, 1988). Where significance was reached, post hoc pairwise comparisons were made with Bonferroni adjustment and reported as mean difference, CI, p values and ηp^2 . Microsoft Excel (2013) and SPSS (Version 22) (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) were used for all statistical analyses.

The complexity of the 2x2 repeated measures ANOVA with two within factors makes sample size estimation for this design challenging (Potvin and Schutz, 2000). As such, a sample size required to detect differences between the main effects for the diet condition and the exercise condition using a one way repeated measures ANOVA design with two measures for each condition was estimated. Based on previous data (Weiss et al., 2008) it was expected that the repeatability of the primary outcome TG AUC would be high (ICC=0.83). Using a more conservative estimate of rho=0.7, an effect size of 0.7, an alpha value of 0.05 and 80% power a sample size of 10 participants was obtained.

Ten of eleven males (median age, 31.5 Q1, 28.5 Q3, 46.3 years; mean ±SD BMI, 29.9 ± 1.8 kg·m⁻²; waist circumference: 1.05 ± 0.05 m) completed all study visits. Demographics for these participants are reported in *Table 5.1*. One participant dropped out of the study after the screening visit for personal reasons. Six participants were overweight (BMI 25 kg·m⁻² to 30 kg·m⁻²), four were obese (BMI >30 kg·m⁻²) and all were inactive (defined by self-reported exercise <150 minutes per week). All participants completed the two submaximal high intensity interval exercise protocols which lasted one hour in total. The peak heart rates achieved during exercise were 93 $\pm 4\%$ of peak heart rates measured in CPET and there were no differences in peak heart rates between the two interventions (p= 0.504). The mean (SD) work rate (W) for the low and high intensity intervals were 48 ± 16 W and 181 ± 49 W, respectively. The Folin-Ciocalteau assay identified that freeze dried strawberry had 4.5 fold greater phenolic capacity compared to the placebo (895 mg vs. 194 mg). There were no adverse effects during or following the exercise interventions or high fat meal ingestion.

Baseline measures	
Age (years)*	31.5 (28.5, 46.3)
Body mass (kg)	91.9 (6.8)
BMI (kg·m ⁻²)	29.9 (1.8)
Waist circumference (m)	1.05 (0.05)
Waist to hip ratio	0.97 (0.05)
Body fat (%)	25.5 (5.2)
Blood Pressure (mmHg)	129 (7)/ 80 (9)
VO ₂ peak (ml·kg ⁻¹ ·min ⁻¹)*	33.2 (26.7, 36.5)
VO₂ AT (ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹)*	18.1 (15.8, 19.3)
Triglycerides (mmol·l ⁻¹)	1.3 (0.4)
HDL (mmol ⁻¹)	1.2 (0.1)
Cholesterol (mmol·l ⁻¹)	5.3 (1.1)
Glucose (mmol·l ⁻¹)*	5.2 (4.9, 5.4)

*Reported as median (IQ1, IQ3)

5.3.1 Serum TG responses to OFTT

Mean (SD) TG responses at each time point for each condition are presented in *Figure 5.1*. TG increased from baseline in all conditions and peaked at 3-4 hours.

5.3.1.1 Total AUC

TG AUC was 1.5 mmol·4h^{-1·}L⁻¹ lower (95% confidence interval [CI] = -2.3 to -0.8, p= 0.001, $\eta p^2 = 0.71$) for the two exercise conditions compared to the two resting conditions. Post hoc pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni adjustment identified that TG AUC was 1.6 mmol·4h^{-1·}L⁻¹ lower in the exercise condition compared to rest condition for the placebo OFTT (CI= -2.5 to -0.5, p= 0.009, $\eta p^2 = 0.55$) and by 1.5 mmol·4h^{-1·}L⁻¹ for the strawberry OFTT (CI= -2.9 to -0.2, p= 0.033, $\eta p^2 = 0.41$). There were no differences in TG AUC between the strawberry OFTT and placebo OFTT (Mean difference= -0.3 mmol·4h^{-1·}L⁻¹ CI= -1.3 to 0.7, p= 0.475, $\eta p^2 = 0.06$). There was no exercise and strawberry interaction (p= 0.970, $\eta p^2 < 0.001$).

5.3.1.2 Incremental AUC

There was a large effect size for lower TG iAUC (Mean difference= 0.4 mmol·4h⁻¹·L⁻¹, CI = -0.2 to 1.1, p= 0.175, $\eta p^2 = 0.19$) in the exercise conditions compared to the resting conditions. TG iAUC was 0.5 mmol·4h⁻¹·L⁻¹ lower in the placebo conditions than the strawberry conditions (CI= -1.0 to -0.1, p= 0.021, $\eta p^2 = 0.47$). Post hoc analyses identified that TG iAUC was 0.7 mmol·4h⁻¹·L⁻¹ lower for the placebo condition compared to strawberry condition with exercise (CI= -1.1 to -0.3, p= 0.005, $\eta p^2 = 0.61$) but not with rest (mean difference= 0.4 mmol·4h⁻¹·L⁻¹, CI= -1.2 to 0.5, p= 0.331, $\eta p^2 = 0.11$). There was no interaction between conditions (p= 0.516, $\eta p^2 = 0.05$).

5.3.1.3 Baseline

Baseline TG was 0.3 mmol⁴h⁻¹·L⁻¹ lower (CI= -0.4 to 0.2, p=0.001, $\eta p^2 = 0.74$) in the exercise conditions compared to the resting conditions. Post hoc analyses identified that

baseline TG was 0.2 mmol·4h⁻¹·L⁻¹ lower with exercise compared to rest condition with the placebo (CI= -0.4 to -0.1, p=0.011, $\eta p^2 = 0.53$) and 0.3 mmol·4h⁻¹·L⁻¹ lower with the strawberry condition (CI= -0.5 to -0.1, p=0.014, $\eta p^2 = 0.50$). There were no differences in baseline TG in the strawberry conditions compared to the placebo conditions (Mean difference= 0.1 mmol·4h⁻¹·L⁻¹, CI= -0.1 to 0.2, p=0.484, $\eta p^2 = 0.06$). There was no interaction effect between conditions (p=0.660, $\eta p^2 = 0.02$).

	Rest &	Rest &	Exercise &	Exercise &
	Placebo	Strawberry	Placebo	Strawberry
TG AUC (mmol·4h·1·1·1)	7.8 (2.2)	8.1 (2.6)	6.2 (1.8)*	6.5 (1.7)*
TG iAUC (mmol·4h ^{-1.} l ⁻¹)	2.4 (0.8)**	2.8 (1.2)	1.9 (0.8)**	2.5 (0.6)
TG baseline (mmol·l ⁻¹)	1.3 (0.4)	1.3 (0.5)	1.1 (0.3)*	1.0 (0.3)*
$\Delta \text{ oxLDL } (\mathbf{mU} \cdot \mathbf{l}^{-1})$	-10.7 (15.7)	0.4 (14.2)	1.1 (9.4)	-4.0 (10.6)
Δ Lipid hydroperoxides (µmol·l ⁻¹)	11.6 (10.1)	8.0 (11.7)	4.4 (11.6)	13.6 (16.6)
Cholesterol AUC (mmol ⁻ 4h ^{-1.} l ⁻¹)	21.0 (4.2)	21.0 (4.5)	20.6 (4.1)*	20.1 (4.3)*
HDL AUC (mmol·4h-1·1·1)	4.7 (0.6)	4.6 (0.4)	4.6 (0.5)	4.6 (0.4)
Glucose AUC (mmol·4h-1·l-1)#	20.0 (4.3)	19.8 (1.8)	20.6 (2.5)	20.2 (1.5)

*lower for the exercise conditions (p<0.05) **lower for the placebo conditions (p<0.05) #Glucose is expressed as median (interquartile range)



Figure 5.1 TG (Panel A), cholesterol (Panel B) and glucose (Panel C) responses to $\ensuremath{\mathsf{OFTT}}$

5.3.2 Oxidative stress responses to OFTT

Mean (SD) change (Δ) in oxLDL and lipid hydroperoxides from baseline to 4 hours are reported in *Table 5.2*. There were no differences in oxLDL for the exercise (Mean difference= -3.6 mU·L⁻¹, CI= -14.3 to 7.0, p= 0.45, $\eta p^2 = 0.06$) or strawberry (Mean difference= -2.9 mU·L⁻¹, CI= -9.6 to 3.7, p= 0.34, $\eta p^2 = 0.10$) conditions. However, there was a large interaction effect size between conditions (p= 0.16, $\eta p^2 = 0.21$). There were no differences in lipid hydroperoxides for the exercise (Mean difference= 0.8 µmol·L⁻¹, CI=-8.0 to 9.6, p= 0.84, $\eta p^2 = 0.01$) or strawberry (Mean difference= -2.8 µmol·L⁻¹, CI= -11.1 to 5.6, p= 0.47, $\eta p^2 = 0.06$) conditions. However, there was a large interaction effect size between the conditions (p= 0.13, $\eta p^2 = 0.24$).

5.3.3 Cholesterol, HDL, and glucose responses to OFTT

The cholesterol, HDL, and glucose AUC in response to OFTT are presented in *Table* 5.2. Cholesterol AUC was 0.7 mmol·4h⁻¹·L⁻¹ lower in the exercise conditions compared to the rest conditions (CI= -1.1 to -0.2, p= 0.01, $\eta p^2 = 0.58$). There was no effect for exercise (Mean difference= 0.01 mmol·4h⁻¹·L⁻¹, CI=-0.13 to 0.14, p=0.94, $\eta p^2 = 0.001$) or strawberry (Mean difference= 0.03 mmol·4h⁻¹·L⁻¹, CI=-0.06 to 0.14, p=0.43, $\eta p^2 = 0.07$) conditions on HDL responses to OFTT. There was no effect for exercise (Mean difference= 0.29 mmol·4h⁻¹·L⁻¹, CI= -1.04 to 0.43, p=0.387, $\eta p^2 = 0.08$) or strawberry (Mean difference = 0.14 mmol·4h⁻¹·L⁻¹, CI= -0.55 to 0.83, p= 0.655, $\eta p^2 = 0.02$) on glucose responses to OFTT.

5.4 Discussion

The separate and combined effects of acute submaximal high intensity interval exercise and strawberry consumption on postprandial responses to OFTTs among overweight and obese adult males were investigated. It was demonstrated that acute submaximal high intensity interval exercise was effective in reducing TG AUC after OFTTs. This significant effect of acute exercise in lowering postprandial TG was evident both with and without strawberry consumption. However, contrary to the study hypotheses, strawberry consumption with OFTT ingestion did not alter TG AUC concentrations and there was no interaction between strawberry consumption and submaximal high intensity interval exercise. The secondary findings indicate that there was a large effect size observed for acute submaximal high intensity interval exercise reducing TG iAUC. Whereas, TG iAUC was increased with strawberry consumption. There were no significant changes in lipid related oxidative stress responses between conditions.

5.4.1 Exercise and postprandial triglycerides

There was a reduction in TG AUC in response to the OFTT by approximately 20% in the submaximal high intensity interval exercise conditions compared to the control conditions. Acute prior exercise significantly lowered baseline TG and there was a large effect size for lower TG iAUC which contributed to the reduction in total AUC. Reductions in TG AUC of a similar magnitude have been reported in response to moderate continuous exercise (Freese et al., 2014) and high intensity interval exercise (Trombold et al., 2013, Ferreira et al., 2011). An individualised submaximal high intensity interval exercise protocol consistent with exercise intensity domains identified by analysis of expired ventilatory gasses measured during a CPET was selected (Ozyener et al., 2001). Other submaximal high intensity interval exercise interventions

that have successfully reduced postprandial lipaemia lasted approximately 40 minutes and were stopped when participants had expended 500 kcal (Ferreira et al., 2011) or 660 kcal (Trombold et al., 2013). An older, more overweight, and less active population with higher mean fasting TG concentrations compared to previous studies was recruited for this study. For practical reasons (this is, to avoid unrealistic length of exercise sessions) and real life application, the 40 minute duration of high intensity interval exercise was predefined (rather than a target energy expenditure) and the effects of individualised interventions at clearly defined exercise intensities were investigated. This is important because cardiorespiratory fitness is inversely related to cardiometabolic health. Accordingly, participants with lower levels of cardiorespiratory fitness, exercising at the same relative intensity, will need to exercise for longer than a fitter individual to attain the same overall energy expenditure. Given the frequently cited barriers to exercise being time, it is unrealistic to expect an individual with poor cardiorespiratory fitness to exercise to attain a high total energy expenditure (>500 kcal) as this would typically require exercise sessions in excess of one hour. An exercise session duration of greater than one hour is in excess of recommended target guidelines for apparently healthy populations, which are seldom met (Tucker et al., 2011). Therefore, investigating the effects of acute exercise by predefining a fixed amount of time may be more ecologically valid. Furthermore, standard equations used for calculating energy expenditure from expired oxygen and carbon dioxide are inaccurate during interval exercise that involves exercise intensities above the anaerobic threshold. Therefore, the validity of high intensity interval exercise interventions that use predefined estimated energy expenditure targets based on expired oxygen and carbon dioxide calculations could be questioned. Finally, as considered later, total energy expenditure may not be the key mechanism involved in reducing postprandial TG with high intensity interval exercise (Burns et al., 2015).

Interval exercise has the advantage of enabling a greater volume of work/energy expenditure to be completed within a period of time (Little et al., 2010, Trombold et al., 2013), as well as varying the physiological challenge on the body when compared to continuous moderate intensity exercise. High intensity interval exercise has superior levels of enjoyment (Heinrich et al., 2014), lower perceived work (Kilpatrick et al., 2016) and increased likelihood of continuing regular exercise (Heinrich et al., 2014, Kilpatrick et al., 2016) in addition to the numerous cardio-metabolic benefits (Little et al., 2010, Gibala et al., 2012) compared to moderate intensity continuous exercise. Furthermore, the activity of lipoprotein lipase (LPL; a key enzyme involved with the removal of TG) appears to be increased following high intensity interval exercise training (Trombold et al., 2013). This is important because TG clearance appears to be the primary mechanism of reducing postprandial TG after high intensity interval exercise (Burns et al., 2015). Many early exercise interventions designed to reduce postprandial lipids employed moderate intensity continuous exercise and it became widely accepted that estimated energy expenditure was central to these reductions (Freese et al., 2014). However, as reviewed by Burns and colleagues, the estimated energy expenditure during high intensity interval exercise interventions that reduce postprandial TG appear to be lower than that during moderate intensity exercise interventions (Burns et al., 2015). Additionally, when estimated energy expenditure during exercise is matched, high intensity interval exercise has been shown to have a greater effect on reducing postprandial TG (Trombold et al., 2013).

One mechanism by which high intensity interval exercise elicits greater reductions in postprandial TG compared to moderate intensity continuous exercise could be explained by the regulation of LPL and its specificity to type 2 muscle fibres (Burns et al., 2015). A greater number of type 2 muscle fibres will likely be recruited during high intensity interval exercise and subsequently type 2 muscle fibre specific LPL activity may be greatly increased (Trombold et al., 2013). Reductions in postprandial TG with moderate intensity continuous exercise may also occur via this mechanism because type 2 muscle fibre recruitment increases with prolonged moderate intensity exercise. Exercise duration and energy expenditure for moderate intensity exercise are closely related, it is therefore possible that type 2 muscle fibre recruitment during prolonged moderate continuous exercise increases LPL activity in type 2 fibres. Higher energy expenditure may reflect a greater duration of exercise or exercise at higher intensities and thus increased type 2 muscle fibre recruitment. However, as already discussed, accurate assessment of energy expenditure during high intensity interval exercise is challenging and therefore comparison between moderate intensity exercise and high intensity interval exercise with regards to energy expenditure may be misleading. Further mechanistic investigations in to the effects of acute high intensity interval exercise induced attenuation in postprandial TG excursions and fibre specific LPL activity would help to identify optimal exercise interventions for those at risk of cardio-metabolic disease.

Our data support the use of submaximal high intensity interval exercise as a training modality to reduce postprandial TG which may favourably modify lipid-related cardiovascular risk in overweight and obese men.

5.4.2 Exercise and postprandial oxidative stress

There were no improvements in markers of oxidative stress with exercise observed within the present study. This could be due to the small sample size within this study and the variability within these markers. These were also secondary outcome measures and therefore the study was not adequately powered to detect differences between interventions for these markers. There were no changes in postprandial oxLDL concentrations or lipid hydroperoxides with prior acute submaximal high intensity interval exercise. Reduced oxLDL with endurance cycling exercise (70% $\dot{V}O_2max$ for approximately 47 minutes) performed 16 h before high fat meal ingestion has been previously reported (Jenkins et al., 2011). Compared to the present study, the high fat meal utilised in the study by Jenkins and colleagues (Jenkins et al., 2011) contained approximately 50g more fat. The higher fat intake is likely to have contributed to a larger and prolonged lipaemic response. Higher circulating lipids provides a greater capacity for postprandial LDL oxidation (Graner et al., 2006) and therefore there may have been a greater capacity for reduction in oxLDL with exercise compared to the present study.

A reduction in lipid hydroperoxides with the exercise session performed either immediately before an OFTT, or 1 hour after an OFTT has been demonstrated previously (Clegg et al., 2007, Mc Clean et al., 2007). However, to the author's knowledge the effects of exercise performed 16 h before an OFTT on lipid hydroperoxides, as investigated in the present study protocol, has not been investigated. Of the studies that have investigated the effects of exercise in reducing postprandial oxidative stress, all employed continuous endurance exercise lasting 47 (Jenkins et al., 2011) or 60 (Clegg et al., 2007, Mc Clean et al., 2007) minutes at an intensity of 70% $\dot{V}O_2max$ (Jenkins et al., 2011), 60% predicted maximum heart rate (Clegg et al., 2007) or 60% maximum heart rate (Mc Clean et al., 2007). The timing of exercise and perhaps the mode of exercise required to reduce oxidative stress may therefore be important.

5.4.3 Strawberry consumption and postprandial TG

In contrast to previous research (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010), strawberry consumption had no effect on TG AUC. Interestingly, TG iAUC was higher with strawberry
consumption than with the placebo. In contrast to the beneficial effects of strawberry consumption on postprandial TG that have been reported previously (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010) the present findings suggest that strawberry consumption had no effect on postprandial TG.

The OFTT had a higher fat content (73g versus 31g) and the carbohydrate content was considerably lower (33g versus 135g) compared to a previous study which demonstrated reduced TG after OFTT with strawberry consumption (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010). Additionally, the OFTT was composed of milk and cream as opposed to typical American breakfast foods. The author proposes that the differences in carbohydrate quantities of the OFTT and the amount of fructose relative to the total carbohydrate content may explain these findings. Approximately 20% of the carbohydrate content of the strawberry OFTT was fructose, with glucose the predominant carbohydrate source in the placebo OFTT (which did not contain fructose). It has been demonstrated previously that an OFTT containing fructose resulted in a higher postprandial TG response compared to the same OFTT when the carbohydrate content was glucose (Chong et al., 2007). It was proposed by Chong and colleagues (2007) (Chong et al., 2007) that the lower insulin response to fructose compared to glucose may explain the greater postprandial TG response. The fructose content in the strawberry OFTT may therefore have contributed to the greater incremental increase in postprandial TG in this study compared to placebo. Given the relatively small fructose contribution to the high total carbohydrate in the test meals of Burton-Freeman and colleagues (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010), the overall effect of fructose on the insulin response was likely minimal in this study. Further, strawberry polyphenols promote increased insulin sensitivity (Edirisinghe et al., 2011). This could potentially stimulate enhanced insulin mediated TG storage in adipose tissue and thus increased TG

clearance from the circulation, when carbohydrate is high as was the case in the study by Burton-Freeman and colleagues (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010).

5.4.4 Strawberry consumption and postprandial oxidative stress

There were no changes in oxLDL or lipid hydroperoxides between groups. Previous studies have demonstrated the benefits of strawberries on reducing postprandial oxLDL after lipid ingestion (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010, Park et al., 2016). The author gave a dose of strawberries (25g Freeze dried strawberries) which is similar to the optimal dose (20g) for lowering postprandial TG identified by Park and colleagues (2016) (Park et al., 2016). The author used a higher fat content and specifically a higher dairy fat content in this OFTT meal compared to that of other studies (Park et al., 2016, Burton-Freeman et al., 2010). Dairy products within the OFTT in the present study may have reduced circulating bioavailability of the strawberry polyphenols because milk proteins and fat may reduce bioavailability of berry polyphenols (Cebeci and Sahin-Yesilcubuk, 2014, Zhang et al., 2013). However, despite the bioavailability of berry polyphenols being lower when combined with milk, this may not necessarily reduce the intestinalblood transfer of berry polyphenols according to in vitro experiments (Cebeci and Sahin-Yesilcubuk, 2014). Notably, reduced circulating oxLDL and increased circulating strawberry polyphenols have been observed after consumption of a strawberry drink containing milk in humans (Park et al., 2016). It is therefore unclear whether dairy products reduced the bioavailability of strawberry polyphenols and therefore capacity to reduce oxLDL in the present study. Lipid hydroperoxides, which increase during postprandial lipaemia (Clegg et al., 2007, Mc Clean et al., 2007, Natella et al., 2002) are reduced after anthocyanin intake from grapes (Natella et al., 2002). However, a reduction was not observed in the present study which assumed strawberry anthocyanin intake. As discussed, the potential for reduced bioavailability with dairy products may explain these findings. Differences in the agricultural and preparation processes of the strawberry products could also contribute to the discrepancies between the present study and previous studies (Basu et al., 2014b).

5.4.5 Limitations

Some of the limitations that exist within the present study have already been eluded to in the discussion. A further limitation is that only the evening meal on the day preceding the OFTT was standardised. Therefore, it cannot be completely excluded that food intake 24 hours before the OFTT influenced the postprandial responses. The participants were given strict instructions to abstain from alcohol, caffeine and their adherence to these instructions was trusted. This was the same for restricting physical activity beyond their habitual levels (which were self-reported to be below standard guidelines), however, previous studies have attempted to measure activity levels during this period (Trombold et al., 2013). Additionally, although the abbreviated 4-hour OFTT has been shown to be predictive of the 8 hour time period (Weiss et al., 2008) and is a repeatable test (O'Doherty et al., 2016) it does not allow assessment of clearance of postprandial TG (this is, CMs and their remnants), which may have been beneficial to evaluate.

5.5 Conclusions

Our findings support the use of acute submaximal high intensity interval exercise as an effective intervention to reduce lipoprotein-related cardiovascular risk factors in overweight and obese adult men. This mode of structured exercise could be

incorporated in to lifestyle management of overweight and obese adult males to reduce cardiovascular risk. However, freeze-dried strawberry supplementation within an OFTT containing dairy products did not improve postprandial TG response which may be related to the fructose and total carbohydrate content of the meal. Nevertheless, this is an interesting finding that merits further investigation. The author recommends that future studies: 1. Investigate the role of carbohydrate and polyphenols in reducing postprandial lipaemia and 2. Evaluate the effects of acute submaximal high intensity interval exercise on reducing postprandial lipaemia in dyslipidaemic males and females.

Chapter 6: General discussion

6.1 Main findings

The purpose of this thesis was to evaluate postprandial lipid metabolism in different cohorts and to investigate the effects of acute exercise and dietary interventions on reducing postprandial lipids. This thesis offers novel contributions to the existing literature, demonstrated in part by 2 of the chapters being published in well regarded peer reviewed journals (O'Doherty et al., 2016, O'Doherty et al., 2017). Chapter 3 establishes the repeatability of postprandial responses to an original OFTT. This OFTT was tailored to meet the most recent expert panel statement by Kolovou and colleagues (2011) and was designed specifically for the investigations within this thesis. Few laboratories appear to have demonstrated the repeatability of their OFTT meals, which is surprising given that demonstrating robust, valid and reproducible methods is important for rigorous experimental research.

Whilst it is largely accepted that acute exercise positively modulates the postprandial lipid response there are certain key areas that had either not been adequately addressed in the literature or had not yet been considered prior to this thesis, these are:

- 1. Whether the variability of lipaemic responses to OFTT with immediate prior exercise could explain the contrasting literature within this area of research.
- 2. Whether acute exercise attenuates postprandial lipaemia in OT2D, a group shown to be at increased risk of T2D and known to have abnormal lipaemic responses.
- 3. Whether the increased serum insulin responses to OFTTs with high carbohydrate content contribute to reductions in postprandial lipaemia in OT2D.

- 4. Whether submaximal high intensity interval exercise is an effective strategy to reduce postprandial lipaemia.
- 5. Whether the use of polyphenols through strawberry supplementation can complement the widely reported favourable effects of exercise on postprandial lipaemia.

There is a lack of clarity with regards to whether exercise immediately before OFTT reduces postprandial lipaemia due to conflicting findings in the literature (Emerson et al., 2016, Littlefield et al., 2017). This is complicated further by other experimental differences between studies, including; differences in OFTT meal composition, small sample sizes and subsequent power to detect a "true" difference, and the differences in participants recruited between the studies. These observations are apparent in the selected contemporary investigations of acute exercise on postprandial lipaemia outlined in Table 1.1 of the introduction. Furthermore, the proposed mechanisms associated with reduced postprandial lipaemia such as increased LPL activity are unlikely to occur during this short time frame between acute exercise and subsequent OFTT ingestion (Maraki and Sidossis, 2013). To the author's knowledge, whilst the reliability or repeatability of OFTTs had been assessed in the resting condition, prior to publication of the study presented in chapter 3, this aspect had not been investigated in the acute exercise condition. This is particularly important given the fairly even distribution of studies that exist showing either an effect (Littlefield et al., 2017, Plaisance et al., 2008, Ferreira et al., 2011, Katsanos and Moffatt, 2004, Katsanos et al., 2004) or those indicating no effect on reducing postprandial TG (Pfeiffer et al., 2005, Petridou et al., 2004, Cox-York et al., 2013, Clegg et al., 2007, Katsanos et al., 2004, Canale et al., 2014). This investigation demonstrated considerable variability in the effect of immediate prior exercise on postprandial lipaemia. This variability could therefore explain the different outcomes reported in the literature and the results of this

study should encourage careful consideration for future studies seeking to reduce postprandial lipaemia with acute exercise performed shortly before OFTT meal ingestion. However, there are notable differences between this study and some of the previous studies that could potentially influence outcomes, such as; the higher exercise intensities employed compared to the present study and the different composition of OFTTs, particularly the higher carbohydrate content. Therefore, the repeatability of the effect of acute prior exercise under these conditions could also be evaluated in future studies. The implications of the findings in this reproducibility study for the subsequent studies reported within this thesis were as follows;

- The specifically designed OFTT provided reliable measures of postprandial responses in normolipidaemic, healthy, adult males. This OFTT could therefore be used with confidence for the interventional studies that followed.
- 2. The beneficial effects of immediate prior exercise on postprandial lipaemia are not clear. From a practical logistic perspective, exercising participants immediately before an OFTT is useful as it reduces study visits compared to exercising participants on the evening before OFTTs. However, due to the considerably larger evidence base for reduced postprandial lipaemia when exercise is performed the evening before OFTT (Plaisance and Fisher, 2014, Maraki and Sidossis, 2013), the timing of the exercise was given further consideration and moved to the evening before OFTT for the intervention studies that followed in this thesis.

The variability of carbohydrate content in OFTT meals across studies assessing postprandial lipid responses is interesting. The OFTT is designed to assess postprandial lipid responses after a moderate (30g to 50g) or high (50g to 80g) amount of fat (Lopez-Miranda et al., 2007). However, carbohydrate (excluding fructose) considerably

increases secretion of insulin; a master regulator of both glucose and lipids (Pirillo et al., 2014, Ginsberg et al., 2005). Of note, the quantities of carbohydrate provided within OFTTs are often in excess of the 75g provided in oral glucose tolerance tests (see *Table 1.1*), designed to assess postprandial glucose regulation (Matsuda and DeFronzo, 1999). As such these OFTTs challenge both postprandial carbohydrate and fat metabolism and this should be considered within the study design. Raised circulating insulin concentrations reduce hepatic VLDL secretion and consequential rises in postprandial TGs in insulin sensitive participants (Malmstrom et al., 1998) but not insulin resistant participants (Kriketos et al., 2005). Inadequate suppression of hepatic VLDL secretion and impaired insulin mediated clearance of circulating glucose at the muscle, leads to increased de novo lipogenesis. In insulin resistant individuals, this accounts for up to a 60% rise in circulating postprandial TG (Petersen et al., 2007). These mechanisms may explain why Kriketos et al. (2005) identified a reduction in postprandial TG in lean healthy participants but not OT2D after HFHC compared to HFLC OFTTs.

The aims of the second experimental study of this thesis, Chapter 4, were to replicate and extend on the above cited findings in OT2D by Kriketos and colleagues (2005), by evaluating whether acute moderate intensity exercise could favourably modify these postprandial responses. This is important because of the strong relationship between increased circulating postprandial TG and cardio-metabolic disease, particularly in adults already at an increased risk of cardio-metabolic disease (Boren et al., 2014, Wang et al., 2016, Varbo et al., 2013b). Furthermore, the design of this study allowed evaluation of postprandial responses with high and low circulating insulin concentrations (in response to high or low carbohydrate OFTTs) and with the OFTT preceded by rest and a prior acute exercise session. This was considered an important question because the mechanisms underlying the beneficial effects of exercise on postprandial lipid metabolism are not fully understood. Improvements in insulin sensitivity appears a plausible explanation for improved lipid metabolism with insulin resistant individuals and is supported by a recent mechanistic study (Rabol et al., 2011). However, this mechanism was dismissed previously, based on indirect evidence (Gill et al., 2002). The feasibility study presented in this thesis showed large effect sizes for lower postprandial TG AUC and iAUC in the acute exercise and high carbohydrate OFTT condition. These findings must be interpreted with caution until they have been replicated in a large adequately powered study. Nonetheless, these findings indicate that prior acute exercise and high circulating insulin concentrations may interact to reduce postprandial TG in OT2D. These findings support the importance of regular exercise in these higher risk participants and provides mechanistic insight in to the role of acute exercise and related insulin sensitivity in improving postprandial TG responses. In addition, the utilisation of imaging techniques to quantify skeletal muscle and liver fat and glycogen content, using natural isotopes to trace fat metabolism in muscle and liver, similar to techniques observed in studies by Petersen et al. (2007) and Rabol et al. (2011), would complement the present study design.

A notable finding from the study presented in Chapter 4 was the slow recruitment to the trial of volunteer OT2D, despite using various advertising methods. The OFTT (beyond the standard or even non-fasting lipid profile) is most relevant in those who are sedentary, overweight/obese and have clustered risk factors for cardio-metabolic disease. Given the time frame of the PhD process, it was decided that overweight/obese, sedentary adult males would be selected as a higher risk apparently healthy cohort for the final study (Chapter 5).

During the PhD process a review evaluating the effects of HIIE on reducing postprandial lipids was published from the Stensel laboratory (Burns et al., 2015). This review highlighted the beneficial effects of HIIE on postprandial lipids. However, it was

noted that there was a paucity of data on submaximal HIIE interventions. The previous study (chapter 4) incorporated moderate intensity continuous exercise with a fairly low energy expenditure compared to most, but not all studies within the literature (Lopes Kruger et al., 2016, Emerson et al., 2016). Although the underlying mechanisms of exercise in reducing postprandial lipids are not entirely clear, HIIE is an effective strategy to complete a larger volume of exercise within a shorter period of time than continuous moderate intensity exercise (Little et al., 2010). This provides the potential to elicit a greater amount of energy expended and greater activation of type 2 muscle fibres (which may be relevant for increased LPL activity (Hamilton et al., 1998)) compared to moderate intensity exercise. Given the above observations and the contemporary interest in this exercise modality, HIIE was selected for the final study. HIIE was found to be an effective strategy for reducing postprandial TG 4-hour AUC (by approximately 20%) in overweight/obese healthy male participants. Therefore, this mode of exercise may be an effective preventative strategy for treating postprandial dyslipidaemia and lowering cardio-metabolic disease risk in overweight and obese males.

Nutritional interventions using polyphenol rich foods have been shown to lower lipid oxidation, a key proponent of atherosclerotic risk in the postprandial period (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010, Edirisinghe et al., 2011). The proposed mechanisms for nutritional modification of postprandial oxidative stress appear to be different from the exercise mediated reductions. Therefore, acute supplementation of polyphenols within mixed meal challenges, in combination with prior acute exercise may be synergistic to reducing postprandial cardio-metabolic risk factors. Conversely, contrary to previous literature, the final experimental study in this thesis (Chapter 5) did not find a beneficial effect of acute polyphenol supplementation with freeze dried strawberries. Moreover, there was a significant effect for increased TG iAUC with acute strawberry intake. There are plausible explanations for this finding. Firstly the OFTT was composed of milk and cream which may have reduced the capacity for absorption of polyphenols. Second, the author did not match fructose content across trials, oral ingestion of fructose does not stimulate increased insulin concentrations in the same manner as other carbohydrates (Chong et al., 2007). Chapter 4 highlights the potential importance of insulin responses to OFTTs in regulating circulating glucose and lipid concentrations. Accordingly, the relationship between acute polyphenol supplementation (through strawberries or alternative polyphenol rich fruits) and their independent and combined effects with acute exercise interventions merit further evaluation.

6.2 Future directions

The future directions of this work include; an adequately powered multi-centre study investigating the effects of acute exercise on postprandial responses to OFTTs (incorporating both HFLC and HFHC) in OT2D would be required to substantiate the preliminary findings observed in chapter 4. This investigation could be supported with the use of advanced technologies (MRS with labelled isotopes) to help to identify underlying mechanisms linking the interventions to specific changes in postprandial responses. The findings in chapter 5 related to acute strawberry intake contrast with previous literature (Burton-Freeman et al., 2010, Edirisinghe et al., 2011). The purported benefits of strawberry intake merits further investigation. In this respect, some of the differences in this study meal compared to the previous literature have been eluded to. A non-dairy, high fat intervention is recommended for future investigations. The promising acute effects of HIIE on measures of insulin sensitivity and postprandial lipid metabolism in overweight/obese men provides an opening for future studies. Chronic exercise interventions using this protocol could be investigated to assess cardio-metabolic health benefits. Finally, these studies were only performed in adult 140

male participants and these should also be repeated in adult female participants to assess whether the same benefits of prior exercise on postprandial lipaemia are transferrable to women.

6.3 Strengths and limitations

The strengths and limitations of the studies have been considered in each of the respective study chapters. There are, however, some considerations that are common to all studies and these will be highlighted in this section. The strengths of these studies include the robust crossover experimental study designs included. The crossover design that was used throughout this thesis meant that each participant served as their own control, strengthening the confidence in the findings. The OFTT meals that were employed throughout the studies were specifically designed to keep consistent with an expert panel statement on postprandial testing for cardio-metabolic risk stratification (Kolovou et al., 2011). The meal given to each participant on the evening before the OFTT was standardised, this prior meal has been shown in previous studies to impact upon the postprandial lipid response (Robertson et al., 2002). Every aspect of data collection (i.e. making the OFTT, blood collection, CPET interpretation, protocol design, preparation and storage of blood, amongst others) during each study was performed by one person (Alasdair O'Doherty), this improves consistency with the way that the studies are performed. Participants were asked not to exercise on the day before the OFTT (excluding the exercise session for the experimental protocol). The use of activity monitors during this intervening time would have been useful to confirm that participants performed the same amount of activity on each day prior to the OFTT.

Due to the number of study visits and the apparent inconsistency of responses to lipid metabolism after OFTTs in females (Gill et al., 2005), this series of studies only recruited adult male participants. Therefore, further studies with female participants are required to confirm whether the findings of this thesis are applicable to adult females.

6.4 Personal development and reflection

Throughout the PhD journey I have learned and developed as an academic and a person by both building upon existing knowledge and experiences and having new experiences. I gained skills in repeatability, feasibility and fully powered experimental trials. I have built upon my previous experiences in writing NHS ethics to gain successful ethical approval from all of the studies within this thesis. My clinical skills and knowledge base also helped me to overturn a faculty health and safety policy that did not allow cannulation to be performed within the department. I demonstrated my resourceful skills by re-commissioning a biochemistry analyser that had been redundant within the department. I have developed a wider appreciation for statistical methods, being faced with the challenges of assessing repeatability in non-normally distributed data. I shared knowledge through presentations at scientific conferences and with the local patient group for people living with type 2 diabetes and patients living with cardiovascular disease. I learned new biochemistry techniques that allowed me to analyse all of my blood samples (excluding insulin). I built upon my previous experiences in scientific paper writing skills and the peer review process by publishing two peer reviewed articles. I built upon my previous grant writing skills and achieved a small grant as the lead applicant from a local charity. I am grateful for the opportunities that I have had throughout the PhD process and believe that the whole experience has prepared me for a career in academia.

6.5 Conclusions

The findings of this thesis indicate that the 4-hour abbreviated OFTT is a reliable test to assess postprandial lipid metabolism. However, the abbreviated 4-hour OFTT was not reproducible when moderate intensity exercise is performed immediately before the OFTT. Following the preliminary findings of this thesis, the role of an acute exercise session in improving insulin sensitivity as a mechanism for improving postprandial TGs should be reconsidered and further evaluated, especially in those with insulin resistance at increased risk of cardio-metabolic disease. Further consideration should also be given to the carbohydrate content within OFTT meals, particularly when utilised as an outcome measure within interventional studies. Finally, submaximal HIIE appears to be effective in attenuating postprandial TG when performed the evening before an OFTT in apparently healthy overweight men. However, contrary to existing literature, acute strawberry intake with an OFTT was not effective in reducing the adverse lipid related perturbations that occur in the postprandial period. These findings add novel information to the existing literature on several aspects of acute exercise and postprandial lipid metabolism. The included studies have offered an explanation for conflicting literature in the area of acute exercise interventions. Notably, this thesis has provided some data on the underlying mechanisms for postprandial responses in insulin resistant states that have been largely unchallenged or disregarded. Finally, this thesis highlights the potential health benefits of moderate and submaximal HIIE for reducing postprandial cardio-metabolic risk in young and middle-aged, overweight, sedentary adult males. Adopting these exercise strategies as part of daily lifestyle routines may therefore reduce cardio-metabolic risk in these cohorts.

- AKHAVAN, T., LUHOVYY, B. L., BROWN, P. H., CHO, C. E. & ANDERSON, G.
 H. 2010. Effect of premeal consumption of whey protein and its hydrolysate on food intake and postmeal glycemia and insulin responses in young adults. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 91, 966-75.
- AL-SHAYJI, I. A., CASLAKE, M. J. & GILL, J. M. 2012. Effects of moderate exercise on VLDL(1) and Intralipid kinetics in overweight/obese middle-aged men. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 302, E349-55.
- ALBERTI, K. G., ECKEL, R. H., GRUNDY, S. M., ZIMMET, P. Z., CLEEMAN, J. I., DONATO, K. A., FRUCHART, J. C., JAMES, W. P., LORIA, C. M. & SMITH, S. C., JR. 2009. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. *Circulation*, 120, 1640-5.
- ALBRINK, M. J., KRAUSS, R. M., LINDGREM, F. T., VON DER GROEBEN, J., PAN, S. & WOOD, P. D. 1980. Intercorrelations among plasma high density lipoprotein, obesity and triglycerides in a normal population. *Lipids*, 15, 668-76.
- ALIPOUR, A., ELTE, J. W., VAN ZAANEN, H. C., RIETVELD, A. P. & CASTRO CABEZAS, M. 2008a. Novel aspects of postprandial lipemia in relation to atherosclerosis. *Atheroscler Suppl*, 9, 39-44.
- ALIPOUR, A., VAN OOSTROM, A. J., IZRAELJAN, A., VERSEYDEN, C., COLLINS, J. M., FRAYN, K. N., PLOKKER, T. W., ELTE, J. W. & CASTRO CABEZAS, M. 2008b. Leukocyte activation by triglyceride-rich lipoproteins. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 28, 792-7.

- ALVAREZ-SUAREZ, J. M., GIAMPIERI, F., TULIPANI, S., CASOLI, T., DI STEFANO, G., GONZALEZ-PARAMAS, A. M., SANTOS-BUELGA, C., BUSCO, F., QUILES, J. L., CORDERO, M. D., BOMPADRE, S., MEZZETTI, B. & BATTINO, M. 2014. One-month strawberry-rich anthocyanin supplementation ameliorates cardiovascular risk, oxidative stress markers and platelet activation in humans. *J Nutr Biochem*, 25, 289-94.
- AMANI, R., MOAZEN, S., SHAHBAZIAN, H., AHMADI, K. & JALALI, M. T. 2014. Flavonoid-rich beverage effects on lipid profile and blood pressure in diabetic patients. World J Diabetes, 5, 962-8.
- ARJUNAN, S. P., BISHOP, N. C., REISCHAK-OLIVEIRA, A. & STENSEL, D. J. 2013. Exercise and coronary heart disease risk markers in South Asian and European men. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 45, 1261-8.
- ARJUNAN, S. P., DEIGHTON, K., BISHOP, N. C., KING, J., REISCHAK-OLIVEIRA, A., ROGAN, A., SEDGWICK, M., THACKRAY, A. E., WEBB, D. & STENSEL, D. J. 2015. The effect of prior walking on coronary heart disease risk markers in South Asian and European men. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 115, 2641-51.
- AUSTIN, M. A., HOKANSON, J. E. & EDWARDS, K. L. 1998. Hypertriglyceridemia as a cardiovascular risk factor. *Am J Cardiol*, 81, 7B-12B.
- AVIRAM, M., DORNFELD, L., ROSENBLAT, M., VOLKOVA, N., KAPLAN, M., COLEMAN, R., HAYEK, T., PRESSER, D. & FUHRMAN, B. 2000.
 Pomegranate juice consumption reduces oxidative stress, atherogenic modifications to LDL, and platelet aggregation: studies in humans and in atherosclerotic apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 71, 1062-76.
- AXELSEN, M., SMITH, U., ERIKSSON, J. W., TASKINEN, M. R. & JANSSON, P. A. 1999. Postprandial hypertriglyceridemia and insulin resistance in

normoglycemic first-degree relatives of patients with type 2 diabetes. *Ann Intern Med*, 131, 27-31.

- BALADY, G. J., ARENA, R., SIETSEMA, K., MYERS, J., COKE, L., FLETCHER,
 G. F., FORMAN, D., FRANKLIN, B., GUAZZI, M., GULATI, M.,
 KETEYIAN, S. J., LAVIE, C. J., MACKO, R., MANCINI, D. & MILANI, R.
 V. 2010. Clinician's Guide to cardiopulmonary exercise testing in adults: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 122, 191-225.
- BANSAL, S., BURING, J. E., RIFAI, N., MORA, S., SACKS, F. M. & RIDKER, P. M. 2007. Fasting compared with nonfasting triglycerides and risk of cardiovascular events in women. *JAMA*, 298, 309-16.
- BASU, A., BETTS, N. M., NGUYEN, A., NEWMAN, E. D., FU, D. & LYONS, T. J.2014a. Freeze-dried strawberries lower serum cholesterol and lipid peroxidation in adults with abdominal adiposity and elevated serum lipids. *J Nutr*, 144, 830-7.
- BASU, A., NGUYEN, A., BETTS, N. M. & LYONS, T. J. 2014b. Strawberry as a functional food: an evidence-based review. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*, 54, 790-806.
- BEAVER, W. L., WASSERMAN, K. & WHIPP, B. J. 1986. A new method for detecting anaerobic threshold by gas exchange. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 60, 2020-7.
- BEFROY, D. E. & SHULMAN, G. I. 2011. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies of human metabolism. *Diabetes*, 60, 1361-9.
- BELL, J. A., KIVIMAKI, M. & HAMER, M. 2014. Metabolically healthy obesity and risk of incident type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Obes Rev*, 15, 504-15.
- BERLIN, J. A. & COLDITZ, G. A. 1990. A meta-analysis of physical activity in the prevention of coronary heart disease. *Am J Epidemiol*, 132, 612-28.

- BLAND, J. M. & ALTMAN, D. G. 1999. Measuring agreement in method comparison studies. *Stat Methods Med Res*, 8, 135-60.
- BLÜML, S. 2013. Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy: Basics. MR Spectroscopy of Pediatric Brain Disorders. Springer, New York, NY.

BOEKHOLDT, S. M., ARSENAULT, B. J., MORA, S., PEDERSEN, T. R., LAROSA,
J. C., NESTEL, P. J., SIMES, R. J., DURRINGTON, P., HITMAN, G. A.,
WELCH, K. M., DEMICCO, D. A., ZWINDERMAN, A. H., CLEARFIELD,
M. B., DOWNS, J. R., TONKIN, A. M., COLHOUN, H. M., GOTTO, A. M.,
JR., RIDKER, P. M. & KASTELEIN, J. J. 2012. Association of LDL
cholesterol, non-HDL cholesterol, and apolipoprotein B levels with risk of
cardiovascular events among patients treated with statins: a meta-analysis. *Jama*, 307, 1302-9.

- BOREN, J., MATIKAINEN, N., ADIELS, M. & TASKINEN, M. R. 2014. Postprandial hypertriglyceridemia as a coronary risk factor. *Clin Chim Acta*, 431, 131-42.
- BOULLART, A. C., DE GRAAF, J. & STALENHOEF, A. F. 2012. Serum triglycerides and risk of cardiovascular disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1821, 867-75.
- BRIEL, M., FERREIRA-GONZALEZ, I., YOU, J. J., KARANICOLAS, P. J., AKL, E.
 A., WU, P., BLECHACZ, B., BASSLER, D., WEI, X., SHARMAN, A., WHITT, I., ALVES DA SILVA, S., KHALID, Z., NORDMANN, A. J., ZHOU, Q., WALTER, S. D., VALE, N., BHATNAGAR, N., O'REGAN, C., MILLS, E.
 J., BUCHER, H. C., MONTORI, V. M. & GUYATT, G. H. 2009. Association between change in high density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease morbidity and mortality: systematic review and meta-regression analysis. *Bmj*, 338, b92.

- BROWN, S. A., CHAMBLESS, L. E., SHARRETT, A. R., GOTTO, A. M., JR. & PATSCH, W. 1992. Postprandial lipemia: reliability in an epidemiologic field study. *Am J Epidemiol*, 136, 538-45.
- BURNS, S. F., MIYASHITA, M. & STENSEL, D. J. 2015. High-Intensity Interval Exercise and Postprandial Triacylglycerol. *Sports Med*, 45, 957-68.
- BURTON-FREEMAN, B., LINARES, A., HYSON, D. & KAPPAGODA, T. 2010. Strawberry modulates LDL oxidation and postprandial lipemia in response to high-fat meal in overweight hyperlipidemic men and women. J Am Coll Nutr, 29, 46-54.
- CAI, H. & HARRISON, D. G. 2000. Endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular diseases: the role of oxidant stress. *Circ Res*, 87, 840-4.
- CAMPBELL, M. D., WALKER, M., AJJAN, R. A., BIRCH, K. M., GONZALEZ, J. T.
 & WEST, D. J. 2017. An additional bolus of rapid-acting insulin to normalise postprandial cardiovascular risk factors following a high-carbohydrate high-fat meal in patients with type 1 diabetes: A randomised controlled trial. *Diab Vasc Dis Res*, 14, 336-344.
- CANALE, R. E., FARNEY, T. M., MCCARTHY, C. G. & BLOOMER, R. J. 2014. Influence of acute exercise of varying intensity and duration on postprandial oxidative stress. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 114, 1913-24.
- CAO, G., RUSSELL, R. M., LISCHNER, N. & PRIOR, R. L. 1998. Serum antioxidant capacity is increased by consumption of strawberries, spinach, red wine or vitamin C in elderly women. *J Nutr*, 128, 2383-90.
- CARSTENSEN, M., THOMSEN, C. & HERMANSEN, K. 2003. Incremental area under response curve more accurately describes the triglyceride response to an oral fat load in both healthy and type 2 diabetic subjects. *Metabolism*, 52, 1034-7.

- CARTEE, G. D. 2015. Mechanisms for greater insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in normal and insulin-resistant skeletal muscle after acute exercise. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 309, E949-59.
- CASSIDY, A., MUKAMAL, K. J., LIU, L., FRANZ, M., ELIASSEN, A. H. & RIMM,
 E. B. 2013. High anthocyanin intake is associated with a reduced risk of myocardial infarction in young and middle-aged women. *Circulation*, 127, 188-96.
- CATAPANO, A. L., GRAHAM, I., DE BACKER, G., WIKLUND, O., CHAPMAN,
 M. J., DREXEL, H., HOES, A. W., JENNINGS, C. S., LANDMESSER, U.,
 PEDERSEN, T. R., REINER, Z., RICCARDI, G., TASKINEN, M. R.,
 TOKGOZOGLU, L., VERSCHUREN, W. M., VLACHOPOULOS, C., WOOD,
 D. A. & ZAMORANO, J. L. 2016. 2016 ESC/EAS Guidelines for the
 Management of Dyslipidaemias: The Task Force for the Management of
 Dyslipidaemias of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and European
 Atherosclerosis Society (EAS)Developed with the special contribution of the
 European Assocciation for Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation
 (EACPR). Eur Heart J.
- CEBECI, F. & SAHIN-YESILCUBUK, N. 2014. The matrix effect of blueberry, oat meal and milk on polyphenols, antioxidant activity and potential bioavailability. *Int J Food Sci Nutr*, 65, 69-78.
- CHIU, C. H., BURNS, S. F., YANG, T. J., CHANG, Y. H., CHEN, Y. L., CHANG, C.
 K. & WU, C. L. 2014. Energy replacement using glucose does not increase postprandial lipemia after moderate intensity exercise. *Lipids Health Dis*, 13, 177.
- CHONG, M. F., FIELDING, B. A. & FRAYN, K. N. 2007. Mechanisms for the acute effect of fructose on postprandial lipemia. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 85, 1511-20.

- CHU, A., BOUTCHER, Y. N. & BOUTCHER, S. H. 2016. Effect of acute interval sprinting exercise on postprandial lipemia of sedentary young men. *J Exerc Nutrition Biochem*, 20, 9-14.
- CLEGG, M., MCCLEAN, C., DAVISON, W. G., MURPHY, H. M., TRINICK, T., DULY, E., MCLAUGHLIN, J., FOGARTY, M. & SHAFAT, A. 2007. Exercise and postprandial lipaemia: effects on peripheral vascular function, oxidative stress and gastrointestinal transit. *Lipids Health Dis*, 6, 30.
- CNOP, M., VIDAL, J., HULL, R. L., UTZSCHNEIDER, K. M., CARR, D. B., SCHRAW, T., SCHERER, P. E., BOYKO, E. J., FUJIMOTO, W. Y. & KAHN, S. E. 2007. Progressive loss of beta-cell function leads to worsening glucose tolerance in first-degree relatives of subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 30, 677-82.
- COHEN, J. 1988. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. 2nd ed. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- COHEN, J. C. & BERGER, G. M. 1990. Effects of glucose ingestion on postprandial lipemia and triglyceride clearance in humans. *J Lipid Res*, 31, 597-602.
- COHEN, J. C., NOAKES, T. D. & BENADE, A. J. 1988. Serum triglyceride responses to fatty meals: effects of meal fat content. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 47, 825-7.
- COHN, J. S. 2006. Postprandial lipemia and remnant lipoproteins. *Clin Lab Med*, 26, 773-86.
- COLBERG, S. R., SIGAL, R. J., FERNHALL, B., REGENSTEINER, J. G., BLISSMER, B. J., RUBIN, R. R., CHASAN-TABER, L., ALBRIGHT, A. L. & BRAUN, B. 2010. Exercise and type 2 diabetes: the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Diabetes Association: joint position statement executive summary. *Diabetes Care*, 33, 2692-6.

- COLHOUN, H. M., OTVOS, J. D., RUBENS, M. B., TASKINEN, M. R., UNDERWOOD, S. R. & FULLER, J. H. 2002. Lipoprotein subclasses and particle sizes and their relationship with coronary artery calcification in men and women with and without type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 51, 1949-56.
- COLLINS, R., REITH, C., EMBERSON, J., ARMITAGE, J., BAIGENT, C., BLACKWELL, L., BLUMENTHAL, R., DANESH, J., SMITH, G. D., DEMETS, D., EVANS, S., LAW, M., MACMAHON, S., MARTIN, S., NEAL, B., POULTER, N., PREISS, D., RIDKER, P., ROBERTS, I., RODGERS, A., SANDERCOCK, P., SCHULZ, K., SEVER, P., SIMES, J., SMEETH, L., WALD, N., YUSUF, S. & PETO, R. 2016. Interpretation of the evidence for the efficacy and safety of statin therapy. *Lancet*, 388, 2532-2561.
- CONROY, R. M., PYORALA, K., FITZGERALD, A. P., SANS, S., MENOTTI, A., DE BACKER, G., DE BACQUER, D., DUCIMETIERE, P., JOUSILAHTI, P., KEIL, U., NJOLSTAD, I., OGANOV, R. G., THOMSEN, T., TUNSTALL-PEDOE, H., TVERDAL, A., WEDEL, H., WHINCUP, P., WILHELMSEN, L. & GRAHAM, I. M. 2003. Estimation of ten-year risk of fatal cardiovascular disease in Europe: the SCORE project. *Eur Heart J*, 24, 987-1003.
- COX-YORK, K. A., SHARP, T. A., STOTZ, S. A., BESSESEN, D. H., PAGLIASSOTTI, M. J. & HORTON, T. J. 2013. The effects of sex, metabolic syndrome and exercise on postprandial lipemia. *Metabolism*, 62, 244-54.
- DAVIS, J. A., FRANK, M. H., WHIPP, B. J. & WASSERMAN, K. 1979. Anaerobic threshold alterations caused by endurance training in middle-aged men. J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol, 46, 1039-46.
- DE VRIES, M. A., KLOP, B., ESKES, S. A., VAN DER LOOS, T. L., KLESSENS-GODFROY, F. J., WIEBOLT, J., JANSSEN, H. W., WESTERMAN, E. M. &

CASTRO CABEZAS, M. 2014. The postprandial situation as a proinflammatory condition. *Clin Investig Arterioscler*, 26, 184-92.

- DEKKER, M. J., GRAHAM, T. E., OOI, T. C. & ROBINSON, L. E. 2010. Exercise prior to fat ingestion lowers fasting and postprandial VLDL and decreases adipose tissue IL-6 and GIP receptor mRNA in hypertriacylglycerolemic men. *J Nutr Biochem*, 21, 983-90.
- DIMITRIADIS, G., MITROU, P., LAMBADIARI, V., MARATOU, E. & RAPTIS, S.
 A. 2011. Insulin effects in muscle and adipose tissue. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*, 93 Suppl 1, S52-9.
- DUBOIS, C., BEAUMIER, G., JUHEL, C., ARMAND, M., PORTUGAL, H., PAULI, A. M., BOREL, P., LATGE, C. & LAIRON, D. 1998. Effects of graded amounts (0-50 g) of dietary fat on postprandial lipemia and lipoproteins in normolipidemic adults. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 67, 31-8.
- EDIRISINGHE, I., BANASZEWSKI, K., CAPPOZZO, J., SANDHYA, K., ELLIS, C. L., TADAPANENI, R., KAPPAGODA, C. T. & BURTON-FREEMAN, B. M. 2011. Strawberry anthocyanin and its association with postprandial inflammation and insulin. *Br J Nutr*, 106, 913-22.
- ELDRIDGE, S. M., CHAN, C. L., CAMPBELL, M. J., BOND, C. M., HOPEWELL, S., THABANE, L. & LANCASTER, G. A. 2016. CONSORT 2010 statement: extension to randomised pilot and feasibility trials. *Bmj*, 355, i5239.
- EMERSON, S. R., KURTI, S. P., SNYDER, B. S., SITARAMAN, K., HAUB, M. D. & ROSENKRANZ, S. K. 2016. Effects of thirty and sixty minutes of moderateintensity aerobic exercise on postprandial lipemia and inflammation in overweight men: a randomized cross-over study. *J Int Soc Sports Nutr*, 13, 26.
- ERIKSSON, J., FRANSSILA-KALLUNKI, A., EKSTRAND, A., SALORANTA, C., WIDEN, E., SCHALIN, C. & GROOP, L. 1989. Early metabolic defects in

persons at increased risk for non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med, 321, 337-43.

- ESKELINEN, J. J., HEINONEN, I., LOYTTYNIEMI, E., HAKALA, J., HEISKANEN, M. A., MOTIANI, K. K., VIRTANEN, K., PARKKA, J. P., KNUUTI, J., HANNUKAINEN, J. C. & KALLIOKOSKI, K. K. 2016a. Left-ventricular vascular and metabolic adaptations to high-intensity interval and moderate intensity continuous training: A randomized trial in healthy middle-aged men. J *Physiol*.
- ESKELINEN, J. J., HEINONEN, I., LOYTTYNIEMI, E., HAKALA, J., HEISKANEN, M. A., MOTIANI, K. K., VIRTANEN, K., PARKKA, J. P., KNUUTI, J., HANNUKAINEN, J. C. & KALLIOKOSKI, K. K. 2016b. Left ventricular vascular and metabolic adaptations to high-intensity interval and moderate intensity continuous training: a randomized trial in healthy middle-aged men. J *Physiol*, 594, 7127-7140.
- FERREIRA, A. P., FERREIRA, C. B., SOUZA, V. C., CORDOVA, C. O., SILVA, G. C., NOBREGA ODE, T. & FRANCA, N. M. 2011. The influence of intense intermittent versus moderate continuous exercise on postprandial lipemia. *Clinics (Sao Paulo)*, 66, 535-41.
- FRAYN, K. N. 2002. Adipose tissue as a buffer for daily lipid flux. *Diabetologia*, 45, 1201-10.
- FREESE, E. C., GIST, N. H., ACITELLI, R. M., MCCONNELL, W. J., BECK, C. D., HAUSMAN, D. B., MURROW, J. R., CURETON, K. J. & EVANS, E. M. 2015. Acute and chronic effects of sprint interval exercise on postprandial lipemia in women at-risk for the metabolic syndrome. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 118, 872-9.

- FREESE, E. C., GIST, N. H. & CURETON, K. J. 2014. Effect of prior exercise on postprandial lipemia: an updated quantitative review. J Appl Physiol (1985), 116, 67-75.
- FRIEDEWALD, W. T., LEVY, R. I. & FREDRICKSON, D. S. 1972. Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. *Clin Chem*, 18, 499-502.
- FULCHER, J., O'CONNELL, R., VOYSEY, M., EMBERSON, J., BLACKWELL, L., MIHAYLOVA, B., SIMES, J., COLLINS, R., KIRBY, A., COLHOUN, H., BRAUNWALD, E., LA ROSA, J., PEDERSEN, T. R., TONKIN, A., DAVIS,
 B., SLEIGHT, P., FRANZOSI, M. G., BAIGENT, C. & KEECH, A. 2015. Efficacy and safety of LDL-lowering therapy among men and women: metaanalysis of individual data from 174,000 participants in 27 randomised trials. *Lancet*, 385, 1397-405.
- FULLER, K. N. Z., SUMMERS, C. M. & VALENTINE, R. J. 2017. Effect of a single bout of aerobic exercise on high-fat meal-induced inflammation. *Metabolism*, 71, 144-152.
- GHAFOURI, K., COONEY, J., BEDFORD, D. K., WILSON, J., CASLAKE, M. J. & GILL, J. M. 2015. Moderate Exercise Increases Affinity of Large Very Low-Density Lipoproteins for Hydrolysis by Lipoprotein Lipase. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 100, 2205-13.
- GIAMPIERI, F., TULIPANI, S., ALVAREZ-SUAREZ, J. M., QUILES, J. L., MEZZETTI, B. & BATTINO, M. 2012. The strawberry: composition, nutritional quality, and impact on human health. *Nutrition*, 28, 9-19.
- GIBALA, M. J., LITTLE, J. P., MACDONALD, M. J. & HAWLEY, J. A. 2012. Physiological adaptations to low-volume, high-intensity interval training in health and disease. *J Physiol*, 590, 1077-84.

- GILL, J. M., BROWN, J. C., BEDFORD, D., WRIGHT, D. M., COONEY, J., HUGHES, D. A., PACKARD, C. J. & CASLAKE, M. J. 2004. Hepatic production of VLDL1 but not VLDL2 is related to insulin resistance in normoglycaemic middle-aged subjects. *Atherosclerosis*, 176, 49-56.
- GILL, J. M., HERD, S. L., TSETSONIS, N. V. & HARDMAN, A. E. 2002. Are the reductions in triacylglycerol and insulin levels after exercise related? *Clin Sci* (*Lond*), 102, 223-31.
- GILL, J. M., MALKOVA, D. & HARDMAN, A. E. 2005. Reproducibility of an oral fat tolerance test is influenced by phase of menstrual cycle. *Horm Metab Res*, 37, 336-41.
- GILL, J. M., MURPHY, M. H. & HARDMAN, A. E. 1998. Postprandial lipemia: effects of intermittent versus continuous exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 30, 1515-20.
- GILLEN, J. B. & GIBALA, M. J. 2014. Is high-intensity interval training a timeefficient exercise strategy to improve health and fitness? *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 39, 409-12.
- GINSBERG, H. N. 1997. Is hypertriglyceridemia a risk factor for atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease? A simple question with a complicated answer. *Ann Intern Med*, 126, 912-4.
- GINSBERG, H. N. 2000. Insulin resistance and cardiovascular disease. *J Clin Invest*, 106, 453-8.
- GINSBERG, H. N. & FISHER, E. A. 2009. The ever-expanding role of degradation in the regulation of apolipoprotein B metabolism. *J Lipid Res*, 50 Suppl, S162-6.
- GINSBERG, H. N. & ILLINGWORTH, D. R. 2001. Postprandial dyslipidemia: an atherogenic disorder common in patients with diabetes mellitus. *Am J Cardiol*, 88, 9h-15h.

- GINSBERG, H. N., ZHANG, Y. L. & HERNANDEZ-ONO, A. 2005. Regulation of plasma triglycerides in insulin resistance and diabetes. *Arch Med Res*, 36, 232-40.
- GRANER, M., KAHRI, J., NAKANO, T., SARNA, S. J., NIEMINEN, M. S., SYVANNE, M. & TASKINEN, M. R. 2006. Impact of postprandial lipaemia on low-density lipoprotein (LDL) size and oxidized LDL in patients with coronary artery disease. *Eur J Clin Invest*, 36, 764-70.
- HALCOX, J. P., SCHENKE, W. H., ZALOS, G., MINCEMOYER, R., PRASAD, A., WACLAWIW, M. A., NOUR, K. R. & QUYYUMI, A. A. 2002. Prognostic value of coronary vascular endothelial dysfunction. *Circulation*, 106, 653-8.
- HALLIWELL, B. 2008. Are polyphenols antioxidants or pro-oxidants? What do we learn from cell culture and in vivo studies? *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 476, 107-12.
- HAMILTON, M. T., ETIENNE, J., MCCLURE, W. C., PAVEY, B. S. & HOLLOWAY, A. K. 1998. Role of local contractile activity and muscle fiber type on LPL regulation during exercise. *Am J Physiol*, 275, E1016-22.
- HARASYM, J. & OLEDZKI, R. 2014. Effect of fruit and vegetable antioxidants on total antioxidant capacity of blood plasma. *Nutrition*, 30, 511-7.
- HARIRI, S., YOON, P. W., QURESHI, N., VALDEZ, R., SCHEUNER, M. T. & KHOURY, M. J. 2006. Family history of type 2 diabetes: a population-based screening tool for prevention? *Genet Med*, 8, 102-8.
- HARRISON, M., MOYNA, N. M., ZDERIC, T. W., O'GORMAN, D. J., MCCAFFREY, N., CARSON, B. P. & HAMILTON, M. T. 2012. Lipoprotein particle distribution and skeletal muscle lipoprotein lipase activity after acute exercise. *Lipids Health Dis*, 11, 64.

- HAYASHI, H., FUJIMOTO, K., CARDELLI, J. A., NUTTING, D. F., BERGSTEDT,S. & TSO, P. 1990. Fat feeding increases size, but not number, of chylomicrons produced by small intestine. *Am J Physiol*, 259, G709-19.
- HEINRICH, K. M., PATEL, P. M., O'NEAL, J. L. & HEINRICH, B. S. 2014. Highintensity compared to moderate-intensity training for exercise initiation, enjoyment, adherence, and intentions: an intervention study. *BMC Public Health*, 14, 789.
- HEMMINKI, K., LI, X., SUNDQUIST, K. & SUNDQUIST, J. 2010. Familial risks for type 2 diabetes in Sweden. *Diabetes Care*, 33, 293-7.
- HENNINGER, A. M., ELIASSON, B., JENNDAHL, L. E. & HAMMARSTEDT, A. 2014. Adipocyte hypertrophy, inflammation and fibrosis characterize subcutaneous adipose tissue of healthy, non-obese subjects predisposed to type 2 diabetes. *PLoS One*, 9, e105262.
- HERD, S. L., KIENS, B., BOOBIS, L. H. & HARDMAN, A. E. 2001. Moderate exercise, postprandial lipemia, and skeletal muscle lipoprotein lipase activity. *Metabolism*, 50, 756-62.
- HERD, S. L., LAWRENCE, J. E., MALKOVA, D., MURPHY, M. H., MASTANA, S.
 & HARDMAN, A. E. 2000. Postprandial lipemia in young men and women of contrasting training status. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 89, 2049-56.
- HERTOG, M. G., KROMHOUT, D., ARAVANIS, C., BLACKBURN, H., BUZINA, R., FIDANZA, F., GIAMPAOLI, S., JANSEN, A., MENOTTI, A., NEDELJKOVIC, S. & ET AL. 1995. Flavonoid intake and long-term risk of coronary heart disease and cancer in the seven countries study. *Arch Intern Med*, 155, 381-6.
- HOLMER-JENSEN, J., MORTENSEN, L. S., ASTRUP, A., DE VRESE, M., HOLST, J. J., THOMSEN, C. & HERMANSEN, K. 2013. Acute differential effects of

dietary protein quality on postprandial lipemia in obese non-diabetic subjects. Nutr Res, 33, 34-40.

- HURREN, N. M., EVES, F. F. & BLANNIN, A. K. 2011. Is the effect of prior exercise on postprandial lipaemia the same for a moderate-fat meal as it is for a high-fat meal? *Br J Nutr*, 105, 506-16.
- HWANG, J. H. & CHOI, C. S. 2015. Use of in vivo magnetic resonance spectroscopy for studying metabolic diseases. *Exp Mol Med*, 47, e139.
- HYSON, D., RUTLEDGE, J. C. & BERGLUND, L. 2003. Postprandial lipemia and cardiovascular disease. *Curr Atheroscler Rep*, 5, 437-44.
- INTERNATIONAL DIABETES FEDERATION 2015. IDF Diabetes Atlas, . International Diabetes Federation, Brussels, Belgium.
- IQBAL, J. & HUSSAIN, M. M. 2009. Intestinal lipid absorption. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 296, E1183-94.
- JACKSON, K. G., POPPITT, S. D. & MINIHANE, A. M. 2012. Postprandial lipemia and cardiovascular disease risk: Interrelationships between dietary, physiological and genetic determinants. *Atherosclerosis*, 220, 22-33.
- JAFARI-KOSHKI, T., MANSOURIAN, M., HOSSEINI, S. M. & AMINI, M. 2016. Association of waist and hip circumference and waist-hip ratio with type 2 diabetes risk in first-degree relatives. *J Diabetes Complications*, 30, 1050-5.
- JARRAR, S. F. & OBEID, O. A. 2014. Timing of caffeine ingestion alters postprandial metabolism in rats. *Nutrition*, 30, 107-11.
- JENKINS, N. T., LANDERS, R. Q., THAKKAR, S. R., FAN, X., BROWN, M. D., PRIOR, S. J., SPANGENBURG, E. E. & HAGBERG, J. M. 2011. Prior endurance exercise prevents postprandial lipaemia-induced increases in reactive oxygen species in circulating CD31+ cells. J Physiol, 589, 5539-53.

- JEUKENDRUP, A. E. & WALLIS, G. A. 2005. Measurement of substrate oxidation during exercise by means of gas exchange measurements. *Int J Sports Med*, 26 Suppl 1, S28-37.
- JOHANSON, E. H., JANSSON, P. A., GUSTAFSON, B., LONN, L., SMITH, U., TASKINEN, M. R. & AXELSEN, M. 2004. Early alterations in the postprandial VLDL1 apoB-100 and apoB-48 metabolism in men with strong heredity for type 2 diabetes. *J Intern Med*, 255, 273-9.
- JOHNSON, A. M., KURTI, S. P., SMITH, J. R., ROSENKRANZ, S. K. & HARMS, C. A. 2016. Effects of an acute bout of moderate-intensity exercise on postprandial lipemia and airway inflammation. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 41, 284-91.
- JOINT WHO/FAO EXPERT CONSULTATION 2003. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. *World Health Organisation Technical Report Series*.
- JOYNER, M. J. & COYLE, E. F. 2008. Endurance exercise performance: the physiology of champions. *J Physiol*, 586, 35-44.
- JULVE, J., MARTIN-CAMPOS, J. M., ESCOLA-GIL, J. C. & BLANCO-VACA, F. 2016. Chylomicrons: Advances in biology, pathology, laboratory testing, and therapeutics. *Clin Chim Acta*, 455, 134-48.
- JUNG, U. J. & CHOI, M. S. 2014. Obesity and its metabolic complications: the role of adipokines and the relationship between obesity, inflammation, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Int J Mol Sci*, 15, 6184-223.
- KARPE, F. 1999. Postprandial lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis. *J Intern Med*, 246, 341-55.
- KARPE, F., BICKERTON, A. S., HODSON, L., FIELDING, B. A., TAN, G. D. & FRAYN, K. N. 2007. Removal of triacylglycerols from chylomicrons and

VLDL by capillary beds: the basis of lipoprotein remnant formation. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 35, 472-6.

- KARPE, F., STEINER, G., UFFELMAN, K., OLIVECRONA, T. & HAMSTEN, A. 1994. Postprandial lipoproteins and progression of coronary atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*, 106, 83-97.
- KATSANOS, C. S., GRANDJEAN, P. W. & MOFFATT, R. J. 2004. Effects of low and moderate exercise intensity on postprandial lipemia and postheparin plasma lipoprotein lipase activity in physically active men. J Appl Physiol (1985), 96, 181-8.
- KATSANOS, C. S. & MOFFATT, R. J. 2004. Acute effects of premeal versus postmeal exercise on postprandial hypertriglyceridemia. *Clin J Sport Med*, 14, 33-9.
- KAVIANI, M., CHILIBECK, P. D., YEE, P. & ZELLO, G. A. 2016. The effect of consuming low- versus high-glycemic index meals after exercise on postprandial blood lipid response following a next-day high-fat meal. *Nutr Diabetes*, 6, e216.
- KERSTEN, S. 2014. Physiological regulation of lipoprotein lipase. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1841, 919-33.
- KHAN, A., LASKER, S. S. & CHOWDHURY, T. A. 2003. Are spouses of patients with type 2 diabetes at increased risk of developing diabetes? *Diabetes Care*, 26, 710-2.
- KHAN, N., KHYMENETS, O., URPI-SARDA, M., TULIPANI, S., GARCIA-ALOY, M., MONAGAS, M., MORA-CUBILLOS, X., LLORACH, R. & ANDRES-LACUEVA, C. 2014. Cocoa polyphenols and inflammatory markers of cardiovascular disease. *Nutrients*, 6, 844-80.
- KILPATRICK, M. W., GREELEY, S. J. & FERRON, J. M. 2016. A comparison of the impacts of continuous and interval cycle exercise on perceived exertion. *Eur J Sport Sci*, 16, 221-8.

- KIM, I. Y., PARK, S., TROMBOLD, J. R. & COYLE, E. F. 2014. Effects of moderateand intermittent low-intensity exercise on postprandial lipemia. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 46, 1882-90.
- KOLOVOU, G. D., MIKHAILIDIS, D. P., KOVAR, J., LAIRON, D., NORDESTGAARD, B. G., OOI, T. C., PEREZ-MARTINEZ, P., BILIANOU,
 H., ANAGNOSTOPOULOU, K. & PANOTOPOULOS, G. 2011. Assessment and clinical relevance of non-fasting and postprandial triglycerides: an expert panel statement. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol*, 9, 258-70.
- KRIKETOS, A., MILNER, K. L., DENYER, G. & CAMPBELL, L. 2005. Is postprandial hypertriglyceridaemia in relatives of type 2 diabetic subjects a consequence of insulin resistance? *Eur J Clin Invest*, 35, 117-25.
- KRIKETOS, A. D., GREENFIELD, J. R., PEAKE, P. W., FURLER, S. M., DENYER,
 G. S., CHARLESWORTH, J. A. & CAMPBELL, L. V. 2004. Inflammation,
 insulin resistance, and adiposity: a study of first-degree relatives of type 2
 diabetic subjects. *Diabetes Care*, 27, 2033-40.
- KRIKETOS, A. D., SAM, W., SCHUBERT, T., MACLEAN, E. & CAMPBELL, L. V. 2003. Postprandial triglycerides in response to high fat: role of dietary carbohydrate. *Eur J Clin Invest*, 33, 383-9.
- KRUG, S., KASTENMULLER, G., STUCKLER, F., RIST, M. J., SKURK, T., SAILER, M., RAFFLER, J., ROMISCH-MARGL, W., ADAMSKI, J., PREHN, C., FRANK, T., ENGEL, K. H., HOFMANN, T., LUY, B., ZIMMERMANN, R., MORITZ, F., SCHMITT-KOPPLIN, P., KRUMSIEK, J., KREMER, W., HUBER, F., OEH, U., THEIS, F. J., SZYMCZAK, W., HAUNER, H., SUHRE, K. & DANIEL, H. 2012. The dynamic range of the human metabolome revealed by challenges. *Faseb j*, 26, 2607-19.

- LAIRON, D., LOPEZ-MIRANDA, J. & WILLIAMS, C. 2007. Methodology for studying postprandial lipid metabolism. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 61, 1145-61.
- LAMARCHE, B., UFFELMAN, K. D., CARPENTIER, A., COHN, J. S., STEINER, G., BARRETT, P. H. & LEWIS, G. F. 1999. Triglyceride enrichment of HDL enhances in vivo metabolic clearance of HDL apo A-I in healthy men. *J Clin Invest*, 103, 1191-9.
- LAMBERT, J. E. & PARKS, E. J. 2012. Getting the label in: practical research strategies for tracing dietary fat. *Int J Obes Suppl*, 2, S43-50.
- LEONG, A., RAHME, E. & DASGUPTA, K. 2014. Spousal diabetes as a diabetes risk factor: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Med*, 12, 12.
- LEWIS, G. F. & STEINER, G. 1996. Hypertriglyceridemia and its metabolic consequences as a risk factor for atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Metab Rev*, 12, 37-56.
- LI, J. & SIEGRIST, J. 2012. Physical activity and risk of cardiovascular disease--a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 9, 391-407.
- LITHANDER, F. E., HERLIHY, L. K., WALSH, D. M., BURKE, E., CROWLEY, V. & MAHMUD, A. 2013. Postprandial effect of dietary fat quantity and quality on arterial stiffness and wave reflection: a randomised controlled trial. *Nutr J*, 12, 93.
- LITTLE, J. P., SAFDAR, A., WILKIN, G. P., TARNOPOLSKY, M. A. & GIBALA, M. J. 2010. A practical model of low-volume high-intensity interval training induces mitochondrial biogenesis in human skeletal muscle: potential mechanisms. *J Physiol*, 588, 1011-22.
- LITTLEFIELD, L. A., PAPADAKIS, Z., ROGERS, K. M., MONCADA-JIMENEZ, J., TAYLOR, J. K. & GRANDJEAN, P. W. 2017. The effect of exercise intensity

and excess postexercise oxygen consumption on postprandial blood lipids in physically inactive men. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 1-8.

- LOPES KRUGER, R., COSTA TEIXEIRA, B., BOUFLEUR FARINHA, J., CAUDURO OLIVEIRA MACEDO, R., PINTO BOENO, F., RECH, A., LOPEZ, P., SILVEIRA PINTO, R. & REISCHAK-OLIVEIRA, A. 2016. Effect of exercise intensity on postprandial lipemia, markers of oxidative stress, and endothelial function after a high-fat meal. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 41, 1278-1284.
- LOPEZ-MIRANDA, J., WILLIAMS, C. & LAIRON, D. 2007. Dietary, physiological, genetic and pathological influences on postprandial lipid metabolism. *Br J Nutr*, 98, 458-73.
- MADEC, S., CORRETTI, V., SANTINI, E., FERRANNINI, E. & SOLINI, A. 2011. Effect of a fatty meal on inflammatory markers in healthy volunteers with a family history of type 2 diabetes. *Br J Nutr*, 106, 364-8.
- MAGKOS, F. & MITTENDORFER, B. 2009. Stable isotope-labeled tracers for the investigation of fatty acid and triglyceride metabolism in humans in vivo. *Clin Lipidol*, 4, 215-230.
- MAGKOS, F., PATTERSON, B. W., MOHAMMED, B. S., KLEIN, S. & MITTENDORFER, B. 2007. Women produce fewer but triglyceride-richer very low-density lipoproteins than men. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 92, 1311-8.
- MAGKOS, F., TSEKOURAS, Y., KAVOURAS, S. A., MITTENDORFER, B. & SIDOSSIS, L. S. 2008a. Improved insulin sensitivity after a single bout of exercise is curvilinearly related to exercise energy expenditure. *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 114, 59-64.
- MAGKOS, F., TSEKOURAS, Y. E., PRENTZAS, K. I., BASIOUKAS, K. N., MATSAMA, S. G., YANNI, A. E., KAVOURAS, S. A. & SIDOSSIS, L. S.

2008b. Acute exercise-induced changes in basal VLDL-triglyceride kinetics leading to hypotriglyceridemia manifest more readily after resistance than endurance exercise. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 105, 1228-36.

- MALMSTROM, R., PACKARD, C. J., CASLAKE, M., BEDFORD, D., STEWART, P., YKI-JARVINEN, H., SHEPHERD, J. & TASKINEN, M. R. 1997. Defective regulation of triglyceride metabolism by insulin in the liver in NIDDM. *Diabetologia*, 40, 454-62.
- MALMSTROM, R., PACKARD, C. J., CASLAKE, M., BEDFORD, D., STEWART, P., YKI-JARVINEN, H., SHEPHERD, J. & TASKINEN, M. R. 1998. Effects of insulin and acipimox on VLDL1 and VLDL2 apolipoprotein B production in normal subjects. *Diabetes*, 47, 779-87.
- MARAKI, M., AGGELOPOULOU, N., CHRISTODOULOU, N., KATSAROU, C.,
 ANAPLIOTIS, P., KAVOURAS, S. A., PANAGIOTAKOS, D. & SIDOSSIS,
 L. S. 2011. Validity of abbreviated oral fat tolerance tests for assessing postprandial lipemia. *Clin Nutr*, 30, 852-7.
- MARAKI, M., MAGKOS, F., CHRISTODOULOU, N., AGGELOPOULOU, N., SKENDERI, K. P., PANAGIOTAKOS, D., KAVOURAS, S. A. & SIDOSSIS, L. S. 2010. One day of moderate energy deficit reduces fasting and postprandial triacylglycerolemia in women: the role of calorie restriction and exercise. *Clin Nutr*, 29, 459-63.
- MARAKI, M. I. & SIDOSSIS, L. S. 2013. The latest on the effect of prior exercise on postprandial lipaemia. *Sports Med*, 43, 463-81.
- MARTINS, C., MORGAN, L. M., BLOOM, S. R. & ROBERTSON, M. D. 2007. Effects of exercise on gut peptides, energy intake and appetite. *J Endocrinol*, 193, 251-8.

- MATSUDA, M. & DEFRONZO, R. A. 1999. Insulin sensitivity indices obtained from oral glucose tolerance testing: comparison with the euglycemic insulin clamp. *Diabetes Care*, 22, 1462-70.
- MATTHEWS, J. N., ALTMAN, D. G., CAMPBELL, M. J. & ROYSTON, P. 1990. Analysis of serial measurements in medical research. *BMJ*, 300, 230-5.
- MC CLEAN, C. M., MC LAUGHLIN, J., BURKE, G., MURPHY, M. H., TRINICK, T., DULY, E. & DAVISON, G. W. 2007. The effect of acute aerobic exercise on pulse wave velocity and oxidative stress following postprandial hypertriglyceridemia in healthy men. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 100, 225-34.
- MICHELSEN, A. E., NOTO, A. T., BRODIN, E., MATHIESEN, E. B., BROSSTAD,F. & HANSEN, J. B. 2009. Elevated levels of platelet microparticles in carotid atherosclerosis and during the postprandial state. *Thromb Res*, 123, 881-6.
- MIDGLEY, A. W., MCNAUGHTON, L. R., POLMAN, R. & MARCHANT, D. 2007. Criteria for determination of maximal oxygen uptake: a brief critique and recommendations for future research. *Sports Med*, 37, 1019-28.
- MIHAS, C., KOLOVOU, G. D., MIKHAILIDIS, D. P., KOVAR, J., LAIRON, D., NORDESTGAARD, B. G., OOI, T. C., PEREZ-MARTINEZ, P., BILIANOU,
 H., ANAGNOSTOPOULOU, K. & PANOTOPOULOS, G. 2011. Diagnostic value of postprandial triglyceride testing in healthy subjects: a meta-analysis. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol*, 9, 271-80.
- MILLER, M., LANGENBERG, P. & HAVAS, S. 2007. Impact of lowering triglycerides on raising HDL-C in hypertriglyceridemic and nonhypertriglyceridemic subjects. *Int J Cardiol*, 119, 192-5.
- MILLER, M., STONE, N. J., BALLANTYNE, C., BITTNER, V., CRIQUI, M. H., GINSBERG, H. N., GOLDBERG, A. C., HOWARD, W. J., JACOBSON, M. S., KRIS-ETHERTON, P. M., LENNIE, T. A., LEVI, M., MAZZONE, T. &
PENNATHUR, S. 2011. Triglycerides and cardiovascular disease: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 123, 2292-333.

- MIYASHITA, M. 2008. Effects of continuous versus accumulated activity patterns on postprandial triacylglycerol concentrations in obese men. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 32, 1271-8.
- MIYASHITA, M., BURNS, S. F. & STENSEL, D. J. 2006. Exercise and postprandial lipemia: effect of continuous compared with intermittent activity patterns. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 83, 24-9.
- MIYASHITA, M., BURNS, S. F. & STENSEL, D. J. 2008. Accumulating short bouts of brisk walking reduces postprandial plasma triacylglycerol concentrations and resting blood pressure in healthy young men. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 88, 1225-31.
- MIYASHITA, M., BURNS, S. F. & STENSEL, D. J. 2011. Accumulating short bouts of running reduces resting blood pressure in young normotensive/prehypertensive men. *J Sports Sci*, 29, 1473-82.
- MIYASHITA, M. & TOKUYAMA, K. 2008. Moderate exercise reduces serum triacylglycerol concentrations but does not affect pre-heparin lipoprotein lipase concentrations after a moderate-fat meal in young men. *Br J Nutr*, 99, 1076-82.
- MONFORT-PIRES, M., DELGADO-LISTA, J., GOMEZ-DELGADO, F., LOPEZ-MIRANDA, J., PEREZ-MARTINEZ, P. & FERREIRA, S. R. 2016. Impact of the Content of Fatty Acids of Oral Fat Tolerance Tests on Postprandial Triglyceridemia: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Nutrients*, 8.
- MOZAFFARIAN, D. 2016. Dietary and Policy Priorities for Cardiovascular Disease, Diabetes, and Obesity: A Comprehensive Review. *Circulation*, 133, 187-225.
- MUREA, M., MA, L. & FREEDMAN, B. I. 2012. Genetic and environmental factors associated with type 2 diabetes and diabetic vascular complications. *Rev Diabet Stud*, 9, 6-22.

- MURPHY, M. C., ISHERWOOD, S. G., SETHI, S., GOULD, B. J., WRIGHT, J. W., KNAPPER, J. A. & WILLIAMS, C. M. 1995. Postprandial lipid and hormone responses to meals of varying fat contents: modulatory role of lipoprotein lipase? *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 49, 578-88.
- NAKAJIMA, K., NAKANO, T., TOKITA, Y., NAGAMINE, T., INAZU, A., KOBAYASHI, J., MABUCHI, H., STANHOPE, K. L., HAVEL, P. J., OKAZAKI, M., AI, M. & TANAKA, A. 2011. Postprandial lipoprotein metabolism: VLDL vs chylomicrons. *Clin Chim Acta*, 412, 1306-18.
- NATELLA, F., BELELLI, F., GENTILI, V., URSINI, F. & SCACCINI, C. 2002. Grape seed proanthocyanidins prevent plasma postprandial oxidative stress in humans. *J Agric Food Chem*, 50, 7720-5.
- NELSON, R. H. 2013. Hyperlipidemia as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease. *Prim Care*, 40, 195-211.
- NILSSON, M., STENBERG, M., FRID, A. H., HOLST, J. J. & BJORCK, I. M. 2004. Glycemia and insulinemia in healthy subjects after lactose-equivalent meals of milk and other food proteins: the role of plasma amino acids and incretins. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 80, 1246-53.
- NORDESTGAARD, B. G. 2016. Triglyceride-Rich Lipoproteins and Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease: New Insights From Epidemiology, Genetics, and Biology. *Circ Res*, 118, 547-63.
- NORDESTGAARD, B. G., BENN, M., SCHNOHR, P. & TYBJAERG-HANSEN, A. 2007. Nonfasting triglycerides and risk of myocardial infarction, ischemic heart disease, and death in men and women. *Jama*, 298, 299-308.
- NORDESTGAARD, B. G. & FREIBERG, J. J. 2011. Clinical relevance of non-fasting and postprandial hypertriglyceridemia and remnant cholesterol. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol*, 9, 281-6.

- NORDESTGAARD, B. G. & VARBO, A. 2014. Triglycerides and cardiovascular disease. *Lancet*, 384, 626-35.
- NYHOLM, B., NIELSEN, M. F., KRISTENSEN, K., NIELSEN, S., OSTERGARD, T., PEDERSEN, S. B., CHRISTIANSEN, T., RICHELSEN, B., JENSEN, M. D. & SCHMITZ, O. 2004. Evidence of increased visceral obesity and reduced physical fitness in healthy insulin-resistant first-degree relatives of type 2 diabetic patients. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 150, 207-14.
- O'DOHERTY, A. F., JONES, H. S., SATHYAPALAN, T., INGLE, L. & CARROLL, S. 2017. The Effects of Acute Interval Exercise and Strawberry Intake on Postprandial Lipaemia. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, Publish Ahead of Print.
- O'DOHERTY, A. F., SATHYAPALAN, T., RIGBY, A. S., INGLE, L. & CARROLL, S. 2016. The repeatability of the abbreviated (4-h) Oral Fat Tolerance Test and influence of prior acute aerobic exercise. *Eur J Nutr*, [epublication]: 16.10.2016.
- O'NEILL, S. & O'DRISCOLL, L. 2015. Metabolic syndrome: a closer look at the growing epidemic and its associated pathologies. *Obes Rev*, 16, 1-12.
- OTOKOZAWA, S., AI, M., DIFFENDERFER, M. R., ASZTALOS, B. F., TANAKA, A., LAMON-FAVA, S. & SCHAEFER, E. J. 2009. Fasting and postprandial apolipoprotein B-48 levels in healthy, obese, and hyperlipidemic subjects. *Metabolism*, 58, 1536-42.
- OZYENER, F., ROSSITER, H. B., WARD, S. A. & WHIPP, B. J. 2001. Influence of exercise intensity on the on- and off-transient kinetics of pulmonary oxygen uptake in humans. *J Physiol*, 533, 891-902.
- PANAROTTO, D., REMILLARD, P., BOUFFARD, L. & MAHEUX, P. 2002. Insulin resistance affects the regulation of lipoprotein lipase in the postprandial period and in an adipose tissue-specific manner. *Eur J Clin Invest*, 32, 84-92.

- PANDEY, K. B. & RIZVI, S. I. 2009. Plant polyphenols as dietary antioxidants in human health and disease. *Oxid Med Cell Longev*, 2, 270-8.
- PARK, E., EDIRISINGHE, I., WEI, H., VIJAYAKUMAR, L. P., BANASZEWSKI, K., CAPPOZZO, J. C. & BURTON-FREEMAN, B. 2016. A dose-response evaluation of freeze-dried strawberries independent of fiber content on metabolic indices in abdominally obese individuals with insulin resistance in a randomized, single-blinded, diet-controlled crossover trial. *Mol Nutr Food Res*, 60, 1099-109.
- PEDDIE, M. C., REHRER, N. J. & PERRY, T. L. 2012. Physical activity and postprandial lipidemia: are energy expenditure and lipoprotein lipase activity the real modulators of the positive effect? *Prog Lipid Res*, 51, 11-22.
- PEREZ-MARTINEZ, P., ALCALA-DIAZ, J. F., KABAGAMBE, E. K., GARCIA-RIOS, A., TSAI, M. Y., DELGADO-LISTA, J., KOLOVOU, G., STRAKA, R. J., GOMEZ-DELGADO, F., HOPKINS, P. N., MARIN, C., BORECKI, I., YUBERO-SERRANO, E. M., HIXSON, J. E., CAMARGO, A., PROVINCE, M. A., LOPEZ-MORENO, J., RODRIGUEZ-CANTALEJO, F., TINAHONES, F. J., MIKHAILIDIS, D. P., PEREZ-JIMENEZ, F., ARNETT, D. K., ORDOVAS, J. M. & LOPEZ-MIRANDA, J. 2016. Assessment of postprandial triglycerides in clinical practice: Validation in a general population and coronary heart disease patients. *J Clin Lipidol*, 10, 1163-71.
- PESCATELLO, L. S. & AMERICAN COLLEGE OF SPORTS MEDICINE 2014. *ACSM's guidelines for exercise testing and prescription,* Philadelphia, Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins Health.
- PETERSEN, K. F., DUFOUR, S., BEFROY, D., GARCIA, R. & SHULMAN, G. I. 2004. Impaired mitochondrial activity in the insulin-resistant offspring of patients with type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med*, 350, 664-71.

- PETERSEN, K. F., DUFOUR, S., SAVAGE, D. B., BILZ, S., SOLOMON, G., YONEMITSU, S., CLINE, G. W., BEFROY, D., ZEMANY, L., KAHN, B. B., PAPADEMETRIS, X., ROTHMAN, D. L. & SHULMAN, G. I. 2007. The role of skeletal muscle insulin resistance in the pathogenesis of the metabolic syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104, 12587-94.
- PETRIDOU, A., GERKOS, N., KOLIFA, M., NIKOLAIDIS, M. G., SIMOS, D. & MOUGIOS, V. 2004. Effect of exercise performed immediately before a meal of moderate fat content on postprandial lipaemia. *Br J Nutr*, 91, 683-7.
- PFEIFFER, M., LUDWIG, T., WENK, C. & COLOMBANI, P. C. 2005. The influence of walking performed immediately before meals with moderate fat content on postprandial lipemia. *Lipids Health Dis*, 4, 24.
- PIETRASZEK, A., GREGERSEN, S. & HERMANSEN, K. 2011. Acute effects of dietary fat on inflammatory markers and gene expression in first-degree relatives of type 2 diabetes patients. *Rev Diabet Stud*, 8, 477-89.
- PIETRASZEK, A., GREGERSEN, S., PEDERSEN, S. B., HOLST, J. J. & HERMANSEN, K. 2014. Acute effects of monounsaturated fat on postprandial lipemia and gene expression in first-degree relatives of subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 68, 1022-8.
- PIRILLO, A., NORATA, G. D. & CATAPANO, A. L. 2014. Postprandial lipemia as a cardiometabolic risk factor. *Curr Med Res Opin*, 30, 1489-503.
- PLAISANCE, E. P. & FISHER, G. 2014. Exercise and dietary-mediated reductions in postprandial lipemia. *J Nutr Metab*, [epublication]: 26.07.2014.
- PLAISANCE, E. P., MESTEK, M. L., MAHURIN, A. J., TAYLOR, J. K., MONCADA-JIMENEZ, J. & GRANDJEAN, P. W. 2008. Postprandial triglyceride responses to aerobic exercise and extended-release niacin. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 88, 30-7.

- POIRIER, P., GILES, T. D., BRAY, G. A., HONG, Y., STERN, J. S., PI-SUNYER, F. X. & ECKEL, R. H. 2006. Obesity and cardiovascular disease: pathophysiology, evaluation, and effect of weight loss: an update of the 1997 American Heart Association Scientific Statement on Obesity and Heart Disease from the Obesity Committee of the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. *Circulation*, 113, 898-918.
- POOLE, D. C. & JONES, A. M. 2012. Oxygen uptake kinetics. *Compr Physiol*, 2, 933-96.
- POTVIN, P. J. & SCHUTZ, R. W. 2000. Statistical power for the two-factor repeated measures ANOVA. *Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput*, 32, 347-56.
- PROCTOR, S. D., PABLA, C. K. & MAMO, J. C. 2000. Arterial intimal retention of pro-atherogenic lipoproteins in insulin deficient rabbits and rats. *Atherosclerosis*, 149, 315-22.
- PROTEGGENTE, A. R., PANNALA, A. S., PAGANGA, G., VAN BUREN, L., WAGNER, E., WISEMAN, S., VAN DE PUT, F., DACOMBE, C. & RICE-EVANS, C. A. 2002. The antioxidant activity of regularly consumed fruit and vegetables reflects their phenolic and vitamin C composition. *Free Radic Res*, 36, 217-33.
- RABOL, R., PETERSEN, K. F., DUFOUR, S., FLANNERY, C. & SHULMAN, G. I. 2011. Reversal of muscle insulin resistance with exercise reduces postprandial hepatic de novo lipogenesis in insulin resistant individuals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA, 108, 13705-9.
- RADER, D. J. & HOVINGH, G. K. 2014. HDL and cardiovascular disease. *Lancet*, 384, 618-25.
- RAPP, J. H., LESPINE, A., HAMILTON, R. L., COLYVAS, N., CHAUMETON, A. H., TWEEDIE-HARDMAN, J., KOTITE, L., KUNITAKE, S. T., HAVEL, R. J.

& KANE, J. P. 1994. Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins isolated by selected-affinity anti-apolipoprotein B immunosorption from human atherosclerotic plaque. *Arterioscler Thromb*, 14, 1767-74.

- ROBERTSON, M. D., HENDERSON, R. A., VIST, G. E. & RUMSEY, R. D. 2002. Extended effects of evening meal carbohydrate-to-fat ratio on fasting and postprandial substrate metabolism. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 75, 505-10.
- ROHLING, M., HERDER, C., STEMPER, T. & MUSSIG, K. 2016. Influence of Acute and Chronic Exercise on Glucose Uptake. J Diabetes Res, [epublication]: 14.04.2016.
- ROWELL, L. B., BLACKMON, J. R. & BRUCE, R. A. 1964. INDOCYANINE GREEN CLEARANCE AND ESTIMATED HEPATIC BLOOD FLOW DURING MILD TO MAXIMAL EXERCISE IN UPRIGHT MAN. *J Clin Invest*, 43, 1677-90.
- RYAN, M. F., GRADA, C. O., MORRIS, C., SEGURADO, R., WALSH, M. C., GIBNEY, E. R., BRENNAN, L., ROCHE, H. M. & GIBNEY, M. J. 2013. Within-person variation in the postprandial lipemic response of healthy adults. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 97, 261-7.
- SARWAR, N., DANESH, J., EIRIKSDOTTIR, G., SIGURDSSON, G., WAREHAM, N., BINGHAM, S., BOEKHOLDT, S. M., KHAW, K. T. & GUDNASON, V. 2007. Triglycerides and the risk of coronary heart disease: 10,158 incident cases among 262,525 participants in 29 Western prospective studies. *Circulation*, 115, 450-8.
- SAVAGE, D. B., PETERSEN, K. F. & SHULMAN, G. I. 2007. Disordered lipid metabolism and the pathogenesis of insulin resistance. *Physiol Rev*, 87, 507-20.
- SCOTT, R. A., LANGENBERG, C., SHARP, S. J., FRANKS, P. W., ROLANDSSON, O., DROGAN, D., VAN DER SCHOUW, Y. T., EKELUND, U., KERRISON,

N. D., ARDANAZ, E., ARRIOLA, L., BALKAU, B., BARRICARTE, A., BARROSO, I., BENDINELLI, B., BEULENS, J. W., BOEING, H., DE LAUZON-GUILLAIN, B., DELOUKAS, P., FAGHERAZZI, G., GONZALEZ, C., GRIFFIN, S. J., GROOP, L. C., HALKJAER, J., HUERTA, J. M., KAAKS, R., KHAW, K. T., KROGH, V., NILSSON, P. M., NORAT, T., OVERVAD, K., PANICO, S., RODRIGUEZ-SUAREZ, L., ROMAGUERA, D., ROMIEU, I., SACERDOTE, C., SANCHEZ, M. J., SPIJKERMAN, A. M., TEUCHER, B., TJONNELAND, A., TUMINO, R., VAN DER, A. D., WARK, P. A., MCCARTHY, M. I., RIBOLI, E. & WAREHAM, N. J. 2013. The link between family history and risk of type 2 diabetes is not explained by anthropometric, lifestyle or genetic risk factors: the EPIC-InterAct study. *Diabetologia*, 56, 60-9.

- SEIP, R. L., MAIR, K., COLE, T. G. & SEMENKOVICH, C. F. 1997. Induction of human skeletal muscle lipoprotein lipase gene expression by short-term exercise is transient. *Am J Physiol*, 272, E255-61.
- SHOJAEE-MORADIE, F., MA, Y., LOU, S., HOVORKA, R. & UMPLEBY, A. M. 2013. Prandial hypertriglyceridemia in metabolic syndrome is due to an overproduction of both chylomicron and VLDL triacylglycerol. *Diabetes*, 62, 4063-9.
- SINGLETON, V. L. & ROSSI, J. A. 1965. Colorimetry of Total Phenolics with Phosphomolybdic-Phosphotungstic Acid Reagents. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture*, 16, 144-158.
- SITI, H. N., KAMISAH, Y. & KAMSIAH, J. 2015. The role of oxidative stress, antioxidants and vascular inflammation in cardiovascular disease (a review). *Vascul Pharmacol*, 71, 40-56.
- SKELLY, L. E., ANDREWS, P. C., GILLEN, J. B., MARTIN, B. J., PERCIVAL, M.E. & GIBALA, M. J. 2014. High-intensity interval exercise induces 24-h energy

expenditure similar to traditional endurance exercise despite reduced time commitment. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 39, 845-8.

- SMITH, S. J., COOPER, G. R., MYERS, G. L. & SAMPSON, E. J. 1993. Biological variability in concentrations of serum lipids: sources of variation among results from published studies and composite predicted values. *Clin Chem*, 39, 1012-22.
- SOFI, F., MACCHI, C., ABBATE, R., GENSINI, G. F. & CASINI, A. 2014. Mediterranean diet and health status: an updated meta-analysis and a proposal for a literature-based adherence score. *Public Health Nutr*, 17, 2769-82.
- SRIKANTH, S. & DEEDWANIA, P. 2016. Management of Dyslipidemia in Patients with Hypertension, Diabetes, and Metabolic Syndrome. *Curr Hypertens Rep*, 18, 76.
- STANCU, C. & SIMA, A. 2001. Statins: mechanism of action and effects. J Cell Mol Med, 5, 378-87.
- STAUFFER, M. E., WEISENFLUH, L. & MORRISON, A. 2013. Association between triglycerides and cardiovascular events in primary populations: a metaregression analysis and synthesis of evidence. *Vasc Health Risk Manag*, 9, 671-80.
- STEENSON, S., UMPLEBY, A. M., LOVEGROVE, J. A., JACKSON, K. G. & FIELDING, B. A. 2017. Role of the Enterocyte in Fructose-Induced Hypertriglyceridaemia. *Nutrients*, 9.
- SUI, X., SARZYNSKI, M. A., LEE, D. C. & KOKKINOS, P. F. 2017. Impact of Changes in Cardiorespiratory Fitness on Hypertension, Dyslipidemia and Survival: An Overview of the Epidemiological Evidence. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis.*
- SWINBURN, B. A., SACKS, G., LO, S. K., WESTERTERP, K. R., RUSH, E. C., ROSENBAUM, M., LUKE, A., SCHOELLER, D. A., DELANY, J. P., BUTTE,

N. F. & RAVUSSIN, E. 2009. Estimating the changes in energy flux that characterize the rise in obesity prevalence. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 89, 1723-8.

- TAMBURRELLI, C., GIANFAGNA, F., D'IMPERIO, M., DE CURTIS, A., ROTILIO,
 D., IACOVIELLO, L., DE GAETANO, G., DONATI, M. B. & CERLETTI, C.
 2012. Postprandial cell inflammatory response to a standardised fatty meal in subjects at different degree of cardiovascular risk. *Thromb Haemost*, 107, 530-7.
- TANGNEY, C. C. & RASMUSSEN, H. E. 2013. Polyphenols, inflammation, and cardiovascular disease. *Curr Atheroscler Rep*, 15, 324.
- TEEMAN, C. S., KURTI, S. P., CULL, B. J., EMERSON, S. R., HAUB, M. D. & ROSENKRANZ, S. K. 2016. Postprandial lipemic and inflammatory responses to high-fat meals: a review of the roles of acute and chronic exercise. *Nutr Metab* (*Lond*), 13, 80.
- TERTOV, V. V., KALENICH, O. S. & OREKHOV, A. N. 1992. Lipid-laden white blood cells in the circulation of patients with coronary heart disease. *Exp Mol Pathol*, 57, 22-8.
- THABANE, L., HOPEWELL, S., LANCASTER, G. A., BOND, C. M., COLEMAN, C. L., CAMPBELL, M. J. & ELDRIDGE, S. M. 2016. Methods and processes for development of a CONSORT extension for reporting pilot randomized controlled trials. *Pilot Feasibility Stud*, 2, 25.
- TOMKIN, G. H. & OWENS, D. 2001. Abnormalities in apo B-containing lipoproteins in diabetes and atherosclerosis. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev*, 17, 27-43.
- TOWNSEND, N., WILSON, L., BHATNAGAR, P., WICKRAMASINGHE, K., RAYNER, M. & NICHOLS, M. 2016. Cardiovascular disease in Europe: epidemiological update 2016. *Eur Heart J*, 37, 3232-3245.
- TROMBOLD, J. R., CHRISTMAS, K. M., MACHIN, D. R., KIM, I. Y. & COYLE, E.F. 2013. Acute high-intensity endurance exercise is more effective than

moderate-intensity exercise for attenuation of postprandial triglyceride elevation. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 114, 792-800.

- TROMBOLD, J. R., CHRISTMAS, K. M., MACHIN, D. R., VAN PELT, D. W., CHOU, T. H., KIM, I. Y. & COYLE, E. F. 2014. Postexercise macronutrient intake and subsequent postprandial triglyceride metabolism. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 46, 2099-106.
- TSAI, W. C., LI, Y. H., LIN, C. C., CHAO, T. H. & CHEN, J. H. 2004. Effects of oxidative stress on endothelial function after a high-fat meal. *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 106, 315-9.
- TSEKOURAS, Y. E., YANNI, A. E., BOUGATSAS, D., KAVOURAS, S. A. & SIDOSSIS, L. S. 2007. A single bout of brisk walking increases basal very lowdensity lipoprotein triacylglycerol clearance in young men. *Metabolism*, 56, 1037-43.
- TSETSONIS, N. V. & HARDMAN, A. E. 1996a. Effects of low and moderate intensity treadmill walking on postprandial lipaemia in healthy young adults. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol*, 73, 419-26.
- TSETSONIS, N. V. & HARDMAN, A. E. 1996b. Reduction in postprandial lipemia after walking: influence of exercise intensity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 28, 1235-42.
- TSETSONIS, N. V., HARDMAN, A. E. & MASTANA, S. S. 1997. Acute effects of exercise on postprandial lipemia: a comparative study in trained and untrained middle-aged women. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 65, 525-33.
- TUCKER, J. M., WELK, G. J. & BEYLER, N. K. 2011. Physical activity in U.S.: adults compliance with the Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. *Am J Prev Med*, 40, 454-61.

- TULIPANI, S., ROMANDINI, S., BUSCO, F., BOMPADRE, S., MEZZETTI, B. & BATTINO, M. 2009. Ascorbate, not urate, modulates the plasma antioxidant capacity after strawberry intake. *Food Chemistry*, 117, 181-188.
- TUTEJA, S. & RADER, D. J. 2014. High-density lipoproteins in the prevention of cardiovascular disease: changing the paradigm. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 96, 48-56.
- VAN OOSTROM, A. J., SIJMONSMA, T. P., VERSEYDEN, C., JANSEN, E. H., DE KONING, E. J., RABELINK, T. J. & CASTRO CABEZAS, M. 2003.
 Postprandial recruitment of neutrophils may contribute to endothelial dysfunction. *J Lipid Res*, 44, 576-83.
- VARBO, A., BENN, M., TYBJAERG-HANSEN, A., JORGENSEN, A. B., FRIKKE-SCHMIDT, R. & NORDESTGAARD, B. G. 2013a. Remnant cholesterol as a causal risk factor for ischemic heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol, 61, 427-36.
- VARBO, A., BENN, M., TYBJAERG-HANSEN, A. & NORDESTGAARD, B. G. 2013b. Elevated remnant cholesterol causes both low-grade inflammation and ischemic heart disease, whereas elevated low-density lipoprotein cholesterol causes ischemic heart disease without inflammation. *Circulation*, 128, 1298-309.
- VOGEL, R. A., CORRETTI, M. C. & PLOTNICK, G. D. 1997. Effect of a single highfat meal on endothelial function in healthy subjects. *Am J Cardiol*, 79, 350-4.
- WANG, S. Y. & LIN, H. S. 2000. Antioxidant activity in fruits and leaves of blackberry, raspberry, and strawberry varies with cultivar and developmental stage. J Agric Food Chem, 48, 140-6.
- WANG, X., OUYANG, Y., LIU, J., ZHU, M., ZHAO, G., BAO, W. & HU, F. B. 2014. Fruit and vegetable consumption and mortality from all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Bmj*, 349, g4490.

- WANG, X., YE, P., CAO, R., YANG, X., XIAO, W., ZHANG, Y., BAI, Y. & WU, H. 2016. Triglycerides are a predictive factor for arterial stiffness: a communitybased 4.8-year prospective study. *Lipids Health Dis*, 15, 97.
- WARBURTON, D. E., NICOL, C. W. & BREDIN, S. S. 2006. Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. *Cmaj*, 174, 801-9.
- WEDICK, N. M., PAN, A., CASSIDY, A., RIMM, E. B., SAMPSON, L., ROSNER,
 B., WILLETT, W., HU, F. B., SUN, Q. & VAN DAM, R. M. 2012. Dietary
 flavonoid intakes and risk of type 2 diabetes in US men and women. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 95, 925-33.
- WEINTRAUB, M. S., GROSSKOPF, I., RASSIN, T., MILLER, H., CHARACH, G., ROTMENSCH, H. H., LIRON, M., RUBINSTEIN, A. & IAINA, A. 1996. Clearance of chylomicron remnants in normolipidaemic patients with coronary artery disease: case control study over three years. *Bmj*, 312, 935-9.
- WEIR, J. B. 1949. New methods for calculating metabolic rate with special reference to protein metabolism. *J Physiol*, 109, 1-9.
- WEISS, E. P., FIELDS, D. A., MITTENDORFER, B., HAVERKORT, M. A. & KLEIN, S. 2008. Reproducibility of postprandial lipemia tests and validity of an abbreviated 4-hour test. *Metabolism*, 57, 1479-85.
- WESTPHAL, S., LEODOLTER, A., KAHL, S., DIERKES, J., MALFERTHEINER, P.
 & LULEY, C. 2002. Addition of glucose to a fatty meal delays chylomicrons and suppresses VLDL in healthy subjects. *Eur J Clin Invest*, 32, 322-7.
- WESTPHAL, S., TANEVA, E., KASTNER, S., MARTENS-LOBENHOFFER, J., BODE-BOGER, S., KROPF, S., DIERKES, J. & LULEY, C. 2006. Endothelial dysfunction induced by postprandial lipemia is neutralized by addition of proteins to the fatty meal. *Atherosclerosis*, 185, 313-9.

- WHIPP, B. J., DAVIS, J. A., TORRES, F. & WASSERMAN, K. 1981. A test to determine parameters of aerobic function during exercise. J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol, 50, 217-21.
- WHIPP, B. J., WARD, S. A. & WASSERMAN, K. 1986. Respiratory markers of the anaerobic threshold. *Adv Cardiol*, 35, 47-64.
- WHO 2006. Definition and Diagnosis of Diabetes Mellitus and Intermediate Hyperglycemia. Geneva: World Health Organization. *Report of a WHO/IDF Consultation Available at <u>http://www.who.int</u>, 1-46.*
- WILHELM, M. G. & COOPER, A. D. 2003. Induction of atherosclerosis by human chylomicron remnants: a hypothesis. *J Atheroscler Thromb*, 10, 132-9.
- WOLFF, S. P. 1994. [18] Ferrous ion oxidation in presence of ferric ion indicator xylenol orange for measurement of hydroperoxides. *Methods in enzymology*, 233, 182-189.
- WONG, A. T., CHAN, D. C., PANG, J., WATTS, G. F. & BARRETT, P. H. 2014. Plasma apolipoprotein B-48 transport in obese men: a new tracer kinetic study in the postprandial state. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 99, E122-6.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANISATION. 2005. Preventing chronic diseases : a vital investment : WHO global report. [Accessed 25.07.2017].
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANISATION. 2017. Obesity and overweight [Online]. <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/</u>. [Accessed 06.07.2017 2017].
- XIAO, C. & LEWIS, G. F. 2012. Regulation of chylomicron production in humans. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1821, 736-46.
- ZHANG, H., JIANG, L., GUO, H., SUN, J., LIU, X., LIU, R., DING, Q. & REN, F. 2013. The inhibitory effect of milk on the absorption of dietary phenolic acids

and the change in human plasma antioxidant capacity through a mechanism involving both milk proteins and fats. *Mol Nutr Food Res*, 57, 1228-36.

- ZHANG, J. Q., JI, L. L., NUNEZ, G., FEATHERS, S., HART, C. L. & YAO, W. X. 2004. Effect of exercise timing on postprandial lipemia in hypertriglyceridemic men. *Can J Appl Physiol*, 29, 590-603.
- ZILVERSMIT, D. B. 1979. Atherogenesis: a postprandial phenomenon. *Circulation*, 60, 473-85.

Appendix 1: Ethical approval for chapter 3

V1 Independent Reviewer's Report EC6

This form is periodically updated so please download the latest version from ebridge before completing

Department of Sport, Health & Exercise Science

学の主体を UNIVERSITY OF Hull Deathy of Science

Ethics Independent Reviewer's Report

This form should be completed by a member of the Department of Sport, Health and Exercise Science Ethics Committee who has been assigned to review a particular ethics application by the chair of the committee. The front section of the Independent's Reviewer's Report should be printed, signed and dated, and attached to the back of the reviewed ethics application. The reviewed ethics application should be given to the Ethics Committee chair once all reviews have been completed. The checklist provided at this end of this form is to help the reviewer complete the review and guide the content of his or her written report, which should be typed into the relevant boxes that are given before the checklist. Any checkbox highlighted red that has been checked requires attention.

Please note that the checklist is for guidance only and reviewers should be aware of other ethical considerations relevant to the ethics application being reviewed.

An electronic copy of the completed report should be stored on the reviewer's computer.

Independent reviewer's name	Dr Andrew Garrett
Application number	1415063
Principal investigator's name	Professor Sean Carroll
Student investigator's name (if applicable)	Alasdair Doherty

Reviewer's recommended outcome			
Approve 🔀	Revise	Reject	Refer

Reviewers comments	
Section	Comment
Click here to enter text.	This ammendment is acceptable for ethics approval.
Click here to enter text.	Click here to enter text.
Click here to enter text.	Click here to enter text.
Click here to enter text.	Click here to enter text.
Click here to enter text.	Click here to enter text.
Click here to enter text.	Click here to enter text.

1 Page

Eur J Nutr DOI 10.1007/s00394-016-1320-z



ORIGINAL CONTRIBUTION

The repeatability of the abbreviated (4-h) Oral Fat Tolerance Test and influence of prior acute aerobic exercise

A. F. O'Doherty¹ · T. Sathyapalan² · A. S. Rigby³ · L. Ingle¹ · S. Carroll¹

Received: 30 June 2016 / Accepted: 29 September 2016 © The Author(s) 2016. This article is published with open access at Springerlink.com

Abstract

Purpose The Oral Fat Tolerance Test (OFTT) is regarded as a repeatable measure used to assess postprandial triglyceride (TAG) levels, with higher levels observed in cardiometabolic disorders. Acute aerobic exercise intervention before OFTT reduces the TAG response, but the repeatability of this effect is unknown. The aim of this study was to determine the repeatability of the abbreviated 4-h OFTT with and without immediate prior aerobic exercise.

Methods On four separate days, healthy adult male participants underwent two 4-h OFTT (n = 10) and another two 4-h OFTT with 1-h of standardised moderate intensity aerobic exercise performed immediately before meal ingestion (n = 11). The OFTT meal composition included 75.4 g total fat, 21.7 g carbohydrate and 13.7 g protein. Venous blood was sampled at baseline and hourly up to 4 h after the OFTT meal ingestion, and TAG area under the curve (AUC) was calculated.

Results Nonparametric Bland-Altman analysis of 4-h TAG AUC revealed that 9 of 10 repeat measurements fell within ±15 % of the median TAG AUC for the OFTT. By contrast, two of 11 repeat measurements fell within ±15 % of the median TAG AUC for the OFTT undertaken with 1-h prior aerobic exercise.

- Academic Diabetes, Endocrinology and Metabolish Hull York Medical School, University of Hull, Hull, UK
- Centre for Cardiovascular and Metabolic Research, Hull York Medical School, University of Hull, Hull, UK

Fuhlished online: 14 October 2016

Conclusions The 4-h OFTT is a repeatable test of postprandial TAG responses in healthy men. However, aerobic exercise performed immediately before OFTT considerably increases the variability of TAG AUC. These findings have implications for interpretation of research studies investigating exercise intervention performed immediately before OFTT. Future studies should also investigate the repeatability of exercise performed 8-24 h before OFTT.

Keywords OFTT · Postprandial metabolism · Acute exercise · Lipids · Repeatability

Introduction

The Oral Fat Tolerance Test (OFTT) is used to assess the capacity to adapt postprandial metabolic processes after a predefined oral fat load and evaluate cardio-metabolic health [1–5]. After oral fat consumption (>15 g), triglyceride (TAG) levels rise in the blood, typically peaking at 3-4 h and returning to baseline 6-8 h later [6]. These rises are exacerbated in those with cardiovascular and metabolic disorders and are associated with progression of atherosclerosis [1, 6, 7]. Since humans spend most of the day in the postprandial state, OFTT may reveal cardio-metabolic dysfunction not detected by traditional fasting measures [6, 8, 9].

At present, the OFTT is not widely used in a clinical setting to assess cardio-metabolic function. One reason for this could be the time demands of OFTT [10] which typically require postprandial measurements to be taken every 1 or 2 h for 5-8 h [11-16]. However, recently an abbreviated OFTT (lasting 4-h) has been developed and validated [3, 10]. This test would reduce the time constraints, improve the practicality of OFTT [10] and has been recommended by an expert consensus as clinically relevant

Springer

A. F. O'Doherty a.o-doherty@2013.hull.ac.uk

Sport, Health and Exercise Science, University of Hull, Hull, TIK

V1 Independent Reviewer's Report EC6

This form is periodically updated so please download the latest version from ebridge before completing

Department of Sport, Health & Exercise Science

Ethics Independent Reviewer's Report

This form should be completed by a member of the Department of Sport, Health and Exercise Science Ethics Committee who has been assigned to review a particular ethics application by the chair of the committee. The front section of the Independent's Reviewer's Report should be printed, signed and dated, and attached to the back of the reviewed ethics application. The reviewed ethics application should be given to the Ethics Committee chair once all reviews have been completed. The checklist provided at this end of this form is to help the reviewer complete the review and guide the content of his or her written report, which should be typed into the relevant boxes that are given before the checklist. Any checkbox highlighted red that has been checked requires attention.

Please note that the checklist is for guidance only and reviewers should be aware of other ethical considerations relevant to the ethics application being reviewed.

An electronic copy of the completed report should be stored on the reviewer's computer.

Independent reviewer's name	Dr Andrew Garrett
Application number and title	1415205 The effect of prior exercise on postprandial responses to high fat meals with high or low carbohydrate content in offspring of people with type 2 diabetes
Principal investigator's name	Professor Lee Ingle
Student investigator's name (if applicable)	Alasdair O Doherty

Reviewer's recommende	d outcome		
Approve	Revise	Reject	Refer

Reviewers comments	
Section	Comment
Click here to enter text.	This amendment is suitable for ethics approval.
Click here to enter	Click here to enter text.

1 Page

V1 Independent Reviewer's Report EC6

で留書中本 UNIVERSITY OF Hull

This form is periodically updated so please download the latest version from ebridge before completing

Department of Sport, Health & Exercise Science

Ethics Independent Reviewer's Report

This form should be completed by a member of the Department of Sport, Health and Exercise Science Ethics Committee who has been assigned to review a particular ethics application by the chair of the committee. The front section of the Independent's Reviewer's Report should be printed, signed and dated, and attached to the back of the reviewed ethics application. The reviewed ethics application should be given to the Ethics Committee chair once all reviews have been completed. The checklist provided at this end of this form is to help the reviewer complete the review and guide the content of his or her written report, which should be typed into the relevant boxes that are given before the checklist. Any checkbox highlighted red that has been checked requires attention.

Please note that the checklist is for guidance only and reviewers should be aware of other ethical considerations relevant to the ethics application being reviewed.

An electronic copy of the completed report should be stored on the reviewer's computer.

Independent reviewer's name	Dr Andrew Garrett
Application number and title	Exercise and Strawberry consumption to acutely reduce postprandial cardiovascular and metabolic impairment after lipid ingestion 1516094
Principal investigator's name	Professor Sean Carroll
Student investigator's name (if applicable)	Alasdair O Doherty

Reviewer's recommende	d outcome		
Approve	Revise	Reject	Refer

Reviewers comments	
Section	Comment
Click here to enter text.	This study is suitable for ethics approval on the basis the cannulation is carried out by an approved experimenter on the staff approval lists held by Prof. Lee Ingle. In this instance it will be the applicant (Alistdair O Doherty).
Click here to enter text.	Click here to enter text.

1 Page

Appendix 5: Publication of chapter 5 in Medicine and Science in Sports and

Exercise

- → G	U journals.lww.com/acsm-msse/Abstract/publishahead/The_Effects_of_Acute_Interval_Exercise_and.9/184.aspx
	The Effects of Acute Interval Exercise and Strawberry Intake on Postprandial Lipaemia. O'Doherty, Alasdair F.; Jones, Huw S.; Sathyapalan, Thozhukat; Ingle, Lee; Carroll, Sean Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise: PostAcceptance: June 7, 2017 doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000001341
	Buy PAP Abstract
	Purpose: Raised postprandial triglycerides (TAG) and related oxidative stresses are strongly associated with increased cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk. Acute exercise and strawberry ingestion independently ameliorate postprandial lipid excursions and oxidative stress. However, the combined effects of these lifestyle interventions is unknown. We investigated whether acute exercise and strawberry consumption improved postprandial responses to an oral fat tolerance test (OFTT) in overweight/obese males.
	Methods: Overweight/obese adult males underwent four separate OFTT (73 g fat, 33 g carbohydrate) with blood sampled at baseline and hourly for 4 h after OFTT. Two OFTT contained 25 g freeze-dried strawberries and two contained strawberry flavouring (placebo). Participants performed 40 min of submaximal high intensity interval cycling exercise (HIIE) 16 h before one strawberry and one placebo OFTT, and rested before the remaining two OFTT. Serum TAG was analysed and TAG area under curve (AUC) and incremental AUC (iAUC) were calculated. Oxidative stress markers were measured at baseline and 4 h. Differences between conditions (strawberry/placebo and exercise/rest) were assessed using repeated measures ANOVA.
	Results: Ten males (Age, 31.5 IQR 17.8 years; BMI, 29.9 +/-1.8 kg.m-2) completed the study. TAG AUC was 1.5 mmol.4h-1.L-1 lower for the exercise conditions compared to the rest conditions (95 % confidence interval [CI]= -2.3 to -0.8 mmol.4h-1.L-1, p= 0.001). TAG AUC was not different between the strawberry and placebo conditions (CI= -1.3 to 0.6 mmol.4h-1.L-1, p= 0.475). TAG iAUC was 0.5 mmol.4h-1.L-1 greater for the strawberry compared to the placebo conditions (CI= 0.1 to 1.0 mmol.4h-1.L-1, p= 0.021). There were no changes in markers of lipid related oxidative stress (P> 0.05).
	Conclusion: Acute submaximal HIIE appears effective in reducing postprandial lipaemia in overweight/obese adult males. However, strawberry ingestion did not improve postprandial TAG.
	(C) 2017 American College of Sports Medicine